
 
280 Melrose Street, Providence, RI  02907 
T: 401-784-7288jennifer.hutchinson@nationalgrid.com www.nationalgrid.com

  
August 14, 2019 

 
VIA HAND DELIVERY & ELECTRONIC MAIL 

 
 

Luly E. Massaro, Division Clerk 
Rhode Island Division of Public Utilities & Carriers 
89 Jefferson Boulevard 
Warwick, RI  02888 
 
RE: Docket D-19-17 - Application and Statement by The Narragansett Electric Company 

d/b/a National Grid Regarding Issuance of New Long-Term Debt 
Responses to Division Data Requests – Set 1 
 

Dear Ms. Massaro: 
 
 On behalf of National Grid,1 I am enclosing the Company’s responses to the first set of data 
requests issued by the Division of Public Utilities and Carriers (Division) in the above-referenced 
matter.   
 

This filing also contains a Request for Protective Treatment of Confidential Information in 
accordance with Division Rule 815-RICR-00-00-1.3(D) (Rule 1.3(D)) of the Division’s Rules of 
Practice and Procedure and R.I. Gen. Laws § 38-2-2(4)(B).  The Company seeks protection from 
public disclosure of confidential attachments identified as Attachment DIV 1-15, Attachment DIV 
1-17, and Attachment DIV 1-26.  Accordingly, the Company has provided the Division with the 
un-redacted confidential attachments referenced above for its review.  

 
The Company’s responses to data requests Division 1-6 and Division 1-14 are pending. 

 
Thank you for your attention to this transmittal.  If you have any questions, please feel free 

to contact me at (401) 784-7288.  
 
        Very truly yours, 

         
 

        Jennifer Brooks Hutchinson 
Enclosure 
 
cc: Docket D-19-17 Service List 

Leo Wold, Esq.  
 John Bell, Division  

                                                 
1 The Narragansett Electric Company d/b/a National Grid (“National Grid” or “Company”). 
 

Jennifer Brooks Hutchinson 
Acting Assistant General Counsel and Director 



Certificate of Service 
 
I hereby certify that a copy of the cover letter and any materials accompanying this certificate was 
electronically transmitted to the individuals listed below.   
 
The paper copies of this filing are being hand delivered to the Rhode Island Public Utilities Commission 
and to the Rhode Island Division of Public Utilities and Carriers. 
 

 
___________________________________   August 14, 2019  
Joanne M. Scanlon      Date                                 
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STATE OF RHODE ISLAND AND PROVIDENCE PLANTATIONS 
 

RHODE ISLAND DIVISION OF PUBLIC UTILITIES AND CARRIERS 
 
           
  ___ 
      )  
In Re: Application of    ) 
The Narragansett Electric Company )   Docket No.  D-19-17 
d/b/a National Grid     )    
Issuance of New Long-Term Debt  )   
     _____  ) 

 
MOTION OF THE NARRAGANSETT ELECTRIC  

COMPANY d/b/a NATIONAL GRID FOR PROTECTIVE  
TREATMENT OF CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION 

 
 National Grid1 hereby requests that the Rhode Island Division of Public Utilities 

and Carriers (Division) grant protection from public disclosure of certain confidential and 

proprietary information submitted in this proceeding, as permitted by Division Rule 815-

RICR-00-00-1.3(D) (Rule 1.3(D))and R.I. Gen. Laws § 38-2-2(4)(B).  National Grid also 

hereby requests that, pending entry of that finding, the Division preliminarily grant 

National Grid’s request for confidential treatment pursuant to Rule 1.3(D)(2). 

 

I. BACKGROUND  

On August 14, 2019, National Grid filed with the Division responses to data 

requests.  Division Data Requests DIV 1-15, DIV 1-17, and DIV 1-26 request certain 

data that is not publicly available, and that the Company deems confidential and 

proprietary.  Attachment DIV 1-15 includes the raw data for Moody’s 30-year A-rated 

utility bond index, as sourced from Bloomberg Professional Services.  Likewise, 

Attachment DIV 1-17 includes bond yield data, as sourced from Bloomberg Professional 

                                                 
1 The Narragansett Electric Company d/b/a National Grid (National Grid or Company). 



 -2-

Services.  In addition, Attachment DIV 1-26 includes the Blue Chip Financial Forecast 

published by Wolters Kluwer.  These documents are only available through a 

subscription service and are not publicly available.  Accordingly, the Company is seeking 

confidential treatment of these attachments in their entirety.   

 

II. LEGAL STANDARD  

 Rule 1.3(D) of the Divisions Rules of Practice and Procedure provides that access 

to public records shall be granted in accordance with the Access to Public Records Act 

(APRA), R.I. Gen. Laws § 38-2-1, et seq.  Under APRA, all documents and materials 

submitted in connection with the transaction of official business by an agency is deemed 

to be a “public record,” unless the information contained in such documents and materials 

falls within one of the exceptions specifically identified in R.I. Gen. Laws § 38-2-2(4).  

Therefore, to the extent that information provided to the Division falls within one of the 

designated exceptions to the public records law, the Division has the authority under the 

terms of APRA to deem such information to be confidential and to protect that 

information from public disclosure. 

In that regard, R.I. Gen. Laws § 38-2-2(4)(B) provides that the following types of 

records shall not be deemed public:  

Trade secrets and commercial or financial information 
obtained from a person, firm, or corporation which is of a 
privileged or confidential nature. 

The Rhode Island Supreme Court has held that the determination as to whether this 

exemption applies requires the application of a two-pronged test set forth in Providence 

Journal Company v. Convention Center Authority, 774 A.2d 40 (R.I. 2001).  The 

exemption applies where the disclosure of information would be likely either (1) to 
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impair the Government’s ability to obtain necessary information in the future; or (2) to 

cause substantial harm to the competitive position of the person from whom the 

information was obtained.  See Providence Journal, 774 A.2d 40.     

The first prong of the test assesses whether the information was provided 

voluntarily to the governmental agency.  Providence Journal, 774 A.2d at 47.  If the 

answer to the first question is affirmative, then the question becomes whether the 

information is “of a kind that would customarily not be released to the public by the 

person from whom it was obtained.”  Id.   

 

III. BASIS FOR CONFIDENTIALITY 

One of the key considerations, consistent with the Division’s rules and 

precedent, is that public disclosure of these terms would be commercially harmful to the 

Company and to its customers.    

As stated previously, the Company seeks to protect from public disclosure of the 

raw data for Moody’s 30-year A-rated utility bond index contained in Attachment DIV 1-

15 and the bond yield data contained in Attachment DIV 1-17, as well as the Blue Chip 

Financial Forecast contained in Attachment DIV 1-26.  This information is sourced from 

a professional and/or subscription service and is the type of information that is not 

publicly available.  Publication of this information would violate the terms of the 

Company’s subscription service and could competitively disadvantage the Company in 

future debt issuances.   Accordingly, National Grid seeks protection for such confidential 

information in its entirety.      
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IV. CONCLUSION 
 
In light of the foregoing, the Company respectfully requests that the Division 

grant its Motion for Protective Treatment as stated herein. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
NATIONAL GRID 
By its attorneys, 
 

 

_______________________________________ 
Jennifer Brooks Hutchinson, Esq. (#6176) 

     National Grid 
     280 Melrose Street 
     Providence, RI  02907 
     (401) 784-7288 

Dated: August 14, 2019 
 
 



The Narragansett Electric Company  
d/b/a National Grid 

Division Docket No. D-19-17 
In Re: 2019 Application for Issuance of Long-Term Debt  

Responses to the Division’s First Set of Data Requests 
Issued on July 23, 2019 

   
 

Prepared by or under the supervision of:  Jonathan Cohen 

Division 1-1 
 

Request: 
 
Please provide copies of all Narragansett Electric Company (“Narragansett” or “the Company”) 
credit rating reports issued since January 1, 2017 to the present. 
 
Response: 
 
Please see Attachment DIV 1-1-1 and DIV 1-1-2 for the Narragansett credit reports issued since 
January 1, 2017 to the present. 
 



yINFR-AFTUATFC RIE DFPOCUA NyIRIUC

iytRDI TOD-DT-
6O jqNqya 6M01

1Updba

FRAyIJ-

ImaamGmgnsee Ctsleacl Uiuomgr
RCoclcEs OaCPcvsglsd y,Cvs

DnENgvd hgcesv UeNesn

SCgr Isao yNecgr LA

Ipms SI Dnn3sa yNecgr

T3eECCu UeNkEs

dncNPc Pcc asc uNatihP PcratSi Na asc ciG Sg astP ucfSua

gSu pSuc tigSupNatSim .sc uNatihP NiG SoanSST PsSki

ucgncra tigSupNatSi NP Sg asc fowntrNatSi GNacm

Er5sCasd

nfCcCo�G�WCTbrf yy m2 444m 3m27

-u bucGta Cggtrcu

egdxdrmbd.ylgorllp.@mslr

ECohbbi�6Zhdbif yy m2 444m 0m43

OPPSrtNac OiNnAPa

sdrhyyamczh@yagorllp.@mslr

-ihb�nfhOOhscd 

wCotisc

yy m2 444m 33y1

OPPSrtNac yNiNhtih

MtucraSu

wahymeghnnhbx@ ydriabxorllp.@mslr

EwLN-W�INlSLENI

VoifhaCd 0 m0m 331 0731

VdhC�ACahOha P3m 1330 1244

8CJC5 P0 1 3y2P y022

NpNV yy m2 444m 3y3y

-NaaNrNgnsee tEsleacl iComNgp
-Updat ae octpra didnlyry

-Suumar
sTt octpra hqdnral eu fdccdNdiytaa gntoacro EeCUdil mfgE( ry yqUUecatp )l aTt prbtcyrurodarei

eu ray ctbtiqty )tavtti pryacr)qarei dip acdiyCryyreiw yad)nt dip Uctproad)nt odyT unevyw dip

aTt Ntitcdnnl yqUUecarbt ctNqndaecl tibrceiCtia ri ,Tept Ryndipw vTtct d vrpt bdcrtal eu pt 

cryIriN Ucebryreiy uec qarnrarty Tdbt )tti rionqptp ri ctotia cdat odytyk .evtbtcw octpra hqdnral

ry oeiyacdritp )l dpprareidn pt)a da aTt Udctia TenpriN oeCUdirty vraTri aTt fdareidn Hcrp

NceqUk

sTt doTrtbtp ctaqciy ei thqral ri fgEGy pryacr)qarei )qyrityyty Tdbt Ntitcdnnl )tti da ec

d)ebt aTt dnnevtp ,'g eu Ok95 qiptc aTt Uctbreqy cdat Undiw dnaTeqNT tntoacroral pryacr)qarei

utnn ae %k65 ri aTt ltdc ae 2dcoT 6M01k gntoacroral acdiyCryyrei Tdy ptCeiyacdatp yad)nt

ctaqciy oeiyryatianl d)ebt aTt 0Mk915 dnnevdiotw dnaTeqNT eiNeriN oTdnntiNty ae 7g,EGy

cdat ytaariN Uceotyy octdaty yeCt qiotcadrial d)eqa uqaqct ctaqciyk sTt oeCUdil tFUtoay ae

urnt uec itv cdat odyty uec ray pryacr)qarei )qyrityyty )l 2dcoT 6M0xw vraT itv cdaty tuutoarbt

)l aTt tip eu 6M0xk

fgEGy Itl octpra Ctacrow aTt cdare eu odyT uceC eUtcdareiy )tuect CebtCtiay ri vecIriN

odUradn ae Nceyy pt)aw Tdy )tti bendarnt ri ctotia ltdcy pqt ae CebtCtiay ri ctNqndaecl

ptutccdnyw cryriN ae 6x5 ri 6M0%801 uceC 0M5 ri 6M0/809k gFonqpriN aTtyt ptutccdnyw E7' Uct 

4E8pt)a Tdy )tti yad)nt ri aTt Crp ae TrNT attiyw ri nrit vraT eqc Nqrpdiot uec aTt oqcctia

cdariNw dip yq)Wtoa ae d ctdyeid)nt itv cdat ytaantCtia ry tFUtoatp ae ctCdri ri aTry cdiNtk

-Exhihb t

-NE�Cachieiv�dsCtbi�lRNd�Ofro�m201�sr�m203

4.0%

5.0%

6.0%

7.0%

8.0%

9.0%

10.0%

11.0%

12.0%

13.0%

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016/17

Narragansett Electric Narragansett Gas Narragansett Transmission

-Source :NatSiNn lutG

The Narragansett Electric Company 
d/b/a National Grid

Division Docket No. D-19-17
Attachment DIV 1-1-1

Page 1 of 10



qPPE'M- yI.C-APF- -CF.yUC yINFR-AFTUATFC RIE DFPOCUA NyIRIUC

Uaspce neasgGedn

A »qUUecarbt ctNqndaecl tibrceiCtia uec nev )qyrityy cryI tntoacroral dip Ndy pryacr)qarei ri ,Tept Ryndip

A »ad)nt dip Uctproad)nt 7g,E ctNqndaecl ucdCtvecI dip nev acdiyCryyrei )qyrityy cryI qiptcUriy acdiyCryyrei odyT unevy

Uaspce ldmttsgGsn

A SrCratp ctNqndaecl criN utioriN Uceatoareiy uceC dpprareidn pt)a da bdcreqy TenpriN oeCUdirty

FmecgG iSetiih
sTt yad)nt eqaneeI uec fgE ctuntoay eqc eUrirei aTda aTt ctNqndaecl tibrceiCtia ry Ntitcdnnl yqUUecarbt uec oeya ctoebtclw dip aTda fgE

yTeqnp tFTr)ra yad)nt E7' Uct 4E8pt)a ri aTt Crp ae TrNT attiy ri UtcotiadNt atcCyk

Nmleian edme liStp tsmp ei mg SoGamps

A E7' Uct vecIriN odUradn ae Nceyy pt)a oeiyryatianl d)ebt aTt nev 6Myw ri UtcotiadNt atcCy

A Rioctdyt eu 7g,E dip8ec ,RL-EGy yqUUecarbtityy aevdcpy qarnrarty btcyqy ray oqcctia dUUcedoT

A j cdariN qUNcdpt veqnp dnye adIt riae oeiyrptcdarei aTt octpra hqdnral eu aTt vrptc fdareidn Hcrp NceqU

Nmleian edme liStp tsmp ei m pikgGamps

A E7' Uct vecIriN odUradn ae Nceyy pt)a Utcyryatianl )tnev aTt Crp attiyw ri UtcotiadNt atcCy

A Ptoctdyt eu 7g,E dip8ec ,RL-EGy ebtcdnn yqUUecarbtityy

A j cdariN peviNcdpt veqnp dnye adIt riae oeiyrptcdarei aTt octpra hqdnral eu aTt vrptc fdareidn Hcrp NceqU

wsr cgpclmeian

-Exhihb f

MiT�h5vhaCsrfd0

-CffCKC5diss�Nbiasfha�EroJC5T

 3/31/2017 3/31/2016 3/31/2015 3/31/2014 3/31/2013

CFO pre-WC + Interest / Interest 7.1x 6.7x 3.4x 4.6x 4.5x

CFO pre-WC / Debt 28.4% 24.1% 10.3% 14.7% 14.7%

CFO pre- / Debt 28.4% 24.1% 10.3% 14.7% 14.7%

Debt / Capitalization 31.5% 32.9% 35.7% 36.7% 34.6%

t 2yy gdbhl@ dga id@ap lw A2p'j@bapA nhwdwshdy pdbd dwp hwslgUlgdba ullp.A@ Mylidy Gbdwpdgp 2p'j@brawb@ nlg Slw Nhwdwshdy FlgUlgdbhlw@m

-Source ySSGADP 'tiNirtNn ycautrPF

Uiaoiames oaiKcts
fgE ry d ctadrn pryacr)qarei oeCUdil UcebrpriN tntoacro ytcbrot ae dUUceFrCdatnl 9MMwMMM oqyaeCtcy dip Ndy ytcbrot ae dUUceFrCdatnl

6%xwMMM oqyaeCtcy ri ,Tept Ryndipk Ra dnye eviy tntoacroral acdiyCryyrei dyytay ri ,Tept Ryndip eUtcdatp )l yryatc oeCUdil ftv

giNndip Levtc mfgLw jD yad)nt(k jy eu 2dcoT 6M01w fgE Tdy d cdat )dyt eu 36kM )rnnreiw oeCUcrytp eu 3%O1 Crnnrei eu tntoacroral

acdiyCryyrei mctNqndatp )l aTt 7g,E( dip 3%%9 Crnnrei dip 3%/M Crnnrei eu tntoacro dip Ndy pryacr)qareiw ctyUtoarbtnl mctNqndatp )l aTt

,RL-E(k fgE ry uqnnl evitp )l fdareidn Hcrp -»j mfH -»jw $dd0 yad)nt(w d TenpriN oeCUdil vTroT ry qnarCdatnl evitp )l fdareidn

Hcrp Uno mfdareidn Hcrpw $dd0 yad)nt(k

/xh@ Ujiyhsdbhlw pla@ wlb dwwljwsa d sgaphb gdbhwe dsbhlwm Nlg dw. sgaphb gdbhwe@ ganagawsap hw bxh@ Ujiyhsdbhlw; Uyad@a @aa bxa gdbhwe@ bdi lw bxa h@@jag0awbhb. Udea lw

zzzmrllp.@mslr nlg bxa rl@b jUpdbap sgaphb gdbhwe dsbhlw hwnlgrdbhlw dwp gdbhwe xh@blg.m

V V2 RSGSne V901 ImaamGmgnsee Ctsleacl UiuomgrY Topmes ei laspce mgmtrncn

The Narragansett Electric Company 
d/b/a National Grid

Division Docket No. D-19-17
Attachment DIV 1-1-1

Page 2 of 10



qPPE'M- yI.C-APF- -CF.yUC yINFR-AFTUATFC RIE DFPOCUA NyIRIUC

-Exhihb C

-Cshr5Cb�nfhv�gI�dhoJbhOhiv�rfKC5hdCshr5Cb�dsfUasUfi

-Source ySSGADP

-Exhihb 3

-CffCKC5diss�fiJfidi5sd�02u�rO�-Cshr5Cb�nfhv%d�gI�fCsi�tCdi
lCsi�tCdi�Cs�10�pCfac�m204

KEDNY

KEDLI

Boston Gas

Niagara Mohawk (gas)

Narragansett Gas

Colonial Gas

Niagara Mohawk 
(electricity)

Massachusetts Electric/ 
Nantucket Electric

Narragansett Electric

New England Power

Narragansett Transmission

Canadian Interconnector National Grid Generation
Regulated Electric

Transmission

Regulated Electric
Utilities

Regulated Gas
Utilities

Sdggdedw@abb gaejydbap awbhbha@ pd@xap

-Source :NatSiNn lutG

Esemctsp laspce ligncpsamecign
EcneacfSecig fSncgsnnsn GsgsamecgG ligncnesge osaKiaumglsb gsk ames lmns s;oslesp edcn rsma
sTt oqcctia cdat Undiy uec fgEBy tntoacroral dip Ndy )qyrityy vtct dUUcebtp )l aTt ,RL-E ri PtotC)tc 6M06 dip Tdbt )tti tuutoarbt

uceC 7t)cqdcl 6M0Dk jUUcebtp ctaqciy ei thqral m,'gy( dct Ok95w vTroT vdy ynrNTanl )tnev aTt dbtcdNt thqral ctaqciy dooecptp

ae titcNl qarnrarty idareivrpt pqcriN aTt 06 CeiaTy ntdpriN qU ae aTt ptoryreik fgE ry yq)Wtoa ae di tdciriNy yTdcriN CtoTdiryCw

qiptc vTroT fgE ry cthqrctp ae yTdct thqdnnl vraT cdatUdltcy rioctCtiadn tdciriNy )tavtti d Ok95 dip d 0Mk95 ,'gw dip 195 eu

rioctCtiadn tdciriNy d)ebt d 0Mk95 ,'gk

sTt cdat Undi Ucebrpty uec d Utiyrei dpWqyaCtia CtoTdiryC dip di diiqdn UceUtcal adF ctoebtcl CtoTdiryC vraTri aTt diiqdn odUradn

UceNcdCCt aTda Cect oneytnl dnrNiy cdat ctoebtcl dip oeyay ctndatp ae UceUtcal adF tFUtiytyk

7 V2 RSGSne V901 ImaamGmgnsee Ctsleacl UiuomgrY Topmes ei laspce mgmtrncn

The Narragansett Electric Company 
d/b/a National Grid

Division Docket No. D-19-17
Attachment DIV 1-1-1

Page 3 of 10



qPPE'M- yI.C-APF- -CF.yUC yINFR-AFTUATFC RIE DFPOCUA NyIRIUC

-Exhihb 4

-CffCKC5diss�'hdsfhtUshr5�Iifehai�VfiCd
lcrvi�LdbC5v

-Exhihb 5

lCsi�ECdid�IUooCfT

-Source :NatSiNn lutG

Regulated Business

Narragansett 

Electric Narragansett Gas

Narragansett 

Transmission

Regulator Federal Energy 

Regulatory 

Commission

Primary term of rate 

case

-

Allowed return on 

equity

10.57%

Achieved return on 

equity (2016/17)

6.20% 9.40% 11.40%

Rate Base at March 

2017

$665m $640m $697m

Rhode Island Public Utilities 

Commission

2013

9.50%

-Source :NatSiNn lutG

PtyUrat aTt riacepqoarei eu d iqC)tc eu pt cryIriN Ucebryreiyw rionqpriN uqnn ctbtiqt ptoeqUnriN dip odUradn acdoItcyw vt brtv aTt

ctNqndaecl tibrceiCtia ri ,Tept Ryndip dy aeqNTtc aTdi ri yeCt eaTtc yadaty pqt ae aTt ,RL-EGy Tryaecl eu dnnevriN nevtc ctaqciy

aTdi eaTtc ctNqndaecyw dip ray qyt eu )doIvdcp neeIriN atya ltdcyk -arnrarty eUtcdariN qiptc )doIvdcp neeIriN atya ltdcy dct Ntitcdnnl

tFUtoatp ae Tdbt Cect pruuroqnarty ri ctoebtcriN aTtrc eUtFw ctyqnariN ri d ittp ae urnt Cect ucthqtianl uec d itv cdat odytw d yeqcot eu

ctNqndaecl cryIw dnaTeqNT aTt ,RL-E rioecUecdaty yeCt dpWqyaCtiay uec uectodya odUradn ribtyaCtiaw benqCty dip eUtcdariN oeyayk

Ri 6M0%801w fgEBy doTrtbtp ,'gy uec aTt tntoacro dip Ndy )qyrityyty vtct %k65 dip Ok/5 ctyUtoarbtnlw )tnev aTt dnnevtp ntbtn eu Ok95k

fdareidn Hcrp diarorUdaty urnriN d oeC)ritp cdat odyt )l 2dcoT 6M0x ae ctodnr)cdat )dyt cdaty dip ctuntoa oTdiNt ri oeyay yriot aTt ndya

cdat odyt urnriNk

Aamgnucnncig fsgsKcen Kaiu nemfts mgp oaspclemfts NCFU asGStmeiar Kamuskiah
ftv giNndip Levtc mfgL(w dieaTtc fdareidn Hcrp yq)yrprdclw eUtcdaty aTt acdiyCryyrei udornrarty eu ray ftv giNndip dyyeordat dy d

yriNnt riatNcdatp ylyatC dip ctrC)qcyty fdccdNdiytaa gntoacro scdiyCryyrei uec aTt oeya eu ray acdiyCryyrei udornrarty ri ,Tept Ryndipw

rionqpriN d ctaqci ei aTeyt udornrartyk sTt dCeqia ctrC)qcytp ae fdccdNdiytaa gntoacro scdiyCryyrei uec aTt ltdc tiptp D0 2dcoT 6M01

vdy 30/D Crnnreik scdiyCryyrei )qyrityy Tdy ie tFUeyqct ae aTt tip oeiyqCtcw dip aTtctuect ie oeCCepral Ucrot cryIk

Ri dpprareiw aTt octpra yqUUecarbt ctNqndaecl tibrceiCtia dip uecCqnd )dytp cdat CdIriN Uceotyy Ucebrptp )l aTt 7g,E dnye

yqUUeca octpra hqdnralk Lcebryreiy rionqpt d uecvdcp neeIriN cdat ytaariN CtoTdiryCw ptyrNitp ae ctrC)qcyt aTt oeCUdil uec dnn

Ucqptianl rioqcctp eUtcdariN dip Cdriatidiot tFUtipraqctw adFw ptUctordarei dip d udrc ctaqci ei dyytay tCUneltp ri aTt Ucebryrei

eu acdiyCryyrei ytcbrotyk sTt uecCqnd oeiadriy di dqaeCdaro diiqdn acqt qU uec eUtcdariN dip odUradn oeyay dip dnnevy fdccdNdiytaa

gntoacro scdiyCryyrei ae rionqpt oeiyacqoarei vecI ri UceNctyy uec itv acdiyCryyrei UceWtoay ri aTt cdat )dytk sTtyt utdaqcty dct

riatiptp ae tiyqct aTda aTt oeCUdil ctoebtcy ray dnnevtp oeyay dip ctaqciy vraTri d ave ltdc Utcrepk Ri dpprareiw ae tioeqcdNt Nctdatc

ribtyaCtia ri acdiyCryyrei riucdyacqoaqctw aTt 7g,E dnnevy riptUtiptia acdiyCryyrei evitcy ae tdci ,'gy aTda atip ae )t d)ebt aTeyt

dnnevtp )l yadat ctNqndaecyk Ri nrit vraT fgL dip eaTtc acdiyCryyrei evitcy ri ftv giNndipw fdccdNdiytaa gntoacro scdiyCryyrei ry

dnnevtp ae tdci d )dyt ,'g eu 0Mk915 ei di dyyqCtp thqral ae aeadn odUradnrydarei cdare eu 9M5 mri nrit vraT yadat ctNqndaecy )qa nevtc

aTdi %/5 da fgL(k Ri dpprareiw fdccdNdiytaa gntoacro scdiyCryyrei )tituray uceC dpprareidn riotiarbt CtoTdiryCy vTroT oeqnp rioctdyt

aTt dnnevtp ,'g qU ae 00k1/5k .evtbtcw aTt )dyt ctaqci ry nrItnl ae )t rioctdytp ae 00k0/5 uennevriN d ptoryrei )l aTt oeqca eu dUUtdny

mytt TrNTnrNTa )eF(k
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Iiashr5�m27�vhdJUsi�afiCsid�U5aifsCh5sT�reif�OUsUfi�CbbrZiv�fisUf5d

jnnevtp ctaqciy uec acdiyCryyrei eUtcdaecy ri aTt R»' fg ctNrei Tdbt )tti aTt yq)Wtoa eu dpCriryacdarbt ndv UceottpriNy uec ytbtcdn ltdcyk Ri

6M0/w aTt 7g,E ctpqotp aTt cdat eu ctaqci ae 0Mk915 uceC 00k0/5 duatc dUUtdny uceC aTt 2dyydoTqytaay jaaecitl Htitcdn dip eaTtc oqyaeCtc

ctUctytiadarbtyk jnaTeqNT 7g,E ptatcCritpw )dytp ei d pryoeqiatp odyT unev didnlyryw aTda aTt Undqyr)nt cdiNt eu ctaqciyw Iievi dy aTt ’“eit

eu ctdyeid)ntityywz vdy 1kMD 00k1/5 mpevi uceC 1kD 0Dk05 ri d Uctbreqy 6MM% ptoryrei(w aTt oeCCryyrei ptondctp aTda aTt tFryariN 00k0/5

ctaqci vdy ’qiWqya dip qictdyeid)ntkz 7g,E dnye ctpqotp aTt CdFrCqC dnnevd)nt ,'gw rionqpriN riotiarbtyw ae 00k1/5w aTt aeU eu aTt ctbrytp

“eit eu ctdyeid)ntityyk

.evtbtcw ri jUcrn 6M01 aTry ptoryrei vdy ebtcaqcitp )l di dUUtdny oeqca
0
w vTroT ueqip aTda 7g,E Tdp iea tyad)nryTtp aTda aTt tFryariN 00k0/5

ctaqci vdy qictdyeid)nt dip aTda ’7g,E udrntp ae Ucebrpt dil ctdyeitp )dyry uec ytntoariN 0Mk91 Utcotia dy aTt itv )dyt ,'gzk sTt odyt vdy

ctCdiptp ae 7g,E uec ctoeiyrptcdareik

sTtct dct oqcctianl ytbtcdn eqayadipriN ,'g oTdnntiNtyw aTt Ceya ctotia )ceqNTa )l gdyatci 2dyydoTqytaay EeiyqCtc 'vitp »lyatCyw vTroT

Tdy odnntp uec aTt ,'g ae )t oqa ae xkOD5k

»riot aTt cdat ytaariN Uceotyy ry iea oeiatyatp )tuect yadat oeCCryyreiy dip Nrbti ray ptyrNi ae tiyqct arCtnl oeya ctoebtclw vt

oeiyrptc aTt ctNqndaecl ucdCtvecI ae )t Cect yad)nt dip Uctproad)nt aTdi uec yadat ctNqndatp qarnral )qyrityytyk sTt acdiyCryyrei

)qyrityy oeiariqtp ae UtcuecC yaceiNnl vraT doTrtbtp ,'g eu 00k/5 ri 6M01w ynrNTanl d)ebt aTt dnnevtp ntbtnw dy Tdy )tti aTt odyt uec

aTt ndya trNTa ltdcyk

xcGd omasge psfe mgp ksmh Kcgmglcmt acgG KsglcgG oaiHcncign ligneamcg eds amecgGn
fgEBy octpra Ctacroy Tdbt ctoebtctp yriot 6M09 vraT E7' ae Nceyy pt)a da 6xk/5 ri 6M01 oeCUdctp ae 0Mk%5 ri 6M09k sTt

rCUcebtCtia vdy pcrbti ndcNtnl )l yvriNy ri ctNqndaecl dyytay dip nrd)rnrarty” tFonqpriN aTtyt odyT unevyw fgEGy E7' Uct 4E8pt)a Tdy

)tti oeiyryatianl ri aTt Crp ae TrNT attiyk

-Exhihb 6

NDabUvh5K�fiKUbCsrfT�viOiffCbdx�afivhs�oisfhad�cCei�tii5�dsCtbi�dh5ai�m201
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CFO pre-WC/debt CFO pre-WC/debt excluding regulatoy deferrals

-Source ySSGADP

.evtbtcw fgEGy cdariN ry oeiyacdritp )l aTt Uctytiot eu dpprareidn pt)a da aTt oeCUdilBy Udctia TenpriNy oeCUdirtyw fH -»jw

fdareidn Hcrp fecaT jCtcrod Rio mfHfjw $dd0 yad)nt( dip fdareidn Hcrpk sTry cryI ry tFdotc)datp )l vtdItc ctNqndaecl criN utioriN

Ucebryreiy dUUnrod)nt ae fgE oeCUdctp vraT yeCt eaTtc yadat ctNqndatp qarnrarty vraTri aTt fdareidn Hcrp NceqUw Udcaroqndcnl aTeyt

ri ftv ;ecIk -iptc 7g,E nrotiot oeiprareiyw fgE Cqya Cdriadri d pt)a ae aeadn odUradnrydarei cdare eu ntyy aTdi 1M5w vTroT Nrbty aTt

oeCUdil d yrNirurodia ptNctt eu TtdpceeC oeCUdctp vraT ray tFryariN ntbtn eu ntbtcdNtw dceqip 9%5k
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vcLScpcer mgmtrncn
Hrbti NceqU uqipriN dccdiNtCtiayw dnaTeqNT fgE Tdy ridpthqdat nrhqrpral ei d yadipdneit )dyryw vraT nrCratp odyT dip odyT

thqrbdntiay dip ie ctbenbriN octpra udornrarty m,E7y( ri ray evi idCtw vt ctNdcp aTt nrhqrpral cryI dy CdidNtd)ntk

fdareidn Hcrp CdidNty ray uridioriN dip nrhqrpral ei d uqnnl NceqU )dyry vraT d otiacdn 7ridiot EeCCraatt ytaariN aTt cqnty )l vTroT

riprbrpqdn tiararty odi cdryt odUradnk 7ec aTt -» yq)yrprdcrtyw rionqpriN fgEw yTeca atcC nrhqrpral cthqrctCtiay dct CdidNtp brd aTt

NceqUBy ctNqndatp Ceitl Ueenk jnn eu aTt ctNqndatp yq)yrprdcrty odi ntip dip )eccev uceC aTt Ueenw Tevtbtcw aTt qictNqndatp TenpriN

oeCUdirty Y fH -»jw fHfj dip –tl»Udi EecUecdarei m$dd0 yad)nt( Y Cdl einl doa dy ntiptcyk sTt riatctya cdat uec )eccevriN qiptc

aTt Ueen ry aTt CeiaTnl dbtcdNt eu aTt DM pdl j6 oeCCtcordn UdUtc cdat dy ctntdytp )l aTt 7tptcdn ,tytcbt $edcpk

se yqUUeca aTt ctNqndatp Ceitl Ueenw aTt Udctia TenpriN oeCUdirty Tdbt ri Undot )rndatcdn udornrarty eu £6k/ )rnnrei dip vTroT fH Unow

fH -»j dip fHfj dct idCtp )eccevtcyk jy eu D0 2dcoT 6M01w aTt udornrarty vtct qipcdvik fH -»j dnye Tdy ave oeCCtcordn UdUtc

UceNcdCy aeadnriN 3/ )rnnrei ptieCridatp thqdnnl ri -» penndcy dip gqceyk »qUUeca uec aTtyt UceNcdCy oeCty uceC fH -»j )triN d

idCtp )eccevtc qiptc aTt ,E7yk jy eu 2dcoT 6M01w aTtct vdy 319O Crnnrei eqayadipriN ei aTt -» oeCCtcordn UdUtc UceNcdC dip

K60M Crnnrei eqayadipriN ei aTt gqce oeCCtcordn UdUtc UceNcdCk

€rtvtp ri aTry vrptc oeiatFaw fgEBy nrhqrpral Ueyrarei dUUtdcy CqoT yaceiNtck fgEBy cdariN ctnrty ei oeiariqriN dootyy ae nrhqrpral uceC

aTt vrptc fdareidn Hcrp NceqU brd aTry Ceitl Ueen dccdiNtCtiak

FmecgG usedipitiGr mgp nliaslmap Kmleian
fgE ry cdatp ri dooecpdiot vraT aTt CtaTepeneNl ,tNqndatp gntoacro dip Hdy -arnrarty Uq)nryTtp ri Vqit 6M01k sTt eqaoeCt eu aTt

CtaTepeneNl Ncrp uec fgE' ry j6 )dytp ei )eaT Tryaecro dip UceWtoatp Ctacroyw ei ieaoT d)ebt aTt dyyrNitp cdariN ctuntoariN aTt TrNT

ntbtny eu dpprareidn pt)a da aTt Udctia oeCUdirtyG ntbtnk

-Exhihb 7

lCsh5K�OCasrfd
-CffCKC5diss�Nbiasfha�EroJC5T

Regulated Electric and Gas Utilities Industry Grid
1,2

  

Factor 1 : Regulatory Framework (25%) Measure Score Measure Score

a) Legislative and Judicial Underpinnings of the Regulatory Framework A A A A

b) Consistency and Predictability of Regulation A A A A

Factor 2 : Ability to Recover Costs and Earn Returns (25%)

a) Timeliness of Recovery of Operating and Capital Costs Aa Aa Aa Aa

b) Sufficiency of Rates and Returns Baa Baa Baa Baa

Factor 3 : Diversification (10%)

a) Market Position Baa Baa Baa Baa

b) Generation and Fuel Diversity N/A N/A N/A N/A

Factor 4 : Financial Strength (40%)

a) CFO pre-WC + Interest / Interest  (3 Year Avg) 5.7x A 5x - 5.5x A

b) CFO pre-WC / Debt  (3 Year Avg) 20.7% A 15% - 20% Baa

c) CFO pre- / Debt  (3 Year Avg) 20.7% A 15% - 20% A

d) Debt / Capitalization  (3 Year Avg) 33.3% Aa 30% - 35% Aa

Rating:

a) Indicated Rating from Grid A2 A2

b) Actual Rating Assigned A3

Current 

FY 3/31/2017

Moody's 12-18 Month Forward 

View

As of 8/23/2017
3

t 2yy gdbhl@ dga id@ap lw A2p'j@bapA nhwdwshdy pdbd dwp hwslgUlgdba ullp.A@ Mylidy Gbdwpdgp 2p'j@brawb@ nlg Slw Nhwdwshdy FlgUlgdbhlw@m

f 2@ ln 8C0Ct0f8t6

C /xh@ gaUga@awb@ ullp.A@ nlgzdgp Thazv wlb bxa Thaz ln bxa h@@jagv dwp jwya@@ wlbap hw bxa baEb; pla@ wlb hwslgUlgdba @hewhnhsdwb ds,jh@hbhlw@ dwp phTa@bhbjga@m

-Source ySSGA™P 'tiNirtNn ycautrPF
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FmecgGn

-Exhihb q

UmesGiar qiiprMn FmecgG
IRFFRJRI-CAA CvCUAFyU UPqDRI'
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(ganm GblsO Rddf
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k@@jag Idbhwe Rddt
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G/ k@@jag Idbhwe ( f
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) f8t6 ullp.©@ FlgUlgdbhlw; ullp.©@ kwTa@blg@ GagThsa; kwsm; ullp.©@ 2wdy.bhs@; kwsm dwp0lg bxahg yhsaw@lg@ dwp dnnhyhdba@ BslyyasbhTay.; ’u99“D©GYPm 2yy ghexb@ ga@agTapm

FI-“k/ I2/kSMG kGG1-“ RD u99“DAG kS”-G/9IG G-I”kF-; kSFm 2S“ k/G I2/kSMG 2NNkVk2/-G B’ukGYP 2I- u99“D©G F1II-S/ 9(kSk9SG 9N /L- I-V2/k”- N1/1I- FI-“k/

IkGH 9N -S/k/k-G; FI-“k/ F9uuk/u-S/G; 9I “-R/ 9I “-R/ VkH- G-F1Ik/k-G; 2S“ u99“D©G (1RVkF2/k9SG u2D kSFV1“- u99“D©G F1II-S/ 9(kSk9SG 9N /L-

I-V2/k”- N1/1I- FI-“k/ IkGH 9N -S/k/k-G; FI-“k/ F9uuk/u-S/G; 9I “-R/ 9I “-R/ VkH- G-F1Ik/k-Gm u99“D©G “-NkS-G FI-“k/ IkGH 2G /L- IkGH /L2/ 2S -S/k/D

u2D S9/ u--/ k/G F9S/I2F/12V; NkS2SFk2V 9RVkM2/k9SG 2G /L-D F9u- “1- 2S“ 2SD -G/ku2/-“ NkS2SFk2V V9GG kS /L- -”-S/ 9N “-N21V/m FI-“k/ I2/kSMG

“9 S9/ 2““I-GG 2SD 9/L-I IkGH; kSFV1“kSM R1/ S9/ Vkuk/-“ /9K Vk:1k“k/D IkGH; u2IH-/ ”2V1- IkGH; 9I (IkF- ”9V2/kVk/Dm FI-“k/ I2/kSMG 2S“ u99“D©G

9(kSk9SG kSFV1“-“ kS u99“D©G (1RVkF2/k9SG 2I- S9/ G/2/-u-S/G 9N F1II-S/ 9I LkG/9IkF2V N2F/m u99“D©G (1RVkF2/k9SG u2D 2VG9 kSFV1“- :12S/k/2/k”-

u9“-V R2G-“ -G/ku2/-G 9N FI-“k/ IkGH 2S“ I-V2/-“ 9(kSk9SG 9I F9uu-S/2ID (1RVkGL-“ RD u99“D©G 2S2VD/kFG; kSFm FI-“k/ I2/kSMG 2S“ u99“D©G

(1RVkF2/k9SG “9 S9/ F9SG/k/1/- 9I (I9”k“- kS”-G/u-S/ 9I NkS2SFk2V 2“”kF-; 2S“ FI-“k/ I2/kSMG 2S“ u99“D©G (1RVkF2/k9SG 2I- S9/ 2S“ “9 S9/

(I9”k“- I-F9uu-S“2/k9SG /9 (1IFL2G-; G-VV; 9I L9V“ (2I/kF1V2I G-F1Ik/k-Gm S-k/L-I FI-“k/ I2/kSMG S9I u99“D©G (1RVkF2/k9SG F9uu-S/ 9S /L-

G1k/2RkVk/D 9N 2S kS”-G/u-S/ N9I 2SD (2I/kF1V2I kS”-G/9Im u99“D©G kGG1-G k/G FI-“k/ I2/kSMG 2S“ (1RVkGL-G u99“D©G (1RVkF2/k9SG Qk/L /L- -W(-F/2/k9S

2S“ 1S“-IG/2S“kSM /L2/ -2FL kS”-G/9I QkVV; Qk/L “1- F2I-; u2H- k/G 9QS G/1“D 2S“ -”2V12/k9S 9N -2FL G-F1Ik/D /L2/ kG 1S“-I F9SGk“-I2/k9S N9I

(1IFL2G-; L9V“kSM; 9I G2V-m

u99“D©G FI-“k/ I2/kSMG 2S“ u99“D©G (1RVkF2/k9SG 2I- S9/ kS/-S“-“ N9I 1G- RD I-/2kV kS”-G/9IG 2S“ k/ Q91V“ R- I-FHV-GG 2S“ kS2((I9(Ik2/- N9I

I-/2kV kS”-G/9IG /9 1G- u99“D©G FI-“k/ I2/kSMG 9I u99“D©G (1RVkF2/k9SG QL-S u2HkSM 2S kS”-G/u-S/ “-FkGk9Sm kN kS “91R/ D91 GL91V“ F9S/2F/

D91I NkS2SFk2V 9I 9/L-I (I9N-GGk9S2V 2“”kG-Im 2VV kSN9Iu2/k9S F9S/2kS-“ L-I-kS kG (I9/-F/-“ RD V2Q; kSFV1“kSM R1/ S9/ Vkuk/-“ /9; F9(DIkML/ V2Q;

2S“ S9S- 9N G1FL kSN9Iu2/k9S u2D R- F9(k-“ 9I 9/L-IQkG- I-(I9“1F-“; I-(2FH2M-“; N1I/L-I /I2SGuk//-“; /I2SGN-II-“; “kGG-ukS2/-“; I-“kG/IkR1/-“

9I I-G9V“; 9I G/9I-“ N9I G1RG-:1-S/ 1G- N9I 2SD G1FL (1I(9G-; kS QL9V- 9I kS (2I/; kS 2SD N9Iu 9I u2SS-I 9I RD 2SD u-2SG QL2/G9-”-I; RD 2SD

(-IG9S Qk/L91/ u99“D©G (Ik9I QIk//-S F9SG-S/m
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j@a@ hw d@@hewhwe d sgaphb gdbhwe h@ ln @jnnhshawb ,jdyhb. dwp nglr @ljgsa@ u99“DAG slw@hpag@ bl ia gayhdiya hwsyjphwe; zxaw dUUglUghdba; hwpaUawpawb bxhgp Udgb. @ljgsa@m LlzaTag;

u99“D©G h@ wlb dw djphblg dwp sdwwlb hw aTag. hw@bdwsa hwpaUawpawby. Taghn. lg Tdyhpdba hwnlgrdbhlw gasahTap hw bxa gdbhwe Uglsa@@ lg hw UgaUdghwe bxa ullp.©@ Ujiyhsdbhlw@m
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@jsx hwnlgrdbhlw; aTaw hn u99“D©G lg dw. ln hb@ phgasblg@; lnnhsag@; arUyl.aa@; deawb@; gaUga@awbdbhTa@; yhsaw@lg@ lg @jUUyhag@ h@ dpTh@ap hw dpTdwsa ln bxa Ul@@hihyhb. ln @jsx yl@@a@ lg

pdrdea@; hwsyjphwe ijb wlb yhrhbap blK BdP dw. yl@@ ln Uga@awb lg Ugl@UasbhTa Uglnhb@ lg BiP dw. yl@@ lg pdrdea dgh@hwe zxaga bxa gayaTdwb nhwdwshdy hw@bgjrawb h@ wlb bxa @ji'asb ln d

Udgbhsjydg sgaphb gdbhwe d@@hewap i. u99“D©Gm

/l bxa aEbawb Uagrhbbap i. ydz; u99“D©G dwp hb@ phgasblg@; lnnhsag@; arUyl.aa@; deawb@; gaUga@awbdbhTa@; yhsaw@lg@ dwp @jUUyhag@ ph@sydhr yhdihyhb. nlg dw. phgasb lg slrUaw@dblg.

yl@@a@ lg pdrdea@ sdj@ap bl dw. Uag@lw lg awbhb.; hwsyjphwe ijb wlb yhrhbap bl i. dw. waeyheawsa Bijb aEsyjphwe ngdjp; zhyynjy rh@slwpjsb lg dw. lbxag b.Ua ln yhdihyhb. bxdb; nlg bxa

dTlhpdwsa ln pljib; i. ydz sdwwlb ia aEsyjpapP lw bxa Udgb ln; lg dw. slwbhweaws. zhbxhw lg ia.lwp bxa slwbgly ln; u99“D©G lg dw. ln hb@ phgasblg@; lnnhsag@; arUyl.aa@; deawb@;

gaUga@awbdbhTa@; yhsaw@lg@ lg @jUUyhag@; dgh@hwe nglr lg hw slwwasbhlw zhbx bxa hwnlgrdbhlw slwbdhwap xagahw lg bxa j@a ln lg hwdihyhb. bl j@a dw. @jsx hwnlgrdbhlwm

S9 Q2II2S/D; -W(I-GG 9I ku(Vk-“; 2G /9 /L- 2FF1I2FD; /ku-VkS-GG; F9u(V-/-S-GG; u-IFL2S/2RkVk/D 9I Nk/S-GG N9I 2SD (2I/kF1V2I (1I(9G- 9N 2SD G1FL

I2/kSM 9I 9/L-I 9(kSk9S 9I kSN9Iu2/k9S kG Mk”-S 9I u2“- RD u99“D©G kS 2SD N9Iu 9I u2SS-I QL2/G9-”-Im

ullp.©@ kwTa@blg@ GagThsa; kwsm; d zxlyy. lzwap sgaphb gdbhwe deaws. @ji@hphdg. ln ullp.©@ FlgUlgdbhlw B’uF9YP; xagai. ph@syl@a@ bxdb rl@b h@@jag@ ln paib @asjghbha@ Bhwsyjphwe

slgUlgdba dwp rjwhshUdy ilwp@; paiawbjga@; wlba@ dwp slrragshdy UdUagP dwp Uganaggap @blsO gdbap i. ullp.©@ kwTa@blg@ GagThsa; kwsm xdTa; Ughlg bl d@@hewrawb ln dw. gdbhwe;

degaap bl Ud. bl ullp.©@ kwTa@blg@ GagThsa; kwsm nlg dUUgdh@dy dwp gdbhwe @agThsa@ gawpagap i. hb naa@ gdwehwe nglr Xt;488 bl dUUglEhrdbay. Xf;488;888m uF9 dwp ukG dy@l rdhwbdhw

Ulyhsha@ dwp Uglsapjga@ bl dppga@@ bxa hwpaUawpawsa ln ukG©@ gdbhwe@ dwp gdbhwe Uglsa@@a@m kwnlgrdbhlw gaedgphwe sagbdhw dnnhyhdbhlw@ bxdb rd. aEh@b iabzaaw phgasblg@ ln uF9 dwp

gdbap awbhbha@; dwp iabzaaw awbhbha@ zxl xlyp gdbhwe@ nglr ukG dwp xdTa dy@l Ujiyhsy. gaUlgbap bl bxa G-F dw lzwag@xhU hwbaga@b hw uF9 ln rlga bxdw 4$; h@ Ul@bap dwwjdyy. db

zzzmrllp.@mslr jwpag bxa xadphwe ’kwTa@blg Iaydbhlw@ % FlgUlgdba MlTagwdwsa % “hgasblg dwp Gxdgaxlypag 2nnhyhdbhlw (lyhs.mY

2pphbhlwdy bagr@ nlg 2j@bgdyhd lwy.K 2w. Ujiyhsdbhlw hwbl 2j@bgdyhd ln bxh@ plsjrawb h@ Ujg@jdwb bl bxa 2j@bgdyhdw Nhwdwshdy GagThsa@ Vhsaw@a ln u99“D©G dnnhyhdba; ullp.©@ kwTa@blg@

GagThsa (b. Vhrhbap 2RS 5t 88C Cqq 5462NGV CC5q5q dwp0lg ullp.©@ 2wdy.bhs@ 2j@bgdyhd (b. Vbp 2RS q3 t84 tC5 q6f 2NGV C7C45q Bd@ dUUyhsdiyaPm /xh@ plsjrawb h@ hwbawpap

bl ia UglThpap lwy. bl ’zxlya@dya syhawb@Y zhbxhw bxa radwhwe ln @asbhlw 65tM ln bxa FlgUlgdbhlw@ 2sb f88tm R. slwbhwjhwe bl dssa@@ bxh@ plsjrawb nglr zhbxhw 2j@bgdyhd; .lj

gaUga@awb bl u99“D©G bxdb .lj dga; lg dga dssa@@hwe bxa plsjrawb d@ d gaUga@awbdbhTa ln; d ’zxlya@dya syhawbY dwp bxdb wahbxag .lj wlg bxa awbhb. .lj gaUga@awb zhyy phgasby. lg

hwphgasby. ph@@arhwdba bxh@ plsjrawb lg hb@ slwbawb@ bl ’gabdhy syhawb@Y zhbxhw bxa radwhwe ln @asbhlw 65tM ln bxa FlgUlgdbhlw@ 2sb f88tm u99“D©G sgaphb gdbhwe h@ dw lUhwhlw d@

bl bxa sgaphbzlgbxhwa@@ ln d paib liyhedbhlw ln bxa h@@jag; wlb lw bxa a,jhb. @asjghbha@ ln bxa h@@jag lg dw. nlgr ln @asjghb. bxdb h@ dTdhydiya bl gabdhy hwTa@blg@m kb zljyp ia gasOya@@

dwp hwdUUglUghdba nlg gabdhy hwTa@blg@ bl j@a u99“D©G sgaphb gdbhwe@ lg Ujiyhsdbhlw@ zxaw rdOhwe dw hwTa@brawb pash@hlwm kn hw pljib .lj @xljyp slwbdsb .ljg nhwdwshdy lg lbxag

Uglna@@hlwdy dpTh@agm

2pphbhlwdy bagr@ nlg —dUdw lwy.K ullp.A@ —dUdw HmHm B’u—HHYP h@ d zxlyy. lzwap sgaphb gdbhwe deaws. @ji@hphdg. ln ullp.A@ MgljU —dUdw MmHm; zxhsx h@ zxlyy. lzwap i. ullp.©@

9Tag@ad@ Llyphwe@ kwsm; d zxlyy. lzwap @ji@hphdg. ln uF9m ullp.©@ GN —dUdw HmHm B’uGN—YP h@ d zxlyy. lzwap sgaphb gdbhwe deaws. @ji@hphdg. ln u—HHm uGN— h@ wlb d Sdbhlwdyy.

Iaslewhcap Gbdbh@bhsdy Idbhwe 9gedwhcdbhlw B’SIGI9YPm /xaganlga; sgaphb gdbhwe@ d@@hewap i. uGN— dga Slw SIGI9 Fgaphb Idbhwe@m Slw SIGI9 Fgaphb Idbhwe@ dga d@@hewap i. dw

awbhb. bxdb h@ wlb d SIGI9 dwp; slw@a,jawby.; bxa gdbap liyhedbhlw zhyy wlb ,jdyhn. nlg sagbdhw b.Ua@ ln bgadbrawb jwpag 1mGm ydz@m u—HH dwp uGN— dga sgaphb gdbhwe deawsha@ gaeh@bagap

zhbx bxa —dUdw Nhwdwshdy GagThsa@ 2eaws. dwp bxahg gaeh@bgdbhlw wjriag@ dga NG2 Flrrh@@hlwag BIdbhwe@P Slm f dwp C ga@UasbhTay.m

u—HH lg uGN— Bd@ dUUyhsdiyaP xagai. ph@syl@a bxdb rl@b h@@jag@ ln paib @asjghbha@ Bhwsyjphwe slgUlgdba dwp rjwhshUdy ilwp@; paiawbjga@; wlba@ dwp slrragshdy UdUagP dwp Uganaggap

@blsO gdbap i. u—HH lg uGN— Bd@ dUUyhsdiyaP xdTa; Ughlg bl d@@hewrawb ln dw. gdbhwe; degaap bl Ud. bl u—HH lg uGN— Bd@ dUUyhsdiyaP nlg dUUgdh@dy dwp gdbhwe @agThsa@ gawpagap i. hb naa@

gdwehwe nglr —(Df88;888 bl dUUglEhrdbay. —(DC48;888;888m

u—HH dwp uGN— dy@l rdhwbdhw Ulyhsha@ dwp Uglsapjga@ bl dppga@@ —dUdwa@a gaejydblg. ga,jhgarawb@m
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sPcl'c 'cc atc ulahin' 'crahSi la atc ciM Sg ath' ucfSua
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3rGDNan
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O''Srhlac :lilnhin
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VGNwbtrc A .A. 77f A57f

Vcbr�1rtbRbt P7. f77A f200
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-NaaNrNgnsee tEsleacl iComNgp
-Updat ae octpra didnlyry

-Suumar
sTt octpra hqdnral eu fdccdNdiytaa gntoacro EeCUdil mfgE( ry yqUUecatp )l aTt prbtcyrurodarei

eu ray ctbtiqty )tavtti pryacr)qarei dip acdiyCryyreiw yad)nt dip Uctproad)nt odyT unevyw

dip aTt Ntitcdnnl yqUUecarbt ctNqndaecl tibrceiCtia ri ,Tept Ryndipw vTtct d vrpt bdcrtal

eu pt cryIriN Ucebryreiy uec qarnrarty Tdbt )tti rionqptp ri ctotia cdat odytyk Ectpra hqdnral

ry oeiyacdritp )l dpprareidn pt)a da aTt Udctia TenpriN oeCUdirtyw rionqpriN fdareidn .crp

fecaT GCtcrod Rio mf.fGw AddB yad)nt( dip fdareidn .crp 1no mf. Unow AddB yad)nt(k

sTt doTrtbtp ctaqciy ei thqral ri fgEPy pryacr)qarei )qyrityyty Tdbt Ntitcdnnl )tti da ec

d)ebt aTt dnnevtp ,'g eu Ok95 qiptc aTt Uctbreqy cdat Undiw dnaTeqNT tntoacroral pryacr)qarei

utnn ae %k65 ri aTt ltdc ae 2dcoT 6MB0k gntoacroral acdiyCryyrei Tdy ptCeiyacdatp yad)nt

ctaqciy oeiyryatianl d)ebt aTt BMk905 dnnevdiotw dnaTeqNT eiNeriN oTdnntiNty ae 7g,EPy

cdat ytaariN Uceotyy octdaty yeCt qiotcadrial d)eqa uqaqct ctaqciyk gFonqpriN ctNqndaecl

ptutccdnyw E7' Uct xE ae Wt)a Tdy )tti yad)nt ri aTt Crp ae TrNT attiyw ri UtcotiadNt atcCyk

sTt oeCUdil Tdy ctotianl urntp itv cdat odyty uec ray pryacr)qarei )qyrityytyw vraT aTt itv

cdaty tFUtoatp ae )t tuutoarbt ri DtUatC)tc 6MBSk xt Tdp tFUtoatp aTry ae yqUUeca d Ceptya

yactiNaTtiriN ri fgEPy Itl octpra Ctacroyk 8evtbtcw uennevriN -D adF ctuecCyw diieqiotp ri

WtotC)tc 6MB0w vt iev tFUtoa Ctacroy ae ctCdri dceqip oqcctia ntbtnyk

-Exhihb t

-Ne�wraN�trcN�NsxNtaNp�ad�coxxdwa�uCF xwN�Ou�ad�WNDa�bi�anN�nbhn�aNNic
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Uaspce neasgGedn

4 DqUUecarbt ctNqndaecl tibrceiCtia uec nev )qyrityy cryI tntoacroral dip Ndy pryacr)qarei ri ,Tept Ryndip

4 Dad)nt dip Uctproad)nt 7g,E ctNqndaecl ucdCtvecI dip nev acdiyCryyrei )qyrityy cryI qiptcUriy acdiyCryyrei odyT unevy

Uaspce ldmttsgGsn

4 »rCratp ctNqndaecl criN utioriN Uceatoareiy uceC dpprareidn pt)a da bdcreqy TenpriN oeCUdirty

FmecgG iSetiih
fgE ry tFUtoatp ae ctCdri oeCuecad)nl Ueyrareitp uec aTt dyyrNitp cdariNw vraT E7' Uct xELpt)a ri aTt Crp ae TrNT attiy ri

UtcotiadNt atcCyw tFonqpriN ctNqndaecl ptutccdnyk

Nmleian edme liStp tsmp ei mg SoGamps

4 E7' Uct vecIriN odUradn ae Nceyy pt)a oeiyryatianl d)ebt aTt nev 6Myw ri UtcotiadNt atcCy

4 Rioctdyt eu 7g,E dipLec ,R1-EPy yqUUecarbtityy aevdcpy qarnrarty btcyqy ray oqcctia dUUcedoT

4 G cdariN qUNcdpt veqnp dnye adIt riae oeiyrptcdarei aTt octpra hqdnral eu aTt vrptc fdareidn .crp NceqU

Nmleian edme liStp tsmp ei m pikgGamps

4 Wtoctdyt eu 7g,E dipLec ,R1-EPy ebtcdnn yqUUecarbtityy

4 E7' Uct xE L pt)a Utcyryatianl )tnev aTt Crp attiyw ri UtcotiadNt atcCy

4 G cdariN peviNcdpt veqnp dnye adIt riae oeiyrptcdarei aTt octpra hqdnral eu aTt vrptc fdareidn .crp NceqU

wsr cgpclmeian

-Exhihb n

MNT�bipbtradwcA

-rwwrhricNaa�IyNtawbt�udGxriT

 FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18 proj. FY19 proj. FY20 proj.

CFO pre-WC + Interest / Interest 4.6x 3.4x 6.7x 7.1x 5.9x 5.8x 6.1x

CFO pre-WC / Debt 14.7% 10.3% 24.1% 28.4% 19.6% 18.0% 18.2%

CFO pre- / Debt 14.7% 10.3% 24.1% 28.4% 19.6% 10.5% 11.4%

Debt / Capitalization 36.7% 35.7% 32.9% 31.5% 31.4% 36.2% 38.3%

t 2yy gdbhl@ dga id@ap lf A2p'c@bapA uhfdfshdy pdbd dfp hfslgUlgdba jllp.A@ Mylidy Gbdfpdgp 2p'c@brafb@ ulg Slf Nhfdfshdy FlgUlgdbhlf@m

-Source :SSMdy' DhilirhlP :cauhr'F

Cxh@ Uciyhsdbhlf pla@ flb dfflcfsa d sgaphb gdbhfe dsbhlfm Nlg df. sgaphb gdbhfe@ gauagafsap hf bxh@ UciyhsdbhlfT Uyad@a @aa bxa gdbhfe@ bdi lf bxa h@@cag,afbhb. Udea lf

///mrllp.@mslr ulg bxa rl@b cUpdbap sgaphb gdbhfe dsbhlf hfulgrdbhlf dfp gdbhfe xh@blg.m
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Uiaoiames oai:cts
fgE ry d ctadrn pryacr)qarei oeCUdil UcebrpriN tntoacro ytcbrot ae dUUceFrCdatnl 9MMwMMM oqyaeCtcy dip Ndy ytcbrot ae dUUceFrCdatnl

60MwMMM oqyaeCtcy ri ,Tept Ryndipk Ra dnye eviy tntoacroral acdiyCryyrei dyytay ri ,Tept Ryndip eUtcdatp )l yryatc oeCUdil ftv

giNndip 1evtc mfg1w G/ yad)nt(k Gy eu 2dcoT 6MB0w fgE Tdy d cdat )dyt eu 36kM )rnnreiw oeCUcrytp eu 3%O0 Crnnrei eu tntoacroral

acdiyCryyrei mctNqndatp )l aTt 7g,E( dip 3%%9 Crnnrei dip 3%HM Crnnrei eu tntoacro dip Ndy pryacr)qarei ctyUtoarbtnl mctNqndatp )l aTt

,R1-E(k fgE ry uqnnl evitp )l fdareidn .crp -DG mf. -DGw AddB yad)nt(w d TenpriN oeCUdil vTroT ry qnarCdatnl evitp )l fdareidn

.crp Uno mfdareidn .crpw AddB yad)nt(k

-Exhihb w

-rabdiry�gwbp�-dwan�VGNwbtr�cbGxybRbNp�hwdox�cawotaowN

-Source :SSMdy'

-Exhihb 3

-rwwrhricNaa�wNxwNcNiac�A2K�dR�-rabdiry�gwbp%c�'E�wraN�DrcN
6raN�DrcN�ra�fA�Jrwtn�.2A0

KEDNY

KEDLI

Boston Gas

Niagara Mohawk (gas)

Narragansett Gas

Colonial Gas

Niagara Mohawk (electricity)

Massachusetts Electric/ Nantucket 
Electric

Narragansett Electric

New England Power

Narragansett Transmission

Canadian Interconnector National Grid Generation
Regulated Electric

Transmission

Regulated Electric
Utilities

Regulated Gas
Utilities

Sdggdedf@abb gaecydbap afbhbha@ pd@xap

-Source ™lahSilP NuhM
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Esemctsp laspce ligncpsamecign
Ecneac3Secig 3Sncgsnnsn GsgsamecgG ligncnesge osa:iaumglsb gsk ames lmns s;oslesp edcn rsma
sTt oqcctia cdat Undiy uec fgE$y tntoacroral dip Ndy )qyrityy vtct dUUcebtp )l aTt ,R1-E ri WtotC)tc 6MB6 dip Tdbt )tti tuutoarbt

uceC 7t)cqdcl 6MB/k GUUcebtp ctaqciy ei thqral m,'gy( dct Ok95w vTroT vdy ynrNTanl )tnev aTt dbtcdNt thqral ctaqciy dooecptp

ae titcNl qarnrarty idareivrpt pqcriN aTt B6 CeiaTy ntdpriN qU ae aTt ptoryreik fgE ry yq)’toa ae di tdciriNy yTdcriN CtoTdiryCw

qiptc vTroT fgE ry cthqrctp ae yTdct thqdnnl vraT cdatUdltcy rioctCtiadn tdciriNy )tavtti d Ok95 dip d BMk95 ,'gw dip 095 eu

rioctCtiadn tdciriNy d)ebt d BMk95 ,'gk

sTt cdat Undi Ucebrpty uec d Utiyrei dp’qyaCtia CtoTdiryC dip di diiqdn UceUtcal adF ctoebtcl CtoTdiryC vraTri aTt diiqdn odUradn

UceNcdCCt aTda Cect oneytnl dnrNiy cdat ctoebtcl dip oeyay ctndatp ae UceUtcal adF tFUtiytyk

-Exhihb 4

-rwwrhricNaa�WbcawbDoabdi�ENwUbtN�VwNrc
6ndpN�Lcyrip

-Exhihb 5

6raN�urcNc�EoGGrwT

-Source ™lahSilP NuhM

Regulated Business

Narragansett 

Electric Narragansett Gas

Narragansett 

Transmission

Regulator Federal Energy 

Regulatory 

Commission

Primary term of rate 

case

-

Allowed return on 

equity

10.57%

Achieved return on 

equity (2016/17)

6.20% 9.40% 11.40%

Rate Base at March 

2017

$665m $640m $697m

Rhode Island Public Utilities 

Commission

2013

9.50%

-Source ™lahSilP NuhM

WtyUrat aTt riacepqoarei eu d iqC)tc eu pt cryIriN Ucebryreiyw rionqpriN uqnn ctbtiqt ptoeqUnriN dip odUradn acdoItcyw vt brtv aTt

ctNqndaecl tibrceiCtia ri ,Tept Ryndip dy aeqNTtc aTdi ri yeCt eaTtc yadaty pqt ae aTt ,R1-EPy Tryaecl eu dnnevriN nevtc ctaqciy

aTdi eaTtc ctNqndaecyw dip ray qyt eu )doIvdcp neeIriN atya ltdcyk -arnrarty eUtcdariN qiptc )doIvdcp neeIriN atya ltdcy dct Ntitcdnnl

tFUtoatp ae Tdbt Cect pruuroqnarty ri ctoebtcriN aTtrc eUtFw ctyqnariN ri d ittp ae urnt Cect ucthqtianl uec d itv cdat odytw d yeqcot eu

ctNqndaecl cryIw dnaTeqNT aTt ,R1-E rioecUecdaty yeCt dp’qyaCtiay uec uectodya odUradn ribtyaCtiaw benqCty dip eUtcdariN oeyayk

Ri 6MB%LB0w fgE$y doTrtbtp ,'gy uec aTt tntoacro dip Ndy )qyrityyty vtct %k65 dip OkH5w ctyUtoarbtnlw )tnev aTt dnnevtp ntbtn eu Ok95k

fgE urntp uec d itv cdat odyt ri febtC)tc 6MB0w vTroT rionqptp d UceUeydn uec d 30Bk%C qUnrua ri dnnevtp ctbtiqtk sTt itv cdat Undi

veqnp )t tuutoarbt uceC DtUatC)tc 6MBSk sTt urnriN UceUeyty d ctaqci ei thqral eu BMkB5 dip d oeya eu pt)a dnnevdiot eu Hk%O5 dip

9kBS5 uec fgEPy gntoacro dip .dy ytNCtiay ctyUtoarbtnlw yq)’toa ae di dyyqCtp odUradnrjdarei cdat eu 9B5k sTt ,R1-E Ucebrptp ray rirardn

ctyUeiyt ae fgEPy cthqtya ri GUcrn 6MBS vraT d uridn EeCCryyrei ptoryrei tFUtoatp ri GqNqya 6MBSk
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Aamgnucnncig 3sgs:cen :aiu nem3ts mgp oaspclem3ts NCFU asGStmeiar :amuskiah
ftv giNndip 1evtc mfg1(w dieaTtc fdareidn .crp yq)yrprdclw eUtcdaty aTt acdiyCryyrei udornrarty eu ray ftv giNndip dyyeordat dy d

yriNnt riatNcdatp ylyatC dip ctrC)qcyty fdccdNdiytaa gntoacro scdiyCryyrei uec aTt oeya eu ray acdiyCryyrei udornrarty ri ,Tept Ryndipw

rionqpriN d ctaqci ei aTeyt udornrartyk sTt dCeqia ctrC)qcytp ae fdccdNdiytaa gntoacro scdiyCryyrei uec aTt ltdc tiptp /B 2dcoT 6MB0

vdy 3BH/ Crnnreik

scdiyCryyrei )qyrityy Tdy ie tFUeyqct ae aTt tip oeiyqCtcw dip aTtctuect ie oeCCepral Ucrot cryIk sTt octpra yqUUecarbt ctNqndaecl

tibrceiCtia dip uecCqnd )dytp cdat CdIriN Uceotyy Ucebrptp )l aTt 7g,E dnye yqUUeca octpra hqdnralk 1cebryreiy rionqpt d uecvdcp 

neeIriN cdat ytaariN CtoTdiryCw ptyrNitp ae ctrC)qcyt aTt oeCUdil uec dnn Ucqptianl rioqcctp eUtcdariN dip Cdriatidiot tFUtipraqctw

adFw ptUctordarei dip d udrc ctaqci ei dyytay tCUneltp ri aTt Ucebryrei eu acdiyCryyrei ytcbrotyk sTt uecCqnd oeiadriy di dqaeCdaro

diiqdn acqt qU uec eUtcdariN dip odUradn oeyay dip dnnevy fdccdNdiytaa gntoacro scdiyCryyrei ae rionqpt oeiyacqoarei vecI ri UceNctyy

uec itv acdiyCryyrei Uce’toay ri aTt cdat )dytk sTtyt utdaqcty dct riatiptp ae tiyqct aTda aTt oeCUdil ctoebtcy ray dnnevtp oeyay

dip ctaqciy vraTri d ave ltdc Utcrepk Ri dpprareiw ae tioeqcdNt Nctdatc ribtyaCtia ri acdiyCryyrei riucdyacqoaqctw aTt 7g,E dnnevy

riptUtiptia acdiyCryyrei evitcy ae tdci ,'gy aTda atip ae )t d)ebt aTeyt dnnevtp )l yadat ctNqndaecyk Ri nrit vraT fg1 dip eaTtc

acdiyCryyrei evitcy ri ftv giNndipw fdccdNdiytaa gntoacro scdiyCryyrei ry dnnevtp ae tdci d )dyt ,'g eu BMk905 ei di dyyqCtp

thqral ae aeadn odUradnrydarei cdare eu 9M5 mri nrit vraT yadat ctNqndaecy )qa nevtc aTdi %%5 da fg1(k Ri dpprareiw fdccdNdiytaa gntoacro

scdiyCryyrei )tituray uceC dpprareidn riotiarbt CtoTdiryCy vTroT oeqnp rioctdyt aTt dnnevtp ,'g qU ae BBk0H5k 8evtbtcw aTt )dyt

ctaqci oeqnp )t rioctdytp uennevriN d ptoryrei )l aTt oeqca eu dUUtdny mytt TrNTnrNTa )eF(k
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ENtabdi�.25�pbcxoaN�twNraNc�oitNwarbiaT�dUNw�RoaowN�ryydeNp�wNaowic

Gnnevtp ctaqciy uec acdiyCryyrei eUtcdaecy ri aTt RD' fg ctNrei Tdbt )tti aTt yq)’toa eu dpCriryacdarbt ndv UceottpriNy uec ytbtcdn ltdcyk Ri

6MBHw aTt 7g,E ctpqotp aTt cdat eu ctaqci ae BMk905 uceC BBkBH5 duatc dUUtdny uceC aTt 2dyydoTqytaay Gaaecitl .titcdn dip eaTtc oqyaeCtc

ctUctytiadarbtyk GnaTeqNT 7g,E ptatcCritpw )dytp ei d pryoeqiatp odyT unev didnlyryw aTda aTt Undqyr)nt cdiNt eu ctaqciyw Iievi dy aTt zjeit

eu ctdyeid)ntityyw“ vdy 0kM/ BBk0H5 mpevi uceC 0k/ B/kB5 ri d Uctbreqy 6MM% ptoryrei(w aTt oeCCryyrei ptondctp aTda aTt tFryariN BBkBH5

ctaqci vdy zqi’qya dip qictdyeid)ntk“ 7g,E dnye ctpqotp aTt CdFrCqC dnnevd)nt ,'gw rionqpriN riotiarbtyw ae BBk0H5w aTt aeU eu aTt ctbrytp

jeit eu ctdyeid)ntityyk

8evtbtcw ri GUcrn 6MB0 aTry ptoryrei vdy ebtcaqcitp )l di dUUtdny oeqca
B
w vTroT ueqip aTda 7g,E Tdp iea tyad)nryTtp aTda aTt tFryariN BBkBH5

ctaqci vdy qictdyeid)nt dip aTda z7g,E udrntp ae Ucebrpt dil ctdyeitp )dyry uec ytntoariN BMk90 Utcotia dy aTt itv )dyt ,'g“k sTt odyt vdy

ctCdiptp ae 7g,E uec ctoeiyrptcdareik

sTtct dct oqcctianl ytbtcdn eqayadipriN ,'g oTdnntiNtyw aTt Ceya ctotia )ceqNTa )l gdyatci 2dyydoTqytaay EeiyqCtc 'vitp DlyatCyw vTroT

Tdy odnntp uec aTt ,'g ae )t oqa ae SkO/5k

Driot aTt cdat ytaariN Uceotyy ry iea oeiatyatp )tuect yadat oeCCryyreiy dip Nrbti ray ptyrNi ae tiyqct arCtnl oeya ctoebtclw vt

oeiyrptc aTt ctNqndaecl ucdCtvecI ae )t Cect yad)nt dip Uctproad)nt aTdi uec yadat ctNqndatp qarnral )qyrityytyk sTt acdiyCryyrei

)qyrityy oeiariqtp ae UtcuecC yaceiNnl vraT doTrtbtp ,'g eu BBkH5 ri 6MB0w ynrNTanl d)ebt aTt dnnevtp ntbtnw dy Tdy )tti aTt odyt uec

aTt ndya trNTa ltdcyk

Am; as:iaun kctt gsGmecxstr m::sle Sectcer lmnd :tikn
sTt 6MB0 adF ctuecC ntNryndarei vrnn Tdbt di ebtcdnn itNdarbt octpra rCUdoa ei ctNqndatp eUtcdariN oeCUdirty dip aTtrc TenpriN

oeCUdirty mytt ,tNqndatp -arnrarty  -D” sdF ctuecC ry octpra itNdarbt uec ytoaecw )qa rCUdoa bdcrty )l oeCUdilw 6H :diqdcl 6MBS(k

2eepl$y tyarCdaty aTda aTt ctotia oTdiNty ri adF ndvy vrnn prnqat Ceya qarnrartyP E7' Uct xELpt)a )l dUUceFrCdatnl B9M 69M )dyry

Ueriayw ptUtipriN ae yeCt ptNctt ei aTt yrjt eu aTt oeCUdil$y odUradn tFUtipraqct UceNcdCk

GnaTeqNT aTt ctNqndatp qarnral ytoaec ry odcbtp eqa ri atcCy eu aTt actdaCtia eu riatctya ptpqoar)rnral dip tFUtiyriN eu odUradn

tFUtipraqctyw uceC di tdciriNy UtcyUtoarbt aTt tuutoa ei ctNqndatp tiararty ry itqacdn )todqyt ydbriNy ei aTt nevtc adF tFUtiyt dct

Udyytp ei ae aTtrc oqyaeCtcyw dy cthqrctp )l ctNqndareik 8evtbtcw uceC d odyT unev UtcyUtoarbt aTt ntNryndarei ry octpra itNdarbtw

)todqyt ctNqndatp qarnrarty alUrodnnl Udl CqoT ntyy adF ri odyTk

Ra ry iea lta ontdc Tevw dip Tev hqroInlw bdcreqy ctNqndaecyw rionqpriN 7g,E dip ,R1-Ew vrnn dp’qya dnnevtp ctbtiqty ae ctuntoa aTt

oTdiNtk 8evtbtcw ri 2dcoT 6MBSw 7g,E rirardatp di rihqrcl riae aTt rCUdoa eu -D adF ctuecCy ei Uq)nro qarnrarty vraT d brtv ae tiyqcriN

aTda aTt )tituray eu adF ctuecC dct )triN dooqcdatnl ctuntoatp ri oqyaeCtc cdatyk Ri aTt :diqdcl 6MBS cdat ecptc uec frdNdcd 2eTdvI

1evtc EecUecdarei mfr2ew G6 yad)nt(w di f.fG yq)yrprdclw aTt fJ1DE ieatp aTda aTt )tituray eu adF ctuecC yTeqnp doocqt ae

oqyaeCtcyk

-em3ts laspce useaclnv 3Se dcGd omasge ps3e mgp ksmh :cgmglcmt acgG :sglcgG oaixcncign ligneamcg eds amecgGn
fgE$y Ttdpnrit octpra Ctacroy Tdbt yactiNaTtitp yriot 6MB9w vraT E7' ae Nceyy pt)a da 6SkH5 ri 6MB0 oeCUdctp ae BMk%5 ri 6MB9k

8evtbtcw aTt rCUcebtCtia vdy pcrbti Udcardnnl )l yvriNy ri ctNqndaecl dyytay dip nrd)rnrartyY tFonqpriN aTtyt odyT unevyw fgEPy E7'

Uct xELpt)a Tdy )tti oeiyryatianl ri aTt Crp ae TrNT attiy ri UtcotiadNt atcCyk GyyqCriN aTda fgEPy cdat Undi vrnn cthqrct ra ae Udyy

aTceqNT yq)yadiardnnl dnn eu aTt ctpqoarei ri adF tFUtiyt aTceqNT nevtc )rnnyw vt tFUtoa fgEPy cdare eu E7' Uct xE ae Wt)a ae ctCdri ri

aTt TrNT attiyk

8evtbtcw fgEPy octpra hqdnral ry oeiyacdritp )l aTt Uctytiot eu dpprareidn pt)a da aTt oeCUdil$y Udctia TenpriNy oeCUdirtyw f. -DGw

fdareidn .crp fecaT GCtcrod Rio mf.fGw AddB yad)nt( dip fdareidn .crpk sTry cryI ry tFdotc)datp )l vtdItc ctNqndaecl criN utioriN

Ucebryreiy dUUnrod)nt ae fgE oeCUdctp vraT yeCt eaTtc yadat ctNqndatp qarnrarty vraTri aTt fdareidn .crp NceqUw Udcaroqndcnl aTeyt

ri ftv JecIk -iptc 7g,E nrotiot oeiprareiyw fgE Cqya Cdriadri d pt)a ae aeadn odUradnrydarei cdare eu ntyy aTdi 0M5w vTroT Nrbty aTt

oeCUdil d yrNirurodia ptNctt eu TtdpceeC oeCUdctp vraT ray tFryariN ntbtn eu ntbtcdNtw dceqip 9%5k
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,cLScpcer mgmtrncn
.rbti NceqU uqipriN dccdiNtCtiayw dnaTeqNT fgE Tdy ridpthqdat nrhqrpral ei d yadipdneit )dyryw vraT nrCratp odyT dip odyT

thqrbdntiay dip ie ctbenbriN octpra udornrarty m,E7y( ri ray evi idCtw vt ctNdcp aTt nrhqrpral cryI dy CdidNtd)ntk

fdareidn .crp CdidNty ray uridioriN dip nrhqrpral ei d uqnnl NceqU )dyry vraT d otiacdn 7ridiot EeCCraatt ytaariN aTt cqnty )l vTroT

riprbrpqdn tiararty odi cdryt odUradnk 7ec aTt -D yq)yrprdcrtyw rionqpriN fgEw yTeca atcC nrhqrpral cthqrctCtiay dct CdidNtp brd aTt

NceqU$y ctNqndatp Ceitl Ueenk Gnn eu aTt ctNqndatp yq)yrprdcrty odi ntip dip )eccev uceC aTt Ueenw vTrnt aTt qictNqndatp TenpriN

oeCUdirty ; f. -DGw f.fG dip –tlDUdi EecUecdarei m–tlyUdiw AddB yad)nt( ; Cdl einl doa dy ntiptcyk sTt riatctya cdat uec

)eccevriN qiptc aTt Ceitl Ueen ry ptatcCritp )l ctutctiot ae aTt oeya eu CttariN ray uqipriN ittpyw alUrodnnl d CrF eu /M pdl G6

oeCCtcordn UdUtc dip dil eaTtc neiN dip yTeca atcC uqipriN yeqcoty ryyqtp da ray Udctiaw f.fGk

se yqUUeca aTt ctNqndatp Ceitl Ueenw aTt Udctia TenpriN oeCUdirty Tdbt ri Undot )rndatcdn udornrarty eu �6kH )rnnrei CdaqcriN )tavtti

6MBO dip 6M66 dip uec vTroT fdareidn .crpw f. -DG dip f.fG dct idCtp )eccevtcyk sTt udornrarty vtct qipcdvi dy eu 2dcoT 6MB0k

Ri dpprareiw f.-DG dip –tlyUdi odi )eccev 3/ )rnnrei qiptc d vecIriN odUradn udornral vraT fdareidn .crp Unok f. -DG dnye Tdy ave

oeCCtcordn UdUtc UceNcdCy aeadnriN 3H )rnnrei ptieCridatp thqdnnl ri -D penndcy dip gqceyk Gy eu 2dcoT 6MB0w aTtct vdy 309O Crnnrei

eqayadipriN ei aTt -D oeCCtcordn UdUtc UceNcdC dip K6BM Crnnrei eqayadipriN ei aTt gqce oeCCtcordn UdUtc UceNcdCk €rtvtp ri

aTry vrptc oeiatFaw fgE$y nrhqrpral Ueyrarei dUUtdcy CqoT yaceiNtck

FmecgG usedipitiGr mgp nliaslmap :mleian
fgE ry cdatp ri dooecpdiot vraT aTt CtaTepeneNl ,tNqndatp gntoacro dip .dy -arnrarty Uq)nryTtp ri :qit 6MB0k sTt eqaoeCt eu aTt

CtaTepeneNl Ncrp uec fgE ry G6 )dytp ei Tryaecrodn dip G/ )dytp ei Uce’toatp Ctacroyk

-Exhihb 7

6rabih�Rrtadwc
-rwwrhricNaa�IyNtawbt�udGxriT

Regulated Electric and Gas Utilities Industry Grid [1][2]   

Factor 1 : Regulatory Framework (25%) Measure Score Measure Score

a) Legislative and Judicial Underpinnings of the Regulatory Framework A A A A

b) Consistency and Predictability of Regulation A A A A

Factor 2 : Ability to Recover Costs and Earn Returns (25%)

a) Timeliness of Recovery of Operating and Capital Costs Aa Aa Aa Aa

b) Sufficiency of Rates and Returns Baa Baa Baa Baa

Factor 3 : Diversification (10%)

a) Market Position Baa Baa Baa Baa

b) Generation and Fuel Diversity N/A N/A N/A N/A

Factor 4 : Financial Strength (40%)

a) CFO pre-WC + Interest / Interest  (3 Year Avg) 5.7x A 5x - 6x A

b) CFO pre-WC / Debt  (3 Year Avg) 20.7% A 17% - 19% Baa

c) CFO pre- / Debt  (3 Year Avg) 20.7% A 10% - 12% Baa

d) Debt / Capitalization  (3 Year Avg) 33.3% Aa 36% - 38% Aa

Rating:

Grid-Indicated Rating Before Notching Adjustment A2 A3

HoldCo Structural Subordination Notching 0 0

a) Indicated Rating from Grid A2 A3

b) Actual Rating Assigned A3

Current 

FY 3/31/2017

Moody's 12-18 Month Forward 

View

As of 4/27/2018 [3]

t 2yy gdbhl@ dga id@ap lf A2p'c@bapA uhfdfshdy pdbd dfp hfslgUlgdba jllp.A@ Mylidy Gbdfpdgp 2p'c@brafb@ ulg Slf Nhfdfshdy FlgUlgdbhlf@m

n 2@ lu 8w,wt,n8t6

w Cxh@ gaUga@afb@ jllp.A@ ulg/dgp 0ha/v flb bxa 0ha/ lu bxa h@@cagv dfp cfya@@ flbap hf bxa baEbT pla@ flb hfslgUlgdba @hefhuhsdfb ds;ch@hbhlf@ dfp ph0a@bhbcga@m

-Source :SSMdG' DhilirhlP :cauhr'F
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Roosgpc;

-Exhihb q

1NNw�udGxrwbcdi�mrDyN

USD Millions FY15 FY16 FY17 FY15 FY16 FY17 FY15 FY16 FY17 FY15 FY16 FY17

Revenue 1,500.0 1,306.2 1,263.4 1,302.0 1,277.0 1,300.0 2,129.0 2,186.0 2,158.0 1,853.0 1,833.0 1,827.0

CFO Pre - W/C 125.4 275.0 317.3 325.4 288.7 328.6 494.0 501.9 430.6 379.5 422.2 478.4

Interest Expense 52.5 48.6 51.9 56.5 55.1 58.1 130.1 142.2 137.4 153.1 145.2 117.8

Gross Debt 1,214.1 1,139.5 1,118.8 1,579.8 1,467.4 1,631.1 2,623.4 2,539.8 2,680.6 2,756.0 2,481.0 2,121.0

Net Debt 1,194.8 1,125.1 1,111.0 1,574.8 1,421.4 1,629.1 2,618.4 2,530.8 2,675.6 2,756.0 2,481.0 2,121.0

Book capitalization 3,398.0 3,459.8 3,556.0 3,753.8 3,841.4 3,557.1 6,552.4 6,707.8 6,234.6 6,279.0 6,382.0 5,867.0

(CFO Pre-W/C + Interest) / Interest 3.4x 6.7x 7.1x 6.8x 6.2x 6.7x 4.8x 4.5x 4.1x 3.5x 3.9x 5.1x

(CFO Pre-W/C) / Debt 10.3% 24.1% 28.4% 20.6% 19.7% 20.1% 18.8% 19.8% 16.1% 13.8% 17.0% 22.6%

(CFO Pre - W/C - Dividends) / Debt 10.3% 24.1% 28.4% 14.8% 16.0% 13.3% 13.3% 14.4% 11.1% 13.8% 17.0% 22.6%

Debt / Book Capitalization 35.7% 32.9% 31.5% 42.1% 38.2% 45.9% 40.0% 37.9% 43.0% 43.9% 38.9% 36.2%

Jersey Central Power & Light 

Company

Baa2A3 Baa1Baa1

Narragansett Electric Company Delmarva Power & Light Company Potomac Electric Power Company

-Source :SSMdG' DhilirhlP :cauhr'Fm OPP ghnouc' luc rlProPlacM o'hin :SSMdG' c'ahplac' liM 'aliMluM lM’o'apcia'm

-Exhihb t8

WNDa�Vp9ocaGNia�jwNrBpdei

(in US Millions)
FYE

Mar-12

FYE

Mar-13

FYE

Mar-14

FYE

Mar-15

FYE

Mar-16

FYE

Mar-17

As Reported Debt 798.2 906.6 848.6 1,084.7 1,039.7 969.0

Pensions 91.1 138.8 123.0 128.2 94.2 144.4

Hybrid Securities 1.2 1.2 1.2 1.2 1.2 1.2

Non-Standard Adjustments 0.0 0.0 253.0 0.0 4.4 4.1

Moody's-Adjusted Debt 890.6 1,046.7 1,225.8 1,214.1 1,139.5 1,118.8

-Source :SSMdG' DhilirhlP :cauhr'Fm OPP ghnouc' luc rlProPlacM o'hin :SSMdG' c'ahplac' liM 'aliMluM lM’o'apcia'm
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FmecgGn

-Exhihb tt

UmesGiar KiiprYn FmecgG
IRFFRJRI-CAA C,CUAFyU UPKDRIM

9cbyllO Gbdiya

k@@cag Idbhfe 2w

Gafhlg Gascgap jCS R(P2t

Gafhlg 1f@ascgap 2w

(gaum GblsO )ddn

T,A DRFCIA8 IRAyPIR, JFyE D,U

9cbyllO Gbdiya

k@@cag Idbhfe )ddt

Gafhlg 1f@ascgap )ddt

Flrragshdy (dUag ( n

9bxag Gxlgb Cagr R(P( n

DRFCIA8 IRAyPIR, JFyE T-R

9cbyllO Gbdiya

k@@cag Idbhfe )ddt

Gafhlg 1f@ascgap jCS R(P)ddt

Flrragshdy (dUag ( n

-Source :SSMdy' jiIc'aSu' -cuIhrc
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Cgpgiesn
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B n8t7 jllp.©@ FlgUlgdbhlfT jllp.©@ kf0a@blg@ Gag0hsaT kfsmT jllp.©@ 2fdy.bhs@T kfsm dfp,lg bxahg yhsaf@lg@ dfp duuhyhdba@ Rslyyasbh0ay.T ’j99“D©GYPm 2yy ghexb@ ga@ag0apm
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The Narragansett Electric Company  
d/b/a National Grid 

Division Docket No. D-19-17 
In Re: 2019 Application for Issuance of Long-Term Debt  

Responses to the Division’s First Set of Data Requests 
Issued on July 23, 2019 

   
 

Prepared by or under the supervision of:  Jonathan Cohen 

Division 1-2 
 

Request: 
 
Please provide a five-year history 2014-2019 of Narragansett’s credit ratings (including 
corporate ratings, secured debt, unsecured debt, and commercial paper). 
 
Response: 
 
Please see below table for Narragansett’s credit ratings history from 2014-2019.  
  

Years Moody’s1 
Standard & 

Poor’s1 

2014 A3 / A3 / A1 A- / A- / A 

2015 A3 / A3 / A1 A- / A- / A 

2016 A3 / A3 / A1 A- / A- / A 

2017 A3 / A3 / A1 A- / A- / A 

2018 A3 / A3 / A1 A- / A- / A 

2019 A3 / A3 / A1 A- / A- / A 

1 Issuer Rating / Unsecured debt / Secured debt 
 



The Narragansett Electric Company  
d/b/a National Grid 

Division Docket No. D-19-17 
In Re: 2019 Application for Issuance of Long-Term Debt  

Responses to the Division’s First Set of Data Requests 
Issued on July 23, 2019 

   
 

Prepared by or under the supervision of:  Jonathan Cohen 

Division 1-3 
 

Request: 
 
Please provide the most recent Narragansett presentation to credit rating agencies. 
 
Response: 
 
Please see Attachment DIV 1-3 for the most recent presentation provided to the credit rating 
agencies. 
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The Narragansett Electric Company  
d/b/a National Grid 

Division Docket No. D-19-17 
In Re: 2019 Application for Issuance of Long-Term Debt  

Responses to the Division’s First Set of Data Requests 
Issued on July 23, 2019 

   
 

Prepared by or under the supervision of:  Jonathan Cohen 

Division 1-4 
 

Request: 
 
Please update Exhibit C of the Application to June 30, 2019 when available. 
 
Response: 
 
Please see Attachment DIV 1-4 for the updated balance sheet for The Narragansett Electric 
Company as of March 31, 2019.  The June 2019 balance sheet will be provided once it becomes 
available.  
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The Narragansett Electric Company  
d/b/a National Grid 

Division Docket No. D-19-17 
In Re: 2019 Application for Issuance of Long-Term Debt  

Responses to the Division’s First Set of Data Requests 
Issued on July 23, 2019 

   
 

Prepared by or under the supervision of:  Jonathan Cohen 

Division 1-5 
 

Request: 
 
Please provide a copy of Narragansett’s most recent fiscal year annual report and financial 
statements. 
 
Response: 
 
Please see Attachment DIV 1-5 for the most recent fiscal year annual report and financial 
statements for The Narragansett Electric Company. 
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2 The Narragansett Electric Company March 31, 2019
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

4 The Narragansett Electric Company March 31, 2019

THE NARRAGANSETT ELECTRIC COMPANY
STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(in thousands of dollars)

Years Ended March 31,
2019 2018 2017

Operating revenues $ 1,556,597 $ 1,445,025 $ 1,263,354

Operating expenses:
Purchased electricity 439,140 359,726 302,210
Purchased gas 173,829 180,576 132,919
Operations and maintenance 507,911 474,341 418,499
Depreciation 111,095 105,686 103,923
Other taxes 135,020 132,057 120,461
Total operating expenses 1,366,995 1,252,386 1,078,012

Operating income 189,602 192,639 185,342

Other income and (deductions):
Interest on long-term debt (51,573) (43,247) (43,758)
Other interest, including affi l iate interest (4,060) (3,619) (3,199)
Loss on sale of assets - - (2,468)
Other income (deductions), net 468 (213) 749
Total other deductions, net (55,165) (47,079) (48,676)

Income before income taxes 134,437 145,560 136,666

Income tax expense 24,001 22,249 48,524

Net income 110,436$ 123,311$ 88,142$

The Narragansett Electric Company 
d/b/a National Grid

Division Docket No. D-19-17
Attachment DIV 1-5

Page 4 of 42



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

The Narragansett Electric Company March 31, 2019 5

THE NARRAGANSETT ELECTRIC COMPANY
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(in thousands of dollars)

Year Ended March 31,
2017*

Net income $ 88,142

Other comprehensive income‚ net of taxes:
Unrealized gains on securities 110
Change in pension and other postretirement obligations (4)
Unrealized gains on hedges 471

Total other comprehensive income 577

Comprehensive income 88,719$

Related tax (expense) benefit:
Unrealized gains on securities $ (60)
Change in pension and other postretirement obligations 2
Unrealized gains on hedges (254)

Total tax expense (312)$

*2018 and 2019 not presented due to immaterial nature of statement.

The Narragansett Electric Company 
d/b/a National Grid
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

6 The Narragansett Electric Company March 31, 2019

THE NARRAGANSETT ELECTRIC COMPANY
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands of dollars)

Years Ended March 31,
2019 2018 2017

Operating activities:
Net income $ 110,436 $ 123,311 $ 88,142
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 111,095 105,686 103,923
Regulatory amortizations (1,580) 235 714
Deferred income tax 36,399 41,290 27,470
Bad debt expense 23,856 19,136 14,105
Amortization of debt discount and issuance costs 412 293 293
Pension and postretirement benefit expenses (3,203) 19,031 20,727
Pension and postretirement benefit contributions, net (12,294) (38,935) (16,841)
Environmental remediation payments (1,847) (2,946) (4,889)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable‚ net‚ and unbilled revenues (35,717) (66,457) (35,989)
Accounts receivable from/payable to affiliates 42,975 - -
Inventory (4,406) (1,604) 4,330
Regulatory assets and liabilities, net 66,431 (64,143) 97,822
Derivative instruments (3,511) 7,364 (23,469)
Prepaid and accrued taxes 14,707 5,094 5,418
Accounts payable and other liabilities 30,294 73,334 19,284
Other, net (15,375) (30,543) (1,827)

Net cash provided by operating activities 358,672 190,146 299,213

Investing activities:
Capital expenditures (305,013) (269,344) (295,621)
Proceeds from restricted cash and special deposits - 7,834 58,044
Payments on restricted cash and special deposits - (7,357) (43,887)
Cost of removal (26,652) (21,033) (17,883)
Other (480) (517) 1,250

Net cash used in investing activities (332,145) (290,417) (298,097)

Financing activities:
Common stock dividends to Parent (85,250) - -
Preferred stock dividends (110) (110) (110)
Payments on long-term debt (15,839) (1,375) (1,375)
Issuance of long-term debt 350,000 - -
Payment of debt issuance costs (1,893) - -
Intercompany money pool (271,647) 100,339 (6,238)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (24,739) 98,854 (7,723)

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restriced cash 1,788 (1,417) (6,607)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of year 6,865 7,803 14,410
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of year 8,653$ 6,386$ 7,803$

Supplemental disclosures:
Interest paid (50,639)$ (44,492)$ (42,574)$
Income taxes refunded (paid) 15,746 (2,624) 63

Significant non-cash items:
Capital-related accruals included in accounts payable 12,625 18,987 15,775
Parent tax loss allocation - 3,047 -

The Narragansett Electric Company 
d/b/a National Grid
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

The Narragansett Electric Company March 31, 2019 7

THE NARRAGANSETT ELECTRIC COMPANY
BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands of dollars)

2019 2018

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,269 $ 6,386
Restricted cash 384 479
Accounts receivable 266,065 251,985
Allowance for doubtful accounts (28,492) (25,617)
Accounts receivable from affiliates 20,079 22,221
Unbil led revenues 66,806 66,150
Inventory 25,061 23,390
Regulatory assets 62,584 87,297
Accrued tax benefit 5,342 13,246
Other 7,948 4,093

Total current assets 434,046 449,630

Property, plant and equipment, net 3,214,681 2,984,346

Other non-current assets:
Regulatory assets 457,320 492,361
Goodwill 724,810 724,810
Other 43,841 37,176

Total other non-current assets 1,225,971 1,254,347

Total assets 4,874,698$ 4,688,323$

March 31,

The Narragansett Electric Company 
d/b/a National Grid
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

8 The Narragansett Electric Company March 31, 2019

THE NARRAGANSETT ELECTRIC COMPANY
BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands of dollars)

2019 2018

LIABILITIES AND CAPITALIZATION

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 155,981 $ 170,458
Accounts payable to affil iates 52,144 14,430
Current portion of long-term debt 251,375 15,839
Taxes accrued 35,889 34,534
Customer deposits 11,924 10,627
Interest accrued 7,824 5,417
Regulatory liabil ities 130,335 109,484
Intercompany money pool 56,547 307,520
Renewable energy certificate obligations 4,898 5,746
Other 47,580 31,611

Total current liabil ities 754,497 705,666

Other non-current liabilities:
Regulatory liabil ities 561,558 553,343
Asset retirement obligations 9,629 9,472
Deferred income tax liabi lities, net 359,119 324,161
Postretirement benefits 72,893 83,234
Environmental remediation costs 117,441 137,677
Other 20,433 17,423

Total other non-current l iabil ities 1,141,073 1,125,310

Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)

Capitalization:
Shareholders' equity 2,055,538 2,030,903
Long-term debt 923,590 826,444

Total capitalization 2,979,128 2,857,347

Total liabilities and capitalization 4,874,698$ 4,688,323$

March 31,

The Narragansett Electric Company 
d/b/a National Grid
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

The Narragansett Electric Company March 31, 2019 9

THE NARRAGANSETT ELECTRIC COMPANY
STATEMENTS OF CAPITALIZATION

(in thousands of dollars)

2019 2018

Total shareholders' equity $ 2,055,538 $ 2,030,903

Long-term debt: Interest Rate Maturity Date

Unsecured notes:
Senior Note 4.53% March 15, 2020 250,000 250,000
Senior Note 5.64% March 15, 2040 300,000 300,000
Senior Note 4.17% December 10, 2042 250,000 250,000
Senior Note 3.92% August 1, 2028 350,000 -

1,150,000 800,000

First Mortgage Bonds ("FMB"):
FMB Series S 6.82% Apri l 1, 2018 - 14,464
FMB Series N 9.63% May 30, 2020 10,000 10,000
FMB Series O 8.46% September 30, 2022 12,500 12,500
FMB Series P 8.09% September 30, 2022 2,500 3,125
FMB Series R 7.50% December 15, 2025 5,250 6,000

30,250 46,089

Total debt 1,180,250 846,089
Unamortized debt discount (1,859) (2,076)
Unamortized debt issuance costs (3,426) (1,730)
Total debt less unamortized costs 1,174,965 842,283

Current portion of long-term debt 251,375 15,839
Total long-term debt 923,590 826,444

Total capitalization 2,979,128$ 2,857,347$

March 31,

The Narragansett Electric Company 
d/b/a National Grid
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THE NARRAGANSETT ELECTRIC COMPANY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The Narragansett Electric Company (“the Company”) is a retail distribution company providing electric service to
approximately 506,000 customers and gas service to approximately 273,000 customers in 38 cities and towns in Rhode Island.
The Company’s service area covers substantially all of Rhode Island.

The Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of National Grid USA (“NGUSA” or the “Parent”), a public utility holding company
with regulated subsidiaries engaged in the generation of electricity and the transmission, distribution, and sale of both natural
gas and electricity. NGUSA is a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of National Grid North America Inc. (“NGNA”) and an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of National Grid plc, a public limited company incorporated under the laws of England and Wales.

The accompanying financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”), including the accounting principles for rate-regulated entities. The financial
statements reflect the ratemaking practices of the applicable regulatory authorities.

The Company has evaluated subsequent events and transactions through July 12, 2019, the date of issuance of these financial
statements, and concluded that there were no events or transactions that require adjustment to, or disclosure in, the financial
statements as of and for the year ended March 31, 2019.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Use of Estimates

In preparing financial statements that conform to U.S. GAAP, the Company must make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
included in the financial statements. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Regulatory Accounting

The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”), the Rhode Island Public Utilities Commission (“RIPUC”), and the Rhode
Island Division of Public Utilities and Carriers (“Division”) regulate the rates the Company charges its customers. In certain
cases, the rate actions of the FERC, RIPUC and Division can result in accounting that differs from non-regulated companies.
In these cases, the Company defers costs (as regulatory assets) or recognizes obligations (as regulatory liabilities) if it is
probable that such amounts will be recovered from, or refunded to, customers through future rates. In accordance with
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 980, “Regulated Operations,” regulatory assets and liabilities are reflected on the
balance sheet consistent with the treatment of the related costs in the ratemaking process.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized for energy service provided on a monthly billing cycle basis. The Company records unbilled revenues
for the estimated amount of services rendered from the time meters were last read to the end of the accounting period (See
Note 3, “Revenue” for additional details).

Other Taxes

The Company collects taxes and fees from customers such as sales taxes, other taxes, surcharges, and fees that are levied by
state or local governments on the sale or distribution of gas and electricity. The Company accounts for taxes that are imposed
on customers (such as sales taxes) on a net basis (excluded from revenues).
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12 The Narragansett Electric Company March 31, 2019

The Company’s policy is to accrue for property taxes on a calendar year basis, taking into account the assessment period. The
Company had accrued for property taxes of $18.3 million and $18.0 million at March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Income Taxes

Federal income taxes have been computed utilizing the asset and liability approach that requires the recognition of deferred
tax assets and liabilities for the tax consequences of temporary differences by applying enacted statutory tax rates applicable
to future years to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of existing assets and
liabilities. Deferred income taxes also reflect the tax effect of net operating losses, capital losses, and general business credit
carryforwards. The Company assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate whether sufficient future
taxable income of the appropriate tax character will be generated to realize the benefits of existing deferred tax assets. When
the evaluation of the evidence indicates that the Company will not be able to realize the benefits of existing deferred tax
assets, a valuation allowance is recorded to reduce existing deferred tax assets to the net realizable amount.

The effects of tax positions are recognized in the financial statements when it is more likely than not that the position taken,
or expected to be taken, in a tax return will be sustained upon examination by taxing authorities based on the technical merits
of the position. The financial effect of changes in tax laws or rates is accounted for in the period of enactment. Deferred
investment tax credits are amortized over the useful life of the underlying property.

NGNA files consolidated federal tax returns including all of the activities of its subsidiaries. Each subsidiary determines its tax
provision based on the separate return method, modified by a benefits-for-loss allocation pursuant to a tax sharing
agreement between NGNA and its subsidiaries. The benefits of consolidated tax losses and credits are allocated to the NGNA
subsidiaries giving rise to such benefits in determining each subsidiary’s tax expense in the year that the loss or credit arises.
In a year that a consolidated loss or credit carryforward is utilized, the tax benefit utilized in consolidation is paid
proportionately to the subsidiaries that gave rise to the benefit regardless of whether those subsidiaries would have utilized
the benefit. The tax sharing agreement also requires NGNA to allocate its parent tax losses, excluding deductions from
acquisition indebtedness, to each subsidiary in the consolidated federal tax return with taxable income. The allocation of
NGNA’s parent tax losses to its subsidiaries is accounted for as a capital contribution and is performed in conjunction with
the annual intercompany cash settlement process following the filing of the federal tax return.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents consist of short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. Cash and
cash equivalents are carried at cost, which approximates fair value.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash consists of collateral paid to the Company’s counterparties for outstanding derivative instruments. The Company
had restricted cash of $0.4 million and $0.5 million at March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The following table reconciles cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, as reported on the balance sheet, to the cash, cash
equivalents and restricted cash, as reported on the statements of cash flows:

Year ended March 31, 2019

(in thousands of dollars)

8,269$
384

8,653$

Cash and Cash Equivalents as reported on the Balance Sheets

Restricted Cash as reported on the Balance Sheets

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash reported on the Statements of Cash Flows
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Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company recognizes an allowance for doubtful accounts to record accounts receivable at estimated net realizable value.
The allowance is determined based on a variety of factors including, for each type of receivable, applying an estimated reserve
percentage to each aging category, taking into account historical collection and write-off experience, and management's
assessment of collectability from individual customers, as appropriate. The collectability of receivables is continuously
assessed and, if circumstances change, the allowance is adjusted accordingly. Receivable balances are written off against the
allowance for doubtful accounts when the accounts are disconnected and/or terminated and the balances are deemed to be
uncollectible. The Company recorded bad debt expense of $23.9 million, $19.1 million, and $14.1 million for the years ended
March 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively, within operations and maintenance in the statements of income.

Inventory

Inventory is comprised of materials and supplies, purchased Renewable Energy Certificates (“RECs”), and gas in storage.
Materials and supplies are stated at weighted average cost, which represents net realizable value, and are expensed or
capitalized as used. Purchased RECs are stated at cost. There were no significant write-offs of obsolete inventory for the years
ended March 31, 2019, 2018, or 2017.

Gas in storage is stated at weighted average cost and the related cost is recognized when delivered to customers. Existing
rate orders allow the Company to pass directly through to customers the cost of gas purchased, along with any applicable
authorized delivery surcharge adjustments. Gas costs passed through to customers are subject to regulatory approvals and
are reported periodically to the RIPUC.

The Company had materials and supplies of $13.5 million and $11.8 million, purchased RECs of $2.4 million and $5.1 million,
and gas in storage of $9.2 million and $6.5 million at March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Renewable Energy Standard Obligation

RECs are stated at cost and are used to measure compliance with State renewable energy standards. RECs support new
renewable generation standards and are held primarily to be utilized in fulfilment of the Company’s compliance obligations.
At March 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company recorded a renewable energy standard obligation of $4.9 million and $5.7 million,
respectively, within renewable energy certificate obligations.

Derivative Instruments

The Company uses derivative instruments to manage commodity price risk. All derivative instruments, except those that
qualify for the normal purchase normal sale exception, are recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. All commodity costs,
including the impact of derivative instruments, are passed on to customers through the Company’s commodity rate
adjustment mechanisms. Regulatory assets or regulatory liabilities are recorded to defer the recognition of unrealized losses
or gains on derivative instruments, respectively. The gains or losses on the settlement of these contracts are recognized as
purchased electricity and purchased gas on the statements of income and then refunded to, or collected from, customers
consistent with regulatory requirements.

The Company has certain non-trading instruments for the physical purchase of electricity that qualify for the normal purchase
normal sale exception and are accounted for upon settlement. If the Company were to determine that a contract no longer
qualifies for the normal purchase normal sale exception, then the Company would recognize the fair value of the contract
and account for the gains and losses using the regulatory accounting described above.

The Company’s accounting policy is to not offset fair value amounts recognized for derivative instruments and related cash
collateral receivable or payable with the same counterparty under a master netting agreement, but rather to record and
present the fair value of the derivative instrument on a gross basis, with related cash collateral recorded within restricted
cash on the balance sheet.
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14 The Narragansett Electric Company March 31, 2019

Power Purchase Agreements

The Company enters into power purchase agreements to procure electricity to serve its customers. The Company evaluates
whether such agreements are leases, derivative instruments, or executory contracts, and performs an assessment under the
guidance for Variable Interest Entities (“VIE”), included in Topic 810, “Consolidations.” Power purchase agreements that do
not qualify as leases or derivative instruments are accounted for as executory contracts and are, therefore, recognized as the
electricity is purchased. In making its determination of the accounting for power purchase agreements, the Company
considersmany factors, including: the source of the electricity; the level of output fromany specified facility that the Company
is taking under the contract; the involvement, if any, that the Company has in operating the specified facility; and the pricing
mechanisms in the contract.

Natural Gas Long-Term Arrangements

The Company enters into long-term gas contracts to procure gas to serve its customers. Those contracts include Asset
Management Agreements, Baseload, and Peaking gas contracts. Similar to the power purchase agreements noted above, the
Company evaluates whether such agreements are leases, derivative instruments, or executory contracts, and performs an
assessment under the guidance for VIE included in Topic 810, “Consolidations,” and applies the appropriate accounting
treatment.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company measures derivative instruments, available-for-sale securities, and pension and postretirement benefits other
than pension plan assets at fair value. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The following is the fair value hierarchy that
prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

- Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that a company has the ability
to access as of the reporting date;

- Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are directly observable for the asset or liability
or indirectly observable through corroboration with observable market data;

- Level 3: unobservable inputs, such as internally-developed forward curves and pricingmodels for the asset or liability
due to little or no market activity for the asset or liability with low correlation to observable market inputs; and

- Not categorized: certain investments are not categorized within the fair value hierarchy. These investments are
typically in commingled funds or limited partnerships that are not publicly traded and have ongoing subscription and
redemption activity. As a practical expedient, the fair value of these investments is the Net Asset Value (“NAV”) per
fund share, derived from the underlying securities’ quoted prices in active markets.

The asset or liability’s fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input
that is significant to the fair valuemeasurement. The Company uses valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable
inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.

Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at original cost. The cost of repairs and maintenance is charged to expense and the
cost of renewals and betterments that extend the useful life of property, plant and equipment is capitalized. The capitalized
cost of additions to property, plant and equipment includes costs such as direct material, labor and benefits, and an allowance
for funds used during construction (“AFUDC”).
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Depreciation is computed over the estimated useful life of the asset using the composite straight-line method. Depreciation
studies are conducted periodically to update the composite rates and are approved by the FERC and RIPUC. The average
composite rates for the years ended March 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 are as follows:

2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
Composite rates 3.0% 2.9% 2.9% 3.4% 3.4% 3.2%

Years Ended March 31,
Electric Gas

Years Ended March 31,

Depreciation expense includes a component for the estimated cost of removal, which is recovered through rates charged to
customers. Any difference in cumulative costs recovered and costs incurred is recognized as a regulatory liability. When
property, plant and equipment is retired, the original cost, less salvage, is charged to accumulated depreciation, and the
related cost of removal is removed from the associated regulatory liability. The Company recognized a regulatory liability for
the amount that was in excess of costs incurred of $221.9million and $217.0million atMarch 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Allowance for Funds Used During Construction

The Company records AFUDC, which represents the debt and equity costs of financing the construction of new property,
plant and equipment. The equity component of AFUDC is reported in the accompanying statements of income as non-cash
income in other income (deductions), net. The debt component of AFUDC is reported as a non-cash offset to other interest,
including affiliate interest. After construction is completed, the Company is permitted to recover these costs through their
inclusion in rates. The Company recorded AFUDC related to equity of $4.3 million, $0.1 million, and $(0.1) million reflecting
adjustments to plant balances for the years ended March 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017. The Company recorded AFUDC related
to debt was $2.5 million, $1.4 million, and $1.0 million for the years ended March 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. The
average AFUDC rates for the years ended March 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 were 5.7%, 1.7%, and 1.1%, respectively.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company tests the impairment of long-lived assets when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of the asset may not be recoverable. The recoverability of an asset is determined by comparing its carrying value to
the estimated undiscounted cash flows that the asset is expected to generate. If the comparison indicates that the carrying
value is not recoverable, an impairment loss is recognized for the excess of the carrying value over the estimated fair value.
For the years endedMarch 31, 2019 and 2018, there were no impairment losses recognized for long-lived assets. For the year
ended March 31, 2017, there was $2.5 million of impairment losses recognized for long-lived assets.

Goodwill

The Company tests goodwill for impairment annually on January 1, and when events occur or circumstances change that
would more likely than not reduce the fair value of the Company below its carrying amount. The Company has early adopted
Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2017-04, “Intangibles—Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for
Goodwill Impairment,” which eliminates step two from the two-step goodwill impairment test required under the current
standard. The one-step approach requires a recoverability test performed based on the comparison of the Company’s
estimated fair value with its carrying value, including goodwill. If the estimated fair value exceeds the carrying value, then
goodwill is not considered impaired. If the carrying value exceeds the estimated fair value, the Company is required to
recognize an impairment charge for such excess, limited to the carrying amount of goodwill.

Historically, the fair value of the Company was calculated for the annual goodwill impairment test utilizing both the income
and market-based approaches. For the year ended March 31, 2019, the fair value of the Company was calculated utilizing
only the income approach. The Company believes that this approach provides the most reliable information about the
Company’s estimated fair value. Based on the resulting fair value from the annual analyses, the Company determined that
no adjustment to the goodwill carrying value was required at March 31, 2019 or 2018.

The Narragansett Electric Company 
d/b/a National Grid

Division Docket No. D-19-17
Attachment DIV 1-5

Page 15 of 42



16 The Narragansett Electric Company March 31, 2019

Asset Retirement Obligations

Asset retirement obligations are recognized for legal obligations associated with the retirement of property, plant and
equipment primarily associated with the Company’s distribution facilities. Asset retirement obligations are recorded at fair
value in the period in which the obligation is incurred, if the fair value can be reasonably estimated. In the period in which
new asset retirement obligations, or changes to the timing or amount of existing retirement obligations are recorded, the
associated asset retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. In each
subsequent period the asset retirement obligation is accreted to its present value. The Company applies regulatory
accounting guidance and both the depreciation and accretion costs associated with asset retirement obligations are recorded
as increases to regulatory assets on the balance sheets. These regulatory assets represent timing differences between the
recognition of costs in accordance with U.S. GAAP and costs recovered through the ratemaking process.

The following table represents the changes in the Company’s asset retirement obligations:

Years Ended March 31,
2019 2018

Balance as of the beginning of the year 9,909$ 10,150$
Accretion expense 381 385
Liabil ities settled (268) (626)

Balance as of the end of the year 10,022$ 9,909$

(in thousands of dollars)

The Company had a current portion of asset retirement obligations of $0.4 million included in other current liabilities on the
balance sheets at March 31, 2019 and 2018.

Employee Benefits

The Company participates with other NGUSA subsidiaries in defined benefit pension plans and postretirement benefit other
than pension (“PBOP”) plans for its employees, administered by NGUSA. The Company recognizes its portion of the pension
and PBOP plans’ funded status on the balance sheet as a net liability or asset. The cost of providing these plans is recovered
through rates; therefore, the net funded status is offset by a regulatory asset or liability. The pension and PBOP plans’ assets
are commingled and allocated to measure and record pension and PBOP funded status at the year-end date. Pension and
PBOP plan assets are measured at fair value, using the year-end market value of those assets.

New and Recent Accounting Guidance

Accounting Guidance Adopted

Pension and Postretirement Benefits

In March 2017, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU No. 2017-07, “Compensation-Retirement
Benefits (Topic 715): Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost,”
which changes certain presentation and disclosure requirements for employers that sponsor defined benefit pension and
other postretirement benefit plans. The ASU requires the service cost component of the net benefit cost to be classified
within the same line item as other compensation in operating income in an entity’s statements of income and the other
components of net benefit cost to be classified outside of operating income on a retrospective basis. In addition, as prescribed
by the ASU, only the service cost component will be eligible for capitalization when applicable, on a prospective basis.

The Company adopted this new guidance on April 1, 2018. Although required by the standard, the Company elected not to
retrospectively adjust the accompanying 2018 and 2017 financial statements as management determined that such
retrospective application, is not material to the Company’s statements of income for the years ended March 31, 2018 and
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2017 presented herein. The adoption of this ASU did not have a material effect on the Company’s results of operations, cash
flows, and financial position.

Statement of Cash Flows

In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-18, "Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash," which requires
entities to show the changes in the total of cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, and restricted cash equivalents in the
statement of cash flows. The Company has adopted the new guidance in the current fiscal year. The application of the new
guidance did not have a material impact on the Company’s presentation of its statements of cash flows in the current
year. Although required by the standard, the Company elected not to retrospectively adjust the accompanying 2018 and 2017
financial statements as management determined that such retrospective application, is not material to the Company’s
statements of cash flows for the years ended March 31, 2018 and 2017 presented herein.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, "Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain Cash
Receipts and Cash Payments," which provides guidance about the classification of certain cash receipts and payments within
the statement of cash flows, including debt prepayment or extinguishment costs, contingent consideration payments made
after a business combination, proceeds from the settlement of insurance claims and policies, and distributions received from
equity method investments. The Company adopted the new guidance in the current fiscal year and applied it retrospectively
for each prior period presented. The application of the new guidance did not have a material impact on the Company’s
presentation of its statements of cash flows.

Revenue Recognition

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606).” The FASB further
amended ASC 606 through various updates issued thereafter. The underlying principle of this ASU is that an entity will
recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration the entity expects to be entitled to, in exchange for those goods or services. The Company adopted the new
guidance on April 1, 2018, using the modified retrospective method applied to contracts that were not completed as of April
1, 2018, and the Company did not recognize an adjustment to retained earnings for the cumulative effect of adopting the
standard.

The adoption of ASC 606 did not have a material impact on the presentation of the Company’s results of operations, cash
flows, or financial position. The Company has added additional disclosures as required under ASC 606 (See Note 3, “Revenue,”
for additional details).

Financial Instruments – Classification and Measurement

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-01, “Financial Instruments–Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and
Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.” The new guidance eliminates the available-for-sale and cost
method classification for equity securities and requires that all equity investments, other than those accounted for using the
equity method of accounting, be measured and recorded at fair value with any changes in fair value recognized through net
income. However, for equity investments that do not have a readily determinable fair value an entity may choose to measure
equity investments at cost minus impairment, if any, plus or minus changes resulting from observable price changes in orderly
transactions for identical or similar investments. If any entity elects to use the measurement alternative for equity
investments without readily determinable fair values, those investments must be qualitatively assessed for impairment at
each reporting period and, if impairment exists, the investment is required to be measured at fair value. The guidance does
not impact the classification ormeasurement of investments in debt securities. The guidance also amended certain disclosure
requirements related to financial instruments. The Company adopted the guidance on April 1, 2018 using a modified
retrospective transition approach, with a cumulative effect adjustment to retained earnings, which was reclassified from
accumulated other comprehensive income for $0.9 million related to equity investments that were previously classified as
available-for-sale.
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Accounting Guidance Not Yet Adopted

Leases

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases,” (Topic 842) related to lease accounting. For the Company, the new
standard is effective for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2020, and interim periods within. Under the new standard, a lease
is defined as a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to control the use of identified assets for a period of time
in exchange for consideration. Under the requirements of the new standard, lessees will need to recognize leases on the
balance sheet as a right-of-use asset and a related lease liability, which will be equal to the present value of the estimated
future lease payments. The right-of-use asset at inception will be based on the liability, subject to certain adjustments, such
as initial direct costs. The new standard requires leases to be classified as either operating or financing which will impact the
amount and classification of lease related expenses on the statements of income. Under the new standard, lessor accounting
is largely unchanged. The new standard also has additional disclosure requirements.

The new standard provides the Company with transition practical expedients including a package of three expedients that
must be taken together and allows the Company to: not reassess whether existing contracts contain leases, carry forward
the existing classification of any leases, and not reassess initial direct costs associated with existing leases. The Company has
exercised its option to elect the package of practical expedients. The Company will make the election under the new standard
to not reflect a right-of-use asset or related liability for leases with a term of 12 months or less. The Company has also elected
the practical expedient to not reevaluate land easements existing at adoption if they were not previously accounted for as
leases. The Company will not make the election to combine the lease components and the associated non-lease components
of an arrangement and account for this as a single lease component and will also not elect the expedient to use hindsight in
determining the lease term for existing leases at the time of adoption.

The Company will recognize and measure the cumulative effect of the new standard at the beginning of the earliest period
presented using the modified retrospective approach. The Company determined the impact the ASU will have on its financial
statements by reviewing its lease population and identifying lease data needed for the disclosure requirements. The Company
has various operating leases, primarily related to fleet vehicles. The Company will implement a new lease accounting system
in fiscal year 2020 to ensure ongoing compliance with the ASU’s requirements. The Company recognized approximately $25.1
million of operating lease liabilities as right-of-use assets on the balance sheets upon transition at April 1, 2019. The
implementation of the new guidance will not materially impact the Company’s results of operations or cash flows, as the
Company does not expect significant changes to its pattern of expense recognition as a result of the new standard. The
Company’s operating leases are further discussed in Note 11, “Commitments and Contingencies.”

Financial Instruments

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, “Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit
Losses on Financial Statements,” which requires a financial asset (or a group of financial assets) measured at amortized cost
basis to be presented at the net amount expected to be collected. The FASB further amended Topic 326 through additional
updates issued thereafter. The allowance for credit losses is a valuation account that is deducted from the amortized cost
basis of the financial asset(s) to present the net carrying value at the amount expected to be collected on the financial asset.
Credit losses relating to available-for-sale debt securities should be recorded through an allowance for credit losses. For the
Company, the requirements of the new standard will be effective for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2022, and interim
periods within, with early adoption permitted from the fiscal year ending March 31, 2020 and interim periods within. The
Company is currently assessing the impact of this standard.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior years’ financial statements to conform the prior years’ data to the
current year’s presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on reported income, total assets, or shareholders’ equity as
previously reported.
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3. REVENUE

The following table presents, for the year ending March 31, 2019, revenue from contracts with customers, as well as
additional revenue from sources other than contracts with customers, disaggregated by major source:

Year ended March 31, 2019
(in thousands of dollars)

Revenue from Contracts with Customers:
Electric Transmission $ 211,544
Electric Distribution 919,074
Gas Distribution 466,336
Other Revenue from Contracts with Customers 16,457

Total Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1,613,411
Revenue from Regulatory Mechanisms (56,814)

Total Operating Revenues $ 1,556,597

Electric and Gas Distribution: The Company owns, maintains and operates an electric and natural gas distribution network in
Rhode Island. Distribution revenues are primarily from the sale of electricity, gas, and related services to retail customers.
Distribution sales are regulated by the RIPUC, which is responsible for determining the prices and other terms of services as
part of the ratemaking process. The arrangement where a utility provides a service to a customer in exchange for a price
approved by a regulator is referred to as a tariff sales contract. Gas and electric distribution revenues are derived from the
regulated sale and distribution of electricity and natural gas to residential, commercial, and industrial customers within the
Company’s service territory under the tariff rates. The tariff rates approved by the regulator are designed to recover the costs
incurred by the Company for the products and services provided, along with a return on investment.

The performance obligation related to distribution sales is to provide electricity and natural gas to the customers on demand.
The electricity and natural gas supplied under the tariff represents a single performance obligation as it is a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same. The performance obligation is satisfied over time because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the electricity or natural gas as the Company provides these services. The Company
records revenues related to the distribution sales based upon the approved tariff rate and the volume delivered to the
customers, which corresponds with the amount the Company has the right to invoice.

The distribution revenue also includes estimated unbilled amounts, which represent the estimated amounts due from retail
customers for electricity and natural gas provided to customers by the Company, but not yet billed. Unbilled revenues are
determined based on estimated unbilled sales volumes for the respective customer classes and then applying the applicable
tariff rate to those volumes. Actual amounts billed to customers when the meter readings occur may be different from the
estimated amounts.

Certain customers have the option to obtain electricity or natural gas from other suppliers. In those circumstances, revenue
is only recognized for providing delivery of the commodity to the customer.

Electric Transmission: The Company owns an electric transmission system in Rhode Island. Transmission systems generally
include overhead lines, underground cables, and substations, connecting generation and interconnectors to the distribution
system. The Company’s transmission services are regulated by both the Independent SystemOperator (“ISO”) – New England
and by the FERC. Additionally, the Company makes available its transmission facilities to New England Power (“NEP,” an
NGUSA affiliate), for operation and control pursuant to an integrated facilities agreement, Service Agreement No. 23
(Integrated Facilities Agreement or “IFA”). See Note 12 “Related Party Transactions” for additional details.

Electric transmission revenues arise under tariff/rate agreements and are collected primarily from the Company’s Rhode
Island distribution customers.

The Narragansett Electric Company 
d/b/a National Grid

Division Docket No. D-19-17
Attachment DIV 1-5

Page 19 of 42



20 The Narragansett Electric Company March 31, 2019

Other Revenue from Contracts with Customers: Other Revenue from Contracts with Customers consists of off-system sales,
which represent direct sales of gas to participants in the wholesale natural gas marketplace, which occur after customer
demands are satisfied.

Revenue from Regulatory Mechanisms: The Company records revenues in accordance with accounting principles for rate-
regulated operations that are arrangements between the Company and the regulator, which are not accounted for as
contracts with customers. These include various deferral mechanisms such as capital trackers, energy efficiency programs,
storm deferral, and programs that qualify as Alternative Revenue Programs (“ARPs”). ARPs enable the Company to adjust
rates in the future, in response to past activities or completed events. The Company’s electric and gas distribution rates both
have a Revenue Decoupling Mechanism (“RDM”), which allows for annual adjustments to the Company’s delivery rates as a
result of the reconciliation between allowed revenue and billed revenue. The Company also has other ARPs related to the
achievement of certain objectives, demand side management initiatives, and certain other ratemaking mechanisms. The
Company recognizes ARPs with a corresponding offset to a regulatory asset or liability account when the regulatory specified
events or conditions have beenmet, when the amounts are determinable, and are probable of recovery (or payment) through
future rate adjustments.
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4. REGULATORY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The Company records regulatory assets and liabilities that result from the ratemaking process. The following table presents
the regulatory assets and regulatory liabilities recorded on the balance sheet:

2019 2018

Regulatory assets:
Current:

Derivative instruments -$ 2,784$
Gas costs adjustment - 35,159
Rate adjustment mechanisms 57,089 34,890
Renewable energy certificates 2,530 642
Revenue decoupling mechanism 1,735 13,822
Other 1,230 -
Total 62,584 87,297

Non-current:
Environmental response costs 121,166 140,002
Postretirement benefits 170,545 187,087
Storm costs 130,907 142,269
Other 34,702 23,003
Total 457,320 492,361

Regulatory liabilities:
Current:

Derivative instruments 793 -
Energy efficiency 23,817 43,089
Gas cost adjustment 3,806 -
Rate adjustment mechanisms 45,293 37,297
Revenue decoupling mechanism 22,890 15,289
Transmission service 33,572 13,809
Other 164 -
Total 130,335 109,484

Non-current:
Cost of removal 221,907 216,983
Energy efficiency 18,190 -
Environmental response costs 15,641 12,840
Postretirement benefits 651 14,904
Regulatory tax liabil ity, net 278,052 276,728
Other 27,117 31,888
Total 561,558 553,343

Net regulatory liabil ities (171,989)$ (83,169)$

(in thousands of dollars)

Cost of removal: Represents cumulative amounts collected, but not yet spent, to dispose of property, plant and equipment.
This liability is discharged as removal costs are incurred.

Derivative instruments: The Company evaluates open derivative instruments for regulatory deferral by determining if they
are probable of recovery from, or refund to, customers through future rates. Derivative instruments that qualify for recovery
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are recorded at fair value, with changes in fair value recorded as regulatory assets or regulatory liabilities in the period in
which the change occurs.

Energy efficiency: Represents the difference between revenue billed to customers through the Company’s energy efficiency
charge and the costs of the Company’s energy efficiency programs as approved by the RIPUC.

Environmental response costs: The regulatory asset represents deferred costs associated with the Company’s share of the
estimated costs to investigate and perform certain remediation activities at sites with which it may be associated. The
Company’s rate plans provide for specific rate allowances for these costs, with variances deferred for future recovery from,
or return to, customers. The Company believes future costs, beyond the expiration of current rate plans, will continue to be
recovered through rates. The regulatory liability represents the excess of amounts received in rates over the Company’s
actual site investigation and remediation costs.

Gas costs adjustment: The Company is subject to rate adjustment mechanisms for commodity costs, whereby an asset or
liability is recognized resulting from differences between actual revenues and the underlying cost being recovered, as
approved by the RIPUC. These amounts will be refunded to or recovered from customers over the next year.

Postretirement benefits: The regulatory asset represents the Company’s non-cash accrual of net actuarial gains and losses
and the excess amounts received in rates over actual costs of the Company’s pension and PBOP plans that are to be passed
back in future periods.

Rate adjustment mechanisms: In addition to commodity costs, the Company is subject to a number of additional rate
adjustment mechanisms, whereby an asset or liability is recognized resulting from differences between actual revenues and
the underlying cost being recovered, as approved by the RIPUC.

Regulatory tax liability, net: Represents over-recovered federal deferred taxes of the Company primarily as a result of
regulatory flow-through accounting treatment and excess federal deferred taxes as a result of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of
2017 (“Tax Act”).

Renewable energy certificates: Represents deferred costs associated with the Company’s compliance obligation with the
Rhode Island Renewable Portfolio Standard (“RPS”). The RPS is legislation established to foster the development of new
renewable energy sources. The regulatory asset will be recovered over the next year.

Revenue decoupling mechanism: As approved by the RIPUC, the Company has electric and gas RDMs which allow for an
annual adjustment to the Company's delivery rates as a result of the reconciliation between allowed and actual billed
revenues. Any difference is recorded as a regulatory asset or regulatory liability.

Storm costs: The Company is allowed to recover storm costs from all retail delivery service customers. This balance reflects
costs yet to be recovered. See Note 5, “Rate Matters,” for additional information regarding the recovery of storm costs.

Transmission service: The Company arranges transmission service on behalf of its customers and bills the costs of those
services to customers, pursuant to the Company’s Transmission Service Cost Adjustment Provision. Any over or under
recoveries of these costs are passed on to customers receiving transmission service over the subsequent year.

The Company records carrying charges on regulatory balances for which cash expenditures have been made and are subject
to recovery, or for which cash has been collected and is subject to refund, as approved in accordancewith the RIPUC. Carrying
charges are not recorded on items for which expenditures have not yet been made.
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5. RATE MATTERS

General Rate Case

The Company reached a settlement agreement with the Division and several other intervening parties to increase distribution
revenue for its electric and gas operations over the three-year period commencing September 1, 2018, which was approved
by the RIPUC on August 24, 2018. This settlement is an agreement that was reached in response to the base distribution
revenue increase requests that the Company filed with the RIPUC on November 27, 2017. Pursuant to the settlement, electric
distribution revenue will increase by approximately $14 million, $11 million, and $4 million and gas distribution revenue will
increase by approximately $6 million, $8 million, and $4 million annually, on September 1, 2018, September 1, 2019 and
September 1, 2020, respectively. The settlement reflects an allowed return on equity (“ROE”) rate of 9.275% based on a
common equity ratio of approximately 51%. Previously, the Company was entitled to earn an allowed ROE of 9.5%, with a
common equity ratio of approximately 49.1%.

These revenue increases are intended to fund significant systems-related investments, including the replacement of several
aging operational systems used in the Company’s electric and gas businesses with newer integrated systems that will be
shared by the Company and its electric and gas affiliates. The settlement introduces a new incentive-only performance
incentive for System Efficiency: Annual Megawatt (“MW”) Capacity Savings, with maximum earnings ranging from
approximately $0.4 million in 2019 to $0.9 million in 2021. In addition, the settlement identifies several additional metrics
for tracking and reporting purposes only, some of which may become eligible for a financial performance incentive during
the term of the multi-year rate plan. The increases set in place for the second and third years of the settlement may be
reopened for recovery of the implementation of advanced metering and grid modernization costs.

Recovery of Transmission Costs

The Company’s transmission facilities are operated in combination with the transmission facilities of its New England
affiliates, Massachusetts Electric Company (“MECO”) and NEP, as a single integrated system with NEP designated as the
combined operator. NEP collects the costs of the combined transmission asset pool including a return on those facilities
under NEP’s Tariff No. 1 from the ISO. The ISO allocates these costs among transmission customers in New England, in
accordance with the ISO Open Access Transmission Tariff (“ISO-NE OATT”).

According to the FERC order, the Company is compensated for its actual monthly transmission costs, with its authorized
maximumROE of 11.74% on its transmission assets. The amounts remitted by NEP to the Company for the years endedMarch
31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 were $144.8 million, $155.1 million, and $143.0 million, respectively, which are eliminated as
operating revenues and operations and maintenance expenses within the accompanying statements of income (See Note 12
“Related Party Transactions” for additional details). On October 16, 2014, the FERC issued an order, Opinion No. 531-A,
resetting the base ROE applicable to transmission assets under the ISO-NE OATT from 11.14% to 10.57% effective as of
October 16, 2014 and establishing a maximum ROE of 11.74%. On March 3, 2015, the FERC issued an Order on Rehearing,
Opinion No. 531-B, affirming the 10.57% base ROE and clarifying that the 11.74% maximum ROE applies to all individual
transmission projects with ROE incentives previously granted by the FERC. On April 14, 2017, the U.S. Court of Appeals for
the D.C. Circuit (Court of Appeals) vacated and remanded FERC's Opinion No. 531 (and successor orders), through which the
FERC had lowered the New England Transmission Owners (“NETO”) return on equity from 11.14% to 10.57% and capped the
total incentives at 11.74%.

On October 16, 2018, the FERC issued an order on all four complaints describing how it intends to address the issues that
were remanded by the Court. The FERC proposed a new framework to determine whether an existing ROE is unjust and
unreasonable and, if so, how to calculate a replacement ROE. The FERC stated that these calculations are merely preliminary.

Tax Cuts and Jobs Act

On March 15, 2018, the FERC initiated multiple proceedings intended to adjust FERC-jurisdictional rates to reflect the
corporate tax changes as a result of the passage of the Tax Act. Of the proceedings initiated relevant to the Company is the
Notice of Inquiry (“NOI”) seeking comments on the effects of the Tax Act on all FERC-jurisdiction rates and a Notice of
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Proposed Rulemaking (NOPR) issued as a result of the NOI. In response to the FERC NOI, the Company made
recommendations designed to mitigate the cash flow impacts of the expected refunds including providing flexibility regarding
the methods used to refund accumulated deferred income tax (“ADIT”) to customers and providing flexibility regarding the
time period of the flow back. In the NOPR, FERC proposed to give the flexibility the company proposed. Comments on the
NOPR were due on January 22, 2019. The Company is awaiting a final rule from FERC.

The RIPUC opened a docket to address the change in the federal corporate income tax rate and other changes resulting from
the Tax Act that was signed into law in December 2017. Specifically, the RIPUC requested the Company’s proposal for how it
planned to reduce rates associated with the income taxes recovered from customers on the equity component of the return
on investment included in revenue taxed at the new lower income tax rate of 21% effective January 1, 2018, and how it
planned to return to customers the reduction in its net deferred income tax liabilities resulting from the 14% decrease in the
federal income tax rate from 35%. Effective September 1, 2018, the Company reduced its revenue requirement for the
distribution electric and gas rates in effect for the impacts of the Tax Act as appropriate. On January 24, 2019, the Company
filed with the RIPUC a settlement agreement among the Company, the Division, the Office of Energy Resources, and the State
of Rhode Island Office of the Lieutenant Governor, pursuant to which approximately $4.8 million and $3.1 million will be
provided to electric and gas customers, respectively, which reflect the benefits of the Company’s reduced federal corporate
income tax payment obligations for the period January 1, 2018 through August 31, 2018. The RIPUC approved the settlement
agreement on May 17, 2019, as filed.

Storm Contingency Fund

On December 29, 2016, the Company filed with the RIPUC a petition to implement a Storm Fund Replenishment Factor
(“SFRF”) effective July 1, 2017 to collect approximately $84.3 million over a four-year period to be credited to the Company’s
Storm Contingency Fund (“Storm Fund”) to restore the Storm Fund to a surplus position. In addition, the Company also
requested to extend the annual $3 million of supplemental base distribution rate contributions beyond the current expiration
date of January 31, 2019, to coincide with the four-year replenishment period. The Division, which is the primary intervener
in Rhode Island on rate matters, filed testimony challenging the recovery of $10.6 million of the $84.3 million being sought
through the SFRF. On June 21, 2017, the RIPUC unanimously approved the Company’s request to collect the $84.3 million.
On April 27, 2018, the RIPUC approved the Joint Proposal Settlement Agreement, which proposed a Storm Fund deficit
balance reduction of $2 million, instead of $10.6 million as previously challenged. The SFRF is applicable to all retail electric
delivery service customers effective July 1, 2017 for a four-year period. In addition, the RIPUC unanimously approved the
Company’s request to extend the annual $3 million of supplemental base distribution rate contributions to the Storm Fund,
which the RIPUC authorized in the Company’s 2012 rate case, for an additional 26-month period beyond its current expiration
to March 31, 2021.

New England East-West Solution (“NEEWS”) Project

In September 2008, the Company, NEP, and Northeast Utilities jointly filed an application with the FERC to recover financial
incentives for the NEEWS project, pursuant to the FERC’s Transmission Pricing Policy Order No. 679. NEEWS consists of a
series of inter-related transmission upgrades identified in the New England Regional System Plan and is being undertaken to
address a number of reliability problems in Connecticut, Massachusetts, and Rhode Island. The Company’s share of the
NEEWS-related transmission investment was approximately $560 million. The Company is fully reimbursed for its
transmission revenue requirements on a monthly basis by NEP through NEP’s Tariff No. 1. Effective November 18, 2008, the
FERC granted (1) an incentive ROE of 12.89% (125 basis points above the approved base ROE of 11.64%), (2) 100%
construction work in progress (“CWIP”) in rate base, and (3) recovery of plant abandoned for reasons beyond the companies’
control. As discussed in the preceding section, effective October 16, 2014, the FERC issued a series of orders establishing a
maximum ROE of 11.74% that effectively caps the NEEWS incentive ROE at that level. The NEEWS upgrades were placed in
service in December 2015.
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT

The following table summarizes property, plant and equipment at cost, along with accumulated depreciation and
amortization:

2019 2018

Plant and machinery $ 3,881,079 $ 3,637,419
Land and buildings 123,628 118,334
Assets in construction 191,324 152,852
Software and other intangibles 23,974 20,513
Property held for future use 15,028 15,028

Total property, plant and equipment 4,235,033 3,944,146
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (1,020,352) (959,800)

Property, plant and equipment, net 3,214,681$ 2,984,346$

(in thousands of dollars)

March 31,

7. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The Company participates with other NGUSA subsidiaries in qualified and non-qualified non-contributory defined benefit
plans (the “Pension Plans”) and PBOP plans (together with the Pension Plan (the “Plans”)), covering substantially all
employees.

Plan assets are maintained for all of NGUSA and its subsidiaries in commingled trusts. In respect of cost determination, plan
assets are allocated to the Company based on its proportionate share of the projected benefit obligations. The Plans’ costs
are first directly charged to the Company based on the Company’s employees that participate in the Plans. Costs associated
with affiliated service companies’ employees are then allocated as part of the labor burden for work performed on the
Company’s behalf. The Company applies deferral accounting for pension and PBOP expenses associated with its regulated
gas and electric operations. Any differences between actual costs and amounts used to establish rates are deferred and
collected from, or refunded to, customers in subsequent periods. Pension and PBOP service costs are included within
operations and maintenance expense, and non-service costs are included within other income (deductions), net in the
accompanying statements of income. Portions of the net periodic benefit costs disclosed below have been capitalized as a
component of property, plant, and equipment.

Pension Plans

The Qualified Pension Plan is a defined benefit plan which provides most union employees, as well as non-union employees
hired before January 1, 2011, with a retirement benefit. Supplemental non-qualified, non-contributory executive retirement
programs provide additional defined pension benefits for certain executives. During the years ended March 31, 2019, 2018,
and 2017, the Company made contributions of approximately $12.0 million, $28.9 million, and $13.2 million, respectively, to
the Qualified Pension Plans. The Company expects to contribute approximately $1.8 million to the Qualified Pension Plans
during the year ending March 31, 2020.

Benefit payments to Pension Plan participants for the years endedMarch 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 were approximately $27.6
million, $29.5 million, and $24.0 million, respectively.
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PBOP Plans

The PBOP plans provide health care and life insurance coverage to eligible retired employees. Eligibility is based on age and
length of service requirements and, in most cases, retirees must contribute to the cost of their coverage. During the years
ended March 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, the Company made contributions of approximately zero, $9.7 million, and $3.3
million, respectively, to the PBOP Plans. The Company does not expect to contribute to the PBOP Plans during the year ending
March 31, 2020.

Benefit payments to PBOP plan participants for the years ended March 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 were approximately $9.8
million, $10.5 million, and $9.9 million, respectively.

Defined Contribution Plan

NGUSA has a defined contribution pension plan that covers substantially all employees. For the years ended March 31, 2019,
2018 and 2017, the Company recognized an expense in the accompanying statements of income of $3.1 million, $3.1 million
and $2.8 million, respectively, for matching contributions.

Net Periodic Benefit Costs

The Company’s net periodic benefit pension costs for the years ended March 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 were $9.8 million,
$9.9 million, and $12.2 million, respectively.

The Company’s net periodic benefit PBOP costs for the years ended March 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 were $2.8 million, $3.5
million, and $6.9 million, respectively.

Amounts Recognized in OCI and Regulatory Assets

The following tables summarize the Company’s changes in actuarial gains/losses and prior service costs recognized primarily
in regulatory assets as well as other comprehensive income for the years ended March 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017:

2019 2018 2017

Net actuarial loss (gain) 7,362$ 2,080$ (14,509)$
Amortization of net actuarial loss (9,659) (9,565) (10,917)
Amortization of prior service cost, net (20) (20) (20)

Total (2,317)$ (7,505)$ (25,446)$

Included in regulatory assets (3,182)$ (7,377)$ (25,453)$
Included in AOCI 865 (128) 7

Total (2,317)$ (7,505)$ (25,446)$

Years Ended March 31,
Pension Plans

(in thousands of dollars)
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2019 2018 2017

Net actuarial (gain) loss (7,013)$ (3,869)$ (33,082)$
Amortization of net actuarial loss (1,275) (1,730) (3,952)
Amortization of prior service benefit, net 20 23 225

Total (8,268)$ (5,576)$ (36,809)$

Included in regulatory assets (8,268)$ (5,576)$ (36,809)$

Total (8,268)$ (5,576)$ (36,809)$

PBOP Plans
Years Ended March 31,

(in thousands of dollars)

Amounts Recognized in AOCI and Regulatory Assets – not yet recognized as components of net actuarial loss

The following tables summarize the Company’s amounts recognized in regulatory assets and accumulated other
comprehensive income on the balance sheet that have not yet been recognized as components of net actuarial loss at March
31, 2019, 2018 and 2017:

2019 2018 2017

Net actuarial loss 153,304$ 155,601$ 163,086$
Prior service cost 17 37 57

Total 153,321$ 155,638$ 163,143$

Included in regulatory assets 152,321$ 155,502$ 162,879$
Included in AOCI 1,000 136 264

Total 153,321$ 155,638$ 163,143$

2019 2018 2017

Net actuarial loss 19,510$ 27,798$ 33,397$
Prior service benefit (25) (45) (68)

Total 19,485$ 27,753$ 33,329$

Included in regulatory assets 19,485$ 27,753$ 33,329$

Total 19,485$ 27,753$ 33,329$

Pension Plans
At March 31,

(in thousands of dollars)

PBOP Plans
At March 31,

(in thousands of dollars)

The amount of net actuarial loss to be amortized from regulatory assets during the year ending March 31, 2020 for the
Pension and OPEB Plans is $9.2 million and $1.0 million, respectively.
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Amounts Recognized on the Balance Sheet

The following table summarizes the portion of the funded status that is recognized on the Company’s balance sheet at March
31, 2019 and 2018:

2019 2018 2019 2018

Projected benefit obligation (562,887)$ (560,190)$ (213,390)$ (223,753)$
Allocated fair value of plan assets 542,261 534,883 160,798 165,530
Total (20,626)$ (25,307)$ (52,592)$ (58,223)$

Current liabilities (195)$ (149)$ (130)$ (147)$
Other non-current liabil ities (20,431) (25,158) (52,462) (58,076)
Total (20,626)$ (25,307)$ (52,592)$ (58,223)$

(in thousands of dollars)

March 31, March 31,
Pension Plans PBOP Plans

Expected Benefit Payments

Based on current assumptions, the following benefit payments are expected subsequent to March 31, 2019 in respect of the
Company:

(in thousands of dollars) Pension PBOP

Years Ended March 31, Plans Plans

2020 32,274$ 9,899$
2021 33,353 10,321
2022 34,461 10,773
2023 35,690 11,148
2024 37,034 11,429
2025-2029 202,788 61,939

Total 375,600$ 115,509$
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Assumptions Used for Employee Benefits Accounting

2019 2018 2017
Benefit Obligations:

Discount rate 4.10% 4.10% 4.30%
Rate of compensation increase 3.50% 3.50% 3.50%
Expected return on plan assets 6.50% 6.25% 6.50%

Net Periodic Benefit Costs:
Discount rate 4.10% 4.30% 4.25%
Rate of compensation increase 3.50% 3.50% 3.50%
Expected return on plan assets 6.25% 6.50% 6.50%

2019 2018 2017
Benefit Obligations:

Discount rate 4.10% 4.10% 4.30%
Rate of compensation increase n/a n/a n/a
Expected return on plan assets 6.50%-7.25% 6.25%-6.75% 6.50%-6.75%

Net Periodic Benefit Costs:
Discount rate 4.10% 4.30% 4.25%
Rate of compensation increase n/a n/a n/a
Expected return on plan assets 6.25%-6.75% 6.50%-6.75% 6.50%-6.75%

Years Ended March 31,
Pension Plans

Years Ended March 31,
PBOP Plans

The Company selects its discount rate assumption based upon rates of return on highly rated corporate bond yields in the
marketplace as of each measurement date. Specifically, the Company uses the Hewitt AA Above Median Curve along with
the expected future cash flows from the Company retirement plans to determine the weighted average discount rate
assumption.

The expected rate of return for various passive asset classes is based both on analysis of historical rates of return and forward
looking analysis of risk premiums and yields. Current market conditions, such as inflation and interest rates, are evaluated in
connection with the setting of the long-term assumptions. A small premium is added for active management of both equity
and fixed income securities. The rates of return for each asset class are then weighted in accordance with the actual asset
allocation, resulting in a long-term return on asset rate for each plan.
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Assumed Health Cost Trend Rate

2019 2018
Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year

Pre 65 7.25% 7.50%
Post 65 5.75% 5.75%
Prescription 9.75% 10.25%

Rate to which the cost trend is assumed to decline (ultimate) 4.50% 4.50%

Year that rate reaches ultimate trend
Pre 65 2028 2028
Post 65 2026 2026
Prescription 2027 2027

March 31,

Plan Assets

NGUSA, as the Plans’ sponsor, manages the benefit plan investments to minimize the long-term cost of operating the Plans,
with a reasonable level of risk. Risk tolerance is determined as a result of a periodic study which analyzes the Plans’ liabilities
and funded status and results in the determination of the allocation of assets across equity and fixed income securities. Equity
investments are broadly diversified across U.S. and non-U.S. stocks, as well as across growth, value, and small and large
capitalization stocks. Likewise, the fixed income portfolio is broadly diversified across market segments. Small investments
are also approved for private equity, real estate, and infrastructure, with the objective of enhancing long-term returns while
improving portfolio diversification. For the PBOP Plans, since the earnings on a portion of the assets are taxable, those
investments are managed to maximize after tax returns consistent with the broad asset class parameters established by the
study. Investment risk and return are reviewed by NGUSA’s Investment Committee on a quarterly basis.

The Pension Plan is a trusteed non-contributory defined benefit plan covering all eligible represented employees of the
Company and eligible non-represented employees of the participating National Grid companies. The PBOP Plans are both a
contributory and non-contributory, trusteed, employee life insurance and medical benefit plan sponsored by NGUSA. Life
insurance and medical benefits are provided for eligible retirees, dependents, and surviving spouses of NGUSA.
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The target asset allocations for the benefit plans as of March 31, 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

US Equities 20% 20% 34% 34% 45% 45%
Global equities (including US) 7% 7% 12% 12% 0% 0%
Global tactical asset allocation 10% 10% 17% 17% 0% 0%
Non-US equities 10% 10% 17% 17% 25% 25%
Fixed income securities 40% 40% 20% 20% 30% 30%
Private equity 5% 5% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Real estate 5% 5% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Infrastructure 3% 3% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Total 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

PBOP Non-Union
March 31,

(in thousands of dollars)

March 31, March 31,
Pension Plans PBOP Union

Fair Value Measurements

The following tables provide the fair value measurements amounts for the pension and PBOP assets at the Plan level:

Not
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Categorized Total

(in thousands of dollars)

Pension Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents -$ 1,954$ -$ 27,308$ 29,262$
Accounts receivable 50,966 - - - 50,966
Accounts payable (105,196) - - - (105,196)
Convertible or Exchangeable Securities - 188 - - 188
Equity 189,522 - - 667,776 857,298
Fixed income securities - 621,152 - 339,857 961,009
Futures contracts 692 - - - 692
Preferred securities - 6,426 - - 6,426
Private equity - - - 155,902 155,902
Real estate - - - 116,409 116,409
Other 68,624 - - 198,167 266,791

Total 204,608$ 629,720$ -$ 1,505,419$ 2,339,747$

PBOP Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 8,632$ 101$ -$ 869$ 9,602$
Accounts receivable 2,295 - - - 2,295
Accounts payable (333) - - - (333)
Equity 161,077 - - 274,993 436,070
Fixed income securities - 156,161 - - 156,161
Futures contracts (107) - - - (107)
Other 39,056 - - 79,657 118,713

Total 210,620$ 156,262$ -$ 355,519$ 722,401$

March 31, 2019
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Not
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Categorized Total

(in thousands of dollars)

Pension Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 575$ 15,518$ -$ 28,149$ 44,242$
Accounts receivable 88,162 - - - 88,162
Accounts payable (133,593) - - - (133,593)
Equity 303,037 (16) - 651,355 954,376
Fixed income securities - 553,463 - 338,944 892,407
Preferred securities - 5,972 - - 5,972
Private equity - - - 133,785 133,785
Real estate - - - 110,551 110,551
Other 1,329 - - 178,235 179,564

Total 259,510$ 574,937$ -$ 1,441,019$ 2,275,466$

PBOP Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 9,111$ 16$ -$ 598$ 9,725$
Accounts receivable 1,998 - - - 1,998
Accounts payable (183) - - - (183)
Equity 189,026 - - 281,678 470,704
Fixed income securities - 165,705 - - 165,705
Other 14,030 - - 78,622 92,652

Total 213,982$ 165,721$ -$ 360,898$ 740,601$

March 31, 2018

The methods used to fair value pension and PBOP assets are described below:

Cash and cash equivalents: Cash and cash equivalents that can be priced daily are classified as Level 1. Active reserve funds,
reserve deposits, commercial paper, repurchase agreements, and commingled cash equivalents are classified as Level 2. Cash
and cash equivalents invested in commingled money market investment funds which have NAV used as a practical expedient
pricing per fund share are excluded from the fair value hierarchy.

Accounts receivable and accounts payable: Accounts receivable and accounts payable are classified as Level 1. Such amounts
are short-term and settle within a few days of the measurement date.

Equity and preferred securities: Common stocks, preferred stocks, and real estate investment trusts are valued using the
official close of the primary market on which the individual securities are traded. Equity securities are primarily comprised of
securities issued by public companies in domestic and foreign markets plus investments in commingled funds, which are
valued on a daily basis. If the Company can exchange shares of the publicly traded securities and the fair values are primarily
sourced from the closing prices on stock exchanges where there is active trading, the securities are classified as Level 1
investments. If there is less active trading, then the publicly traded securities would typically be priced using observable data,
such as bid and ask prices, and these measurements are classified as Level 2 investments. Mutual funds with publicly quoted
prices and active trading are classified as Level 1 investments. For investments in commingled funds that are not publicly
traded and have ongoing subscription and redemption activity, the fair value of the investment is the NAV used as a practical
expedient per fund share, derived from the underlying securities’ quoted prices in active markets. These investments are
excluded from the fair value hierarchy.

Fixed income securities: Fixed income securities (which include corporate debt securities, municipal fixed income securities,
U.S. Government and Government agency securities including government mortgage backed securities, index linked
government bonds, and state and local bonds), convertible securities, and investments in securities lending collateral (which
include repurchase agreements, asset backed securities, floating rate notes and time deposits) are valued with an institutional
bid valuation. A bid valuation is an estimated price a dealer would pay for a security (typically in an institutional round lot).
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Oftentimes, these evaluations are based on proprietary models, which pricing vendors establish for these purposes. In some
cases, there may be manual sources when primary vendors do not supply prices. Fixed income investments are primarily
comprised of fixed income securities and fixed income commingled funds. The prices for direct investments in fixed income
securities are generated on a daily basis. Prices generated from less active trading with wider bid ask prices are classified as
Level 2 investments. Mutual funds with publicly quoted prices and active trading are classified as Level 1 investments. For
commingled funds that are not publicly traded and have ongoing subscription and redemption activity, the fair value of the
investment is the NAV used as a practical expedient, per fund share. These investments are excluded from the fair value
hierarchy.

Private equity and real estate: Commingled equity funds, commingled special equity funds, limited partnerships, real estate,
venture capital, and other investments are valued using evaluations (NAV used as a practical expedient per fund share) based
on proprietary models, or based on the NAV used as a practical expedient. Investments in private equity and real estate funds
are primarily invested in privately held real estate investment properties, trusts, and partnerships as well as equity and debt
issued by public or private companies. The Company’s interest in a fund or partnership is estimated based on the NAV used
as a practical expedient. The Company’s interest in these funds cannot be readily redeemed due to the inherent lack of
liquidity and the primarily long-term nature of the underlying assets. Distribution is made through the liquidation of the
underlying assets. The Company views these investments as part of a long-term investment strategy. These investments are
valued by each investment manager based on the underlying assets. The funds utilize valuation techniques consistent with
the market, income, and cost approaches to measure the fair value of certain real estate investments. The majority of the
underlying assets are valued using significant unobservable inputs and often require significant management judgment or
estimation based on the best available information. Market data includes observations of the trading multiples of public
companies considered comparable to the private companies being valued. Investments in limited partnerships with
redemption restrictions and that use NAV used as a practical expedient are excluded from the fair value hierarchy.

While management believes its valuation methodologies are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the
use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the NAV used as a practical expedient could result in a different
fair value measurement at the reporting date.

8. CAPITALIZATION

The aggregate maturities of long-term debt for the years subsequent to March 31, 2019 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)
Years Ending March 31,
2020 251,375$
2021 11,375
2022 1,375
2023 13,875
2024 750
Thereafter 901,500

Total 1,180,250$

The Company’s debt agreements and banking facilities contain covenants, including those relating to the periodic and timely
provision of financial information by the issuing entity and financial covenants, such as restrictions on the level of
indebtedness. Failure to comply with these covenants, or to obtain waivers of those requirements, could in some cases trigger
a right, at the lender’s discretion, to require repayment of some of the Company’s debt andmay restrict the Company’s ability
to draw upon its facilities or access the capital markets. During the years ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company was
in compliance with all such covenants.
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Debt Authorizations

Since January 12, 2015, the Company had regulatory approval from the FERC to issue up to $400 million of short-term debt.
The authorization was renewed with an effective date of January 11, 2019 for a period of two years and expires on January
10, 2021. The Company had no external short-term debt outstanding to third-parties as of March 31, 2019 or 2018. Refer to
Note 12, “Related Party Transactions” under “Intercompany Money Pool” for short-term debt outstanding with associated
companies.

Since March 21, 2018, the RIPUC authorized the Company to issue up to $730 million through March 21, 2021. On July 24,
2018 the Company issued $350 million of unsecured senior long-term debt at 3.919% due August 1, 2028.

First Mortgage Bonds

AtMarch 31, 2019, the Company had $30.3 million of FMB outstanding. Substantially all of the assets used in the gas business
of the Company are subject to the lien of the mortgage indentures under which these FMB have been issued. The FMB have
annual sinking fund requirements totaling approximately $1.4 million.

The Company has a maximum 70% of debt-to-capitalization covenant. Furthermore, if at any time the Company’s debt
exceeds 60% of the total capitalization, each holder of bonds then outstanding, shall receive effective as of the first date of
such occurrence, a one time, and permanent, 0.20% increase in the interest rate paid by the Company on its bonds. During
the years ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company was in compliance with this covenant.

Dividend Restrictions

Pursuant to the preferred stock arrangement, as long as any preferred stock is outstanding, certain restrictions on payment
of common stock dividends would come into effect if the common stock equity was, or by reason of payment of such
dividends became, less than 25% of total capitalization. The Company was in compliance with this covenant and accordingly,
the Company was not restricted as to the payment of common stock dividends under the foregoing provisions at March 31,
2019 or 2018.

Cumulative Preferred Stock

The Company has certain issues of non-participating cumulative preferred stock outstanding where the security is guaranteed
by National Grid plc and can be redeemed at the option of the Company. There are no mandatory redemption provisions on
the Company’s cumulative preferred stock. A summary of cumulative preferred stock is as follows:

March 31, March 31, Call
Series 2019 2018 2019 2018 Price

$50 par value -
4.50% Series 49,089 49,089 2,454$ 2,454$ 55.000$

(in thousands of dollars, except per share and number of shares data)

Shares Outstanding Amount

The Company did not redeem any preferred stock during the years ended March 31, 2019, 2018, or 2017. The annual dividend
requirement for cumulative preferred stock was $0.1 million for each of the years endedMarch 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017.
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9. INCOME TAXES

Components of Income Tax Expense

2019 2018 2017

Current federal income tax expense (benefit) $ (12,398) $ (19,040) $ 21,054
Deferred federal tax expense 36,415 41,351 27,576
Amortized investment tax credits

(1)
(16) (62) (106)

Total deferred tax expense 36,399 41,289 27,470

Total income tax expense $ 24,001 $ 22,249 $ 48,524

Years Ended March 31,

(in thousands of dollars)

(1) Investment tax credits (“ITC”) are accounted for using the deferral and gross up method of accounting and amortized over the depreciable life of the
property giving rise to the credits.

Statutory Rate Reconciliation

The Company's effective tax rates for the years ended March 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 were 17.9%, 15.2% and 35.5%,
respectively. The following table presents a reconciliation of income tax expense at the federal statutory tax rate of 21%,
31.55%, and 35%, respectively, to the actual tax expense:

2019 2018 2017

Computed tax 28,231$ 45,923$ 47,833$

Change in computed taxes resulting from:
Temporary difference flowed through (172) 695 834
Federal rate change - (23,497) -
Amortization of excess deferred federal income tax (4,121) - -
Other items, net 63 (872) (143)
Total (4,230) (23,674) 691

Total income tax expense $ 24,001 $ 22,249 $ 48,524

(in thousands of dollars)

Years Ended March 31,

The Company is included in the NGNA and subsidiaries’ consolidated federal income tax return. The Company has joint and
several liability for any potential assessments against the consolidated group.

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Act was signed into law. The Tax Act includes significant changes to various federal tax
provisions applicable to the Company, including provisions specific to regulated public utilities. The most significant changes
include the reduction in the corporate federal income tax rate from 35% to 21% effective January 1, 2018, the elimination of
bonus depreciation for certain property acquired or placed in service after September 27, 2017, and the extension of the
normalization requirements for ratemaking treatment of excess deferred taxes.

On August 3, 2018, the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) and the U.S. Department of Treasury released proposed regulations
associated with the bonus depreciation rules enacted as part of the Tax Act. The proposed regulations would enable utilities
to claim additional bonus depreciation on property acquired and placed in service between September 28, 2017 and March
31, 2018. The Company adopted the guidance in the proposed regulations and claimed the additional six months of bonus
depreciation on its fiscal year 2018 federal income tax return.
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In accordance with ASC 740, "Income Taxes," the effects of changes in tax law are required to be recognized in the period of
enactment, which for the Company was the period ended March 31, 2018. Since the Company's fiscal year end is March 31,
the statutory rate applicable for the Company's fiscal year ended March 31, 2018, was a blended tax rate of 31.55%. For the
fiscal year ended March 31, 2019 and future periods, the federal income tax rate is 21%. In addition, ASC 740 requires
deferred income tax assets and liabilities to be measured at the enacted tax rate expected to apply when temporary
differences are to be realized or settled. As a result, the Company remeasured its federal deferred income tax assets and
liabilities using the newly enacted tax rate of 21%.

On December 22, 2017, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting Bulletin ("SAB") 118, which provides
guidance on accounting for the effects of the Tax Act. SAB 118 provides a measurement period that should not extend beyond
one year from the Tax Act enactment date to complete the accounting under ASC 740, "Income Taxes". To the extent that a
company's accounting for certain income tax effects of the Tax Act is incomplete, a company can determine a reasonable
estimate for those effects and record a provisional estimate in the financial statements. As of March 31, 2019, any and all
provisional amounts previously recorded in accordance with SAB 118 have been adjusted to reflect their final amounts.

As of March 31, 2018, the remeasurement amounted to a decrease in the net deferred income tax liability of $250 million of
which $23.7 million benefit was recorded to deferred income tax expense and $226.3 million was recorded as a regulatory
liability for the refund of excess accumulated deferred income taxes to the ratepayers ("excess ADIT"). During the current
period, the Company adjusted the remeasurement of the net deferred income tax liability by $5.3million, which was recorded
as an increase to the regulatory liability for excess ADIT. As of March 31, 2019, the regulatory liability for excess ADIT on a
pre-tax basis prior to amortization amounted to $293 million ($231.6 million post-tax).

Deferred Tax Components

2019 2018

Deferred tax assets:
Environmental remediation costs 25,263$ 28,912$
Net operating losses 42,197 50,076
Postretirement benefits and other employee benefits 18,801 20,731
Regulatory liabilities - other 36,445 21,693
Regulatory liabilities - taxes 58,391 58,116
Other items 11,036 11,796
Total deferred tax assets 192,133 191,324

Deferred tax liabilities:
Amortization of goodwill 40,366 36,613
Property related differences 401,506 366,609
Regulatory assets - environmental 22,160 26,704
Regulatory assets - postretirement benefits 35,513 35,954
Regulatory assets - other 19,662 14,841
Regulatory assets - storm costs 27,990 30,716
Other items 4,054 4,031
Total deferred tax l iabil ities 551,251 515,468

Net deferred income tax liabil ities 359,118 324,144
Deferred investment tax credits 1 17

Deferred income tax liabilities, net 359,119$ 324,161$

March 31,

(in thousands of dollars)
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Net Operating Losses

The amounts and expiration dates of the Company's net operating loss carryforwards as of March 31, 2019 are as follows:

Carryforward Amount Expiration Period
(in thousands of dollars)

Federal 331,026$ 2033-2038

As a result of the accounting for uncertain tax positions, the amount of deferred tax assets reflected in the financial
statements is less than the amount of the tax effect of the federal and state net operating losses carryforward reflected on
the income tax returns.

The Company recognizes interest related to unrecognized tax benefits in other interest, including affiliate interest and related
penalties, if applicable, in other income (deductions), net, in the accompanying statements of income. As of March 31, 2019
and 2018, the Company has accrued for interest related to unrecognized tax benefits of $0.3 million and zero, respectively.
During the years ended March 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, the Company recorded interest expense related to unrecognized
tax benefits of $0.3 million for 2019 and zero for 2018 and 2017. No tax penalties were recognized during the years ended
March 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.

It is reasonably possible that other events will occur during the next twelve months that would cause the total amount of
unrecognized tax benefits to increase or decrease. However, the Company does not believe any such increases or decreases
would be material to its results of operations, financial position, or cash flows.

During the year ended March 31, 2019, the Company reached a settlement with the IRS for the tax years ended August 24,
2007, March 31, 2008 and March 31, 2009. The outcome of the settlement did not have a material impact on the Company’s
results of operations, financial position, or cash flows. The IRS continues its examination of the next audit cycle which includes
the income tax returns for the years endedMarch 31, 2010 throughMarch 31, 2012. The examination is expected to conclude
in the next fiscal year and result in a settlement agreement with the IRS. The Company does not anticipate the settlement
will have a material impact on the Company's financial position. As a result of both settlements with the IRS a refund of $8.4
million is expected to be received within the next 12 months. The income tax returns for the years ended March 31, 2013
through March 31, 2019 remain subject to examination by the IRS.

The following table indicates the earliest tax year subject to examination for each major jurisdiction:

The Company is not subject to state income taxes since the State of Rhode Island does not impose an income tax on public
utility companies.

10. ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

The normal ongoing operations and historic activities of the Company are subject to various federal, state, and local
environmental laws and regulations. Under federal and state Superfund laws, potential liability for the historic contamination
of property may be imposed on responsible parties jointly and severally, without regard to fault, even if the activities were
lawful when they occurred.

Jurisdiction Tax Year
Federal March 31, 2010
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The United States Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”), the Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection
(“DEP”), and the Rhode Island Department of Environmental Management (“DEM”) have alleged that the Company is a
potentially responsible party under state or federal law for the remediation of a number of sites at which hazardous waste is
alleged to have been disposed. The Company’s most significant liabilities relate to former Manufactured Gas Plant (“MGP”)
facilities formerly owned by the Blackstone Valley Gas and Electric Company and the Rhode Island gas distribution assets of
New England Gas. The Company is currently investigating and remediating, as necessary, those MGP sites and certain other
properties under agreements with the EPA, DEM and DEP. Expenditures incurred for the year ended March 31, 2019, 2018,
and 2017 were $1.8 million, $2.9 million, and $4.9 million, respectively.

The Company estimated the remaining costs of environmental remediation activities were $120.3 million and $137.7 million
at March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The Company had a current portion of environmental remediation costs of $2.9
million included in other current liabilities on the balance sheet at March 31, 2019. These costs are expected to be incurred
over approximately 40 years, and these undiscounted amounts have been recorded as estimated liabilities on the balance
sheet. However, remediation costs for each site may be materially higher than estimated, depending on changing
technologies and regulatory standards, selected end use for each site, and actual environmental conditions encountered. The
Company has recovered amounts from certain insurers and potentially responsible parties, and, where appropriate, the
Company may seek additional recovery from other insurers and from other potentially responsible parties, but it is uncertain
whether, and to what extent, such efforts will be successful.

The RIPUC has approved a settlement agreement that provides for rate recovery of remediation costs of former MGP sites
and certain other hazardous waste sites located in Rhode Island. Under that agreement, qualified costs related to these sites
are paid out of a special fund established as a regulatory liability on the balance sheet. Rate-recoverable contributions of
approximately $3 million are added annually to the fund, along with interest and any recoveries from insurance carriers and
other third-parties. Accordingly, as of March 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company has recorded environmental regulatory assets
of $121.2 million and $140.0 million, respectively, and environmental regulatory liabilities of $15.6 million and $12.8 million,
respectively (See Note 4, “Regulatory Assets and Liabilities” for additional details).

The Company believes that its ongoing operations, and its approach to addressing conditions at historic sites, are in
substantial compliance with all applicable environmental laws. Where the Company has regulatory recovery, it believes that
the obligations imposed on it because of the environmental laws will not have a material impact on its results of operations
or financial position.

11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating Lease Obligations

The Company has various operating leases relating to fleet vehicles. The future minimum lease payments for the years
subsequent to March 31, 2019 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)
Years Ending March 31,
2020 8,135$
2021 7,059
2022 5,742
2023 4,405
2024 2,742
Thereafter 1,963

Total 30,046$
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Purchase Commitments

The Company has several long-term contracts for the purchase of electric power. Substantially all of these contracts require
power to be delivered before the Company is obligated to make payment. Additionally, the Company has entered into various
contracts for gas delivery, storage, and supply services. Certain of these contracts require payment of annual demand charges,
which are recoverable from customers. The Company is liable for these payments regardless of the level of service required
from third-parties.

The Company’s commitments under these long-term contracts for the years subsequent to March 31, 2019 are summarized
in the table below:

(in thousandsof dollars) Energy
Years Ending March 31, Purchases
2020 301,855$
2021 102,899
2022 37,276
2023 33,512
2024 33,030
Thereafter 253,912

Total 762,484$

Long-term Contracts for Renewable Energy

Deepwater Agreement

The 2009 Rhode Island law required the Company to solicit proposals for a small scale renewable energy generation project
of up to eight wind turbines with an aggregate nameplate capacity of up to 30 MW to benefit the Town of New Shoreham.
The renewable energy generation project also included a transmission cable to be constructed between Block Island and the
mainland of Rhode Island. On June 30, 2010, the Company entered into a 20-year Amended Power Purchase Agreement
(“PPA”) with Deepwater Wind Block Island LLC (“Deepwater”), which was approved by the RIPUC in August 2010. The wind
turbines reached commercial operation on December 12, 2016 and the PPA is being accounted for as a capital lease. The
Company also negotiated a Transmission Facilities Purchase Agreement (“Facilities Purchase Agreement”) with Deepwater to
purchase the permits, engineering, real estate, and other site development work for construction of the undersea
transmission cable (collectively, the “Transmission Facilities”). On April 2, 2014, the Division issued its Consent Decision for
the Company to execute the Facilities Purchase Agreement with Deepwater. In July 2014, four agreements were filed with
the FERC, in part, for approval to recover the costs associated with the transmission cable and related facilities (the “Project”)
that will be allocated to the Company and Block Island Power Company through transmission rates. On September 2, 2014,
the FERC accepted all four agreements, thus approving cost recovery for the Project, with no conditions, that will apply to
the Company’s costs, as well as those of NEP. The agreements went into effect on September 30, 2014. On January 30, 2015,
the Company closed on its purchase of the Transmission Facilities from Deepwater. The Company placed the Transmission
Facilities into service on October 31, 2016.

Three-State Procurement

On April 9, 2018, the RIPUC approved eight long-term (20-year) contracts totaling approximately 44 MWs of nameplate
capacity between the Company and several counterparties pursuant to the Rhode Island Long-Term Contracting
Standard. Because the contracts were approved pursuant to the Rhode Island Long-Term Contracting Standard, the Company
may collect 2.75% remuneration on the annual payments made under the contracts. The contracts resulted from a three-
state solicitation for renewable energy generation proposals.
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Offshore Wind Energy Procurement

On December 6, 2018, the Narragansett Electric Company entered into a 20-year PPA with DWW Rev I, LLC (“Revolution
Wind”), for the purchase of the electricity and renewable energy credits generated by the offshore windfarm proposed by
Revolution Wind, that will have a capacity of up to 408 MW. The anticipated commercial operations date for the windfarm is
in January 2024. On May 28, 2019, at an open meeting, the RIPUC approved the contract without remuneration. The written
order approving the agreement and that Company will be able to recover the cost incurred under the agreement was issued
by the RIPUC on June 7, 2019.

Annual Solicitations

The 2009 Rhode Island law also requires that, beginning on July 1, 2010, the Company conduct four annual solicitations for
proposals from renewable energy developers and, provided commercially reasonable proposals have been received, enter
into long-term contracts for the purchase of capacity, energy, and attributes from newly developed renewable energy
resources. The Company’s four solicitations have resulted in four PPAs that have been approved by the RIPUC:

- First Solicitation: On July 28, 2011, the RIPUC approved a 15-year PPA with Orbit Energy Rhode Island, LLC for a 3.2
MW anaerobic digester biogas project.

- Second Solicitation: On May 11, 2012, the RIPUC approved a 15-year PPA with Black Bear Development Holdings,
LLC for a 3.9MW run-of-river hydroelectric plant located in Orono,Maine. The facility reached commercial operation
on November 22, 2013.

- Third Solicitation: On October 25, 2013, the RIPUC approved a 15-year PPA with Champlain Wind, LLC for a 48 MW
land-based wind project located in Carroll Plantation and Kossuth Township, Maine. The PPA was terminated on
January 23, 2017 because one of the required permits for the project was rejected. The impact of this termination
is that the Company will need to backfill the MW capacity from that project to meet the 90 MWminimum long-term
capacity requirements under the state statute.

- Fourth Solicitation: On October 29, 2015, the RIPUC approved a 15-year PPA with Copenhagen Wind Farm, LLC for
an 80 MW land-based wind project located in Denmark, New York.

As approved by the RIPUC, the Company is allowed to pass through commodity-related / purchased power costs to
customers. The cost of these contracts is accounted for as part of these costs.

Aquidneck Island

On January 21, 2019, the Company suspended gas service to approximately 7,100 gas customers on Aquidneck Island due to
a gas transmission supply issue. The recovery effort took approximately nine days, with service restored to essentially all
customers by January 30, 2019. On February 28, 2019, the RIPUC opened an investigation into the causes of the outage, in
order to comport with the United State Senate’s request to do so per Senate Resolution 188 passed on January 31, 2019. On
June 4, 2019, the RIPUC issued a “Status Report on the Aquidneck Island Loss of Gas Investigation.” In the report, the RIPUC
noted that there may have been multiple contributing factors leading to the outage, and that a final report would be released
before the upcoming heating season. The RIPUC also noted that following the release of the report, if it is found that the
Company contributed to the incident through imprudent management decisions, a subsequent regulatory process would be
initiated, through which fines or disallowed costs could be assessed. At this time, the Company is unable to predict or estimate
any impact to earnings.

Legal Matters

The Company is subject to various legal proceedings arising out of the ordinary course of its business. The Company does not
consider any of such proceedings to be material, individually or in the aggregate, to its business or likely to result in a material
adverse effect on its results of operations, financial position, or cash flows.
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Other Contingencies

At March 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had accrued workers compensation, auto, and general insurance claims which
have been incurred but not yet reported (“IBNR”) of $2.1 million and $2.9 million, respectively. IBNR reserves have been
established for claims and/or events that have transpired, but have not yet been reported to the Company for payment.

12. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Accounts Receivable from and Accounts Payable to Affiliates

NGUSA and its affiliates provide various services to the Company, including executive and administrative, customer services,
financial (including accounting, auditing, risk management, tax, and treasury/finance), human resources, information
technology, legal, and strategic planning, that are charged between the companies and charged to each company.

The Company records short-term receivables from, and payables to, certain of its affiliates in the ordinary course of business.
The amounts receivable from, and payable to, its affiliates do not bear interest and are settled through the intercompany
money pool. A summary of outstanding accounts receivable from affiliates and accounts payable to affiliates is as follows:

2019 2018 2019 2018

New England Power Company 14,212$ 22,221$ 21,679$ -$
NGUSA Service Company 5,196 - 28,024 12,224
Other 671 - 2,441 2,206

Total 20,079$ 22,221$ 52,144$ 14,430$

(in thousands of dollars)

Accounts Receivable Accounts Payable
from Affiliates to Affiliates
March 31, March 31,

As discussed in Note 4 “Rate Matters,” NEP operates the pooled transmission facilities of MECO, the Company, and NEP as a
single integrated system (“NEPOOL”) under NEP’s Tariff No. 1. These transmission services are regulated by both ISO-NE and
by the FERC. NEP charges ISO-NE for these transmission services. As NEP is the sole operator of NEPOOL assets, ISO-NE
revenues are remitted from NEP to the Company representing the substantial portion of the affiliated accounts receivable
due from NEP.

In turn, ISO-NE charges the Company for regional network services (“RNS”) with some of those charges being associated with
the Company-owned transmission assets in the NEPOOL. As of March 31, 2019, $17.6 million of the unpaid charges from ISO-
NE to the Company have been presented as an affiliated payable to NEP related to these Company-owned transmission
assets. Additionally, NEP also charges the Company local network service (“LNS”) rates. Amounts paid to NEP for LNS for the
years ended March 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 were $46.5 million, $47.3 million and $33.5 million, respectively. These amounts
are presented within operations and maintenance expense within the accompanying statements of income.

Advances from Affiliates

Since December 2008, the Company had FERC and board authorization to borrow up to $250 million as deemed necessary
for working capital needs. The advance is non-interest bearing. AtMarch 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had no outstanding
advances from affiliates.
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Intercompany Money Pool

The settlement of the Company’s various transactions with NGUSA and certain affiliates generally occurs via the
intercompany money pool in which it participates. The Company is a participant in the Regulated Money Pool and can both
borrow and invest funds. Borrowings from the Regulated Money Pool bear interest in accordance with the terms of the
Regulated Money Pool Agreement. As the Company fully participates in the Regulated Money Pool rather than settling
intercompany charges with cash, all changes in the intercompany money pool balance are reflected as investing or financing
activities in the accompanying statements of cash flows. For the purpose of presentation in the statements of cash flows, it
is assumed all amounts settled through the intercompany money pool are constructive cash receipts and payments, and
therefore, are presented as such.

The Regulated Money Pool is funded by operating funds from participants. NGUSA has the ability to borrow up to $3.0 billion
from National Grid plc for working capital needs, including funding of the Regulated Money Pool, if necessary. The Company
had short-term intercompany money pool borrowings of $56.5 million and $307.5 million at March 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively. The average interest rates for the intercompany money pool were 2.4%, 1.6%, and 1.1% for the years ended
March 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively.

Service Company Charges

The affiliated service companies of NGUSA provide certain services to the Company at their cost. The service company costs
are generally allocated to associated companies through a tiered approach. First and foremost, costs are directly charged to
the benefited company whenever practicable. Secondly, in cases where direct charging cannot be readily determined, costs
are allocated using cost/causation principles linked to the relationship of that type of service, such as number of employees,
number of customers/meters, capital expenditures, value of property owned, and total transmission and distribution
expenditures. Lastly, all other costs are allocated based on a general allocator determined using a 3-point formula based on
net margin, net property, plant, and equipment, and operations and maintenance expense.

Charges from the service companies of NGUSA to the Company are mostly related to traditional administrative support
functions, and for the years ended March 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 were $229.7 million, $201.3 million, and $229.9 million,
respectively.
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The Narragansett Electric Company  
d/b/a National Grid 

Division Docket No. D-19-17 
In Re: 2019 Application for Issuance of Long-Term Debt  

Responses to the Division’s First Set of Data Requests 
Issued on July 23, 2019 

   
 

Prepared by or under the supervision of:  Jonathan Cohen 

Division 1-7 
 

Request: 
 
The Application states that there is currently $380 million of unused long-term debt issue 
authority from the amount approved in Division Docket No. D-17-36. Please state whether the 
$830 million requested in the instant Application is inclusive of that $380 million or whether the 
$850 million is incremental to that unused amount?  That is, if the full $850 million is approved, 
would the total authorization then be $850 million plus the unused (to date) $380 million?  
Please explain. 
 
Response: 
 
The application request of $850 million is inclusive of the $380 million of unused long-term debt 
issue authority provided by the Division in Docket No. D-17-36.  If the application is approved, 
the total authorization will not exceed $850 million.   
 



The Narragansett Electric Company  
d/b/a National Grid 

Division Docket No. D-19-17 
In Re: 2019 Application for Issuance of Long-Term Debt  

Responses to the Division’s First Set of Data Requests 
Issued on July 23, 2019 

   
 

Prepared by or under the supervision of:  Jonathan Cohen 

Division 1-8 
 

Request: 
 
Please state whether it would be technically or administratively feasible to extinguish the 
outstanding legacy Providence Gas debt through either market purchases or a tender offer. 
 
Response: 
 
Redeeming or extinguishing the outstanding legacy Providence Gas debt is considered 
uneconomic due to the make whole provision, which is explained in more detail in the 
Company’s response to Division Data Request 1-10.  
 



The Narragansett Electric Company  
d/b/a National Grid 

Division Docket No. D-19-17 
In Re: 2019 Application for Issuance of Long-Term Debt  

Responses to the Division’s First Set of Data Requests 
Issued on July 23, 2019 

   
 

Prepared by or under the supervision of:  Jonathan Cohen 

Division 1-9 
 

Request: 
 
Please provide Narragansett’s monthly balance of short-term debt and interest rate for each 
month January 2017 – July 2019.  (End of month balance would be adequate as a response.) 
 
Response: 
 
Please see Attachment DIV 1-9 for The Narragansett Electric Company’s month end short-term 
debt balance and interest rate for the period January 2017 through July 2019.  
 



Month Borrowing Balance Int Rate

January-17 (170,186,872.89) 1.32%

February-17 (132,967,933.96) 1.35%

March-17 (125,658,929.33) 1.28%

April-17 (111,124,665.76) 1.26%

May-17 (78,185,578.90) 1.29%

June-17 (110,130,714.57) 1.23%

July-17 (115,161,969.73) 1.50%

August-17 (115,483,070.77) 1.52%

September-17 (134,947,702.66) 1.39%

October-17 (147,204,163.49) 1.72%

November-17 (150,987,457.90) 1.71%

December-17 (193,151,960.78) 1.71%

January-18 (191,843,865.74) 1.73%

February-18 (274,071,546.14) 1.88%

March-18 (292,035,181.93) 1.91%

April-18 (287,424,871.32) 2.23%

May-18 (271,690,142.94) 2.32%

June-18 (297,001,067.07) 2.25%

July-18 37,459,962.49 2.31%

August-18 39,685,675.74 2.28%

September-18 (546,948.73) 2.24%

October-18 17,786,892.46 2.36%

November-18 11,450,456.59 2.48%

December-18 (70,687,741.19) 2.59%

January-19 (50,511,989.61) 2.84%

February-19 (57,443,482.35) 2.77%

March-19 (45,883,769.69) 2.71%

April-19 (44,855,366.02) 2.73%

May-19 (8,793,690.70) 2.70%

June-19 (47,292,542.94) 2.67%

July-19 (49,098,797.73) 2.58%
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The Narragansett Electric Company  
d/b/a National Grid 

Division Docket No. D-19-17 
In Re: 2019 Application for Issuance of Long-Term Debt  

Responses to the Division’s First Set of Data Requests 
Issued on July 23, 2019 

   
 

Prepared by or under the supervision of:  Jonathan Cohen 

Division 1-10 
 

Request: 
 
Please state whether Narragansett has conducted any analyses of refinancing any of its existing 
long-term debt issues prior to maturity as a means of lowering its embedded cost of long-term 
debt.  If so, please explain why such economic refinancings have not been considered. 
 
Response: 
 
Treasury periodically reviews its debt portfolio for opportunities to economically replace high 
cost debt.  Call provisions can vary for each debt instrument in its portfolio.  Narragansett’s 
existing long-term debt has make whole call provisions that typically make it uneconomic to 
refinance or redeem prior to maturity.  A make whole call provision is a type of call provision 
that allows the issuer to pay off the remaining debt early with a lump sum cash payment, which 
is derived from a formula based on the net present value (NPV) of future interest payments that 
will not be paid because of the call, combined with the principal payment that the investor would 
have received at maturity.  Because of the nature of the make whole provision, the Company has 
determined qualitatively that it is not economic to retire its existing debt. 
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Division Docket No. D-19-17 
In Re: 2019 Application for Issuance of Long-Term Debt  

Responses to the Division’s First Set of Data Requests 
Issued on July 23, 2019 

   
 

Prepared by or under the supervision of:  Jonathan Cohen 

Division 1-11 
 

Request: 
 
Per Exhibit D of the Application, the common equity balance appears to increase by $203 
million as of March 31, 2020.  Please identify how much of this is from retained earnings 
accumulation and how much is from parent company equity infusions. 
 
Response: 
 
The common equity balance increase of $203 million is based on the projected retained earnings 
accumulation through March 31, 2020. The amount does not include any equity infusion from 
the parent company. 
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Division Docket No. D-19-17 
In Re: 2019 Application for Issuance of Long-Term Debt  

Responses to the Division’s First Set of Data Requests 
Issued on July 23, 2019 

   
 

Prepared by or under the supervision of:  Jonathan Cohen 

Division 1-12 
 

Request: 
 
Please provide a copy of Mr. Cohen’s testimony and any supporting exhibits submitted to the 
New York Public Service Commission as referenced at page 2 of his direct testimony.  
 
Response: 
 
Please see Attachments DIV 1-12-1 through DIV 1-12-4 for Mr. Cohen’s testimony and 
supporting exhibits submitted to the New York Public Service Commission.  
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I. Introduction and Qualifications 1

Q. Please state your name and business address. 2

A. My name is Jonathan Cohen.  My business address is One MetroTech Center, Brooklyn, 3

New York 11201.4

5

Q. By whom are you employed and in what position? 6

A. I am employed by National Grid USA Service Company, Inc. (“Service Company”), a 7

subsidiary of National Grid USA (“National Grid”), as Director of US Treasury, Planning, 8

and Strategy (New York).9

10

Q. Please describe your educational background and professional experience. 11

A. I am a qualified accountant with the Institution for Chartered Accountants in England and 12

Wales and a qualified Treasurer with the Association of Corporate Treasurers.  From 2006 13

to 2012, I worked at BDO LLP, an accounting, tax, audit, and consulting services firm.  I 14

worked in audit, specializing in financial services companies, including banks, brokers, 15

and fund managers.  I joined National Grid in 2012 as a member of the Corporate Banking 16

Group.  In that role, I was responsible for managing the bank relationships, including 17

associated borrowings and revolving credit facilities.  I was also responsible for analyzing 18

and monitoring National Grid’s credit ratings and managing its interactions with debt 19

investors.  I joined National Grid’s Debt Capital Markets group in 2015, participating in 20

public bond issuances and managing the associated currency and interest rate risks.  I also 21

participated in the sale of significant assets in one of National Grid plc’s largest operating 22

companies in the United Kingdom.  I began my current position in 2017, where I am 23
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focused on business partnering to determine the efficiency of operations and obtain 1

identified value opportunities.  In my current position, I am familiar with the financing 2

activities of KeySpan Gas East Corporation d/b/a National Grid (“KEDLI” or the 3

“Company”).4

5

Q. What is the purpose of your testimony? 6

A. The purpose of my testimony is to present and support KEDLI’s proposed capital structure 7

and overall cost of capital in this proceeding.  My testimony provides information for the 8

test year ended December 31, 2018 (“Historic Test Year”), the forecast year ending March 9

31, 2021 (“Rate Year”), and the years ending March 31, 2022 (“Data Year 1”), March 31, 10

2023 (“Data Year 2”), and March 31, 2024 (“Data Year 3”) (collectively “Data Years”).  11

In addition, I will discuss KEDLI’s proposal to continue the currently effective financial 12

protection provisions adopted by the New York State Public Service Commission 13

(“Financial Protections”).  Finally, I discuss and support the cost of capital component 14

included in the service company asset recovery charge that is charged to affiliates, such as 15

KEDLI, to recover the costs of shared assets financed and owned by Service Company. 16

17

Q. Do you sponsor any exhibits as part of your testimony in this proceeding?18

A. Yes.  Schedule 1 of Exhibit __ (JC-1) sets forth KEDLI’s cost of long-term debt.  Schedule 19

2 contains the projected capitalization and weighted average cost of capital that is proposed 20

to be adopted for KEDLI in this proceeding. Schedule 3 sets forth an analysis of KEDLI’s 21

credit metric projections.  Schedule 4 sets forth KEDLI’s weighted cost of capital for both 22

the Rate Year and the term of a multi-year rate plan.  Schedule 5 sets forth a forecast sources 23
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and uses of funds statement.  These exhibits were prepared or compiled under my 1

supervision and direction.2

3

Q. What is the weighted average cost of capital that you are recommending be adopted 4

for KEDLI in this proceeding? 5

A. KEDLI’s proposed Rate Year weighted average cost of capital, as shown on Schedule 4  6

of Exhibit __ (JC-1), is 6.74 percent.  This overall rate of return is based on the following 7

capitalization ratios and cost rates: 8

Table 1: One-Year Weighted Cost of Capital 9

10

 If rates were to be established in a multi-year settlement in this proceeding, the Company 11

proposes the following rates of return, including a stay-out premium on its cost of equity, 12

as shown on Schedule 4 of Exhibit __ (JC-1).13

Table 2:  Multi-Year Weighted Cost of Capital 14

15

 In calculating the capitalization ratios shown above, all of the goodwill recorded on 16

KEDLI’s books was excluded from its total capitalization and common equity balances. 17

18
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II. Ratemaking Capital Structure 1

Q. What capital structure does KEDLI propose to use for ratemaking purposes in this 2

proceeding?3

A. For a utility that is part of a holding company structure, New York Public Service 4

Commission (“Commission”) precedent supports setting rates using the utility’s stand-5

alone capital structure where the utility can demonstrate that it is financially insulated from 6

its parent and its capital structure is reasonable and in line with its own financial and 7

business risks.  KEDLI is proposing for ratemaking purposes to use a capital structure that 8

contains 48 percent common equity for the Rate Year.  However, as shown in the table 9

above, should this proceeding result in a settlement where rates are established for multiple 10

years, KEDLI proposes that the capital structure should reflect 49 percent common equity 11

in Data Year 1 and 50 percent common equity in Data Years 2 and 3.12

13

KEDLI believes an increase in common equity in the Data Years is appropriate given the 14

interest of maintaining its credit ratings and achieving continued favorable financing for 15

the benefit of customers.  KEDLI’s cash flow metrics have declined from March 2016 16

levels and are expected to decline further according to the credit rating agency Moody’s 17

Investor Services, Inc. (“Moody’s”).  In addition, Moody’s does not envision cash flow 18

generation to improve in the medium term, citing the impact of the passage of the Tax Cuts 19

and Jobs Act of 2017 (“Tax Reform Act”) as the main contributing factor.  Higher common 20

equity will improve cash generation during a period when Moody’s sees limited prospects 21

for improvement, reducing risks of further credit rating downgrades.22

23
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Moody’s has recognized that changes in utility capital structures to reflect more equity 1

could act as an offset to the negative cash flow impact arising from the Tax Reform Act.  2

It is important that the rates established in this proceeding ensure that KEDLI’s cash flow 3

metrics do not continue to decline to a level that would not support its current A3 rating. 4

5

Q. Is KEDLI part of a holding company corporate structure?6

A. Yes.  KEDLI is indirectly owned by National Grid, which is owned by National Grid plc, 7

the ultimate parent of KEDLI. 8

9

Q. Is KEDLI financially insulated from National Grid plc?10

A. Yes.  KEDLI  is financially insulated from National Grid plc, and this insulation is 11

recognized by the financial marketplace.  Illustrating this point, in its February 2018 ratings 12

report on KEDLI, Moody’s explained that:  13

…the strong ring-fencing provisions applicable to New York 14
utilities reduces the potential for debt to be pushed down into 15
KEDLI. In particular, we view the explicit leverage restriction for 16
KEDLI (to maintain a debt to capitalization ratio of less than 56%) 17
as providing the greatest credit support at the current rating level.  18
This provision compares favorably against other New York utilities 19
within the NG group.  Additional ring-fencing provisions imposed 20
by the NYSPC for KEDLI that we view as credit supportive include: 21
(1) the “special preferred share” provision that reduces the 22
probability of bankruptcy in a distressed situation and (2) the 23
requirement for KEDLI to hold an investment grade rating. 24

Similarly, in its September 2018 report on KEDLI, Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”) stated that:   25

We assess the group status of KGE [“KeySpan Gas East” aka 26
“KEDLI”] as core to National Grid PLC. At the same time, we 27
assess KGE as insulated, with existing insulation measures 28
supporting a one-notch separation between the subsidiary and its 29
parent. Key insulating measures include:  30
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• Prohibition of dividend distributions if the company does not 1
maintain investment grade credit ratings with at least two of the 2
three major ratings agencies. 3

• Prohibition of dividend increases and payments if the company's 4
debt-to-capital ratio exceeds a certain amount.  5

• A golden share whose vote is required to file the utility into a 6
voluntary bankruptcy.7

• Clear economic and strategic incentive from the parent to maintain 8
KGE's financial strength. 9

KEDLI issues debt on a stand-alone basis and has a credit rating separate from National 10

Grid plc and its affiliates.  Specifically, while KEDLI has senior unsecured ratings of A3, 11

A-, and A- from Moody’s, S&P, and Fitch Ratings, Inc. (“Fitch”), respectively, Moody’s, 12

S&P, and Fitch rate National Grid plc as Baa1, BBB+, and BBB+, respectively.  Moreover, 13

KEDLI has distinct business risks from National Grid plc.  KEDLI operates a gas 14

distribution business in downstate New York, whereas National Grid plc is an international 15

energy company with operations in the United Kingdom and the US, and operates in an 16

array of markets and lines of business. 17

18

Q. On average, did KEDLI’s capital structure include at least 48 percent common equity 19

in the Historic Test Year?20

A. Yes.  KEDLI’s average capital structure during the Historic Test Year consisted of at least 21

48 percent common equity. 22

23

Q. Please describe KEDLI’s current credit ratings.24

A. KEDLI has long-term issuer ratings of A3, A-, and BBB+ from Moody’s, S&P, and Fitch, 25

respectively.  KEDLI’s senior unsecured debt ratings are A3, A-, and A- from Moody’s, 26

S&P, and Fitch, respectively.  In November 2014, Fitch downgraded KEDLI’s long-term 27
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issuer rating.  In October 2015, S&P downgraded KEDLI, lowering its issuer credit and 1

senior unsecured debt ratings one notch from A to A-.  In January 2018, Moody’s issued a 2

negative ratings outlook for KEDLI alongside several other utilities, including the 3

Company’s affiliates KEDNY and Niagara Mohawk Power Corporation (“Niagara 4

Mohawk”), following enactment of the Tax Reform Act.  National Grid’s New York 5

utilities were subsequently downgraded to A3 from A2 following Moody’s annual review 6

in February and March 2019. 7

8

Q. Are KEDLI’s current credit ratings consistent with the credit rating goals outlined in 9

the “Generic Financing Proceeding” that is often referred to by the Commission in 10

determining the cost of capital in utility rate proceedings?11

A. What is referred to as the “Generic Financing Proceeding” – Case 91-M-0509 – resulted in 12

a 1994 Recommended Decision that, although never formally adopted by the Commission, 13

has often been referenced by the Commission when determining the cost of capital to be 14

used in setting rates.  The Recommended Decision in the Generic Financing Proceeding 15

proposed that the “A” rating should continue to be the long-term target for utilities and that 16

the Commission should continue to offer utilities ratemaking support for an “A” rating.  17

The Commission recently reaffirmed the importance of strong credit ratings for utilities in 18

Case 17-M-0815, which considered the impact of the Tax Reform Act on utilities, finding 19

that “strong investment grade credit ratings benefit both utilities and their customers.”   20

21

KEDLI’s current ratings are in the “A” rating range, but any further downgrades would 22

move KEDLI into the “Baa/BBB” rating range.  KEDLI has limited headroom to maintain 23
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an A3 rating under cashflow metric guidance released by Moody’s in April 2019, 1

highlighting the importance of credit enhancing provisions like a higher equity percentage 2

in the Company’s ratemaking capital structure. 3

4

Q. Do customers benefit from “A” credit ratings?5

A. Yes.  Higher-rated utilities can issue debt at lower costs and better terms, which benefits 6

customers by lowering the overall rate of return charged to them.  The ability of KEDLI to 7

access the debt market and/or obtain credit on favorable terms may also be affected if 8

KEDLI’s rating falls below the “A” range as certain debt investors do not invest in the debt 9

of non-“A” rated entities.10

11

Q. What is the impact of the recent downgrade by Moody’s?  12

A. While difficult to quantify, the downgrade from Moody’s in March 2019 from A2 to A3 13

will likely result in modestly higher borrowing costs for customers. 14

15

Q. Will KEDLI’s proposed capital structure and overall rate of return support its 16

current credit ratings?17

A. While I cannot speak for the rating agencies, an analysis of the metrics that the agencies 18

themselves calculate indicates that if the Commission authorizes the rate relief requested 19

by KEDLI in this proceeding, then KEDLI will still have tight metrics under the current 20

rating guidelines.  In the latest credit report published in April 2019, Moody’s noted that a 21

key contributing factor to a further downgrade would be “CFO pre-WC/debt consistently 22

below the high teens”.  CFO pre-WC/debt is the ratio of cash flow from operations before 23
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consideration of working capital to the Company’s debt.  There is little headroom in credit 1

metrics for further reductions in cash flow as compared to what is being proposed in the 2

Company’s rate filing herein due to KEDLI’s planned capital expenditures and the negative 3

cashflow impacts from the Tax Reform Act.  The analysis of the effect of the proposed 4

capital structure and rate of return on KEDLI’s credit ratings is shown in Schedule 3 of 5

Exhibit __ (JC-1). 6

7

Q. Could the Commission’s decision in this proceeding adversely impact KEDLI’s 8

ability to maintain its current credit ratings? 9

A. Yes. Failure to authorize a reasonable and achievable return-on-equity (“ROE”) or 10

adoption of a revenue requirement that fails to provide support for KEDLI’s credit metrics 11

could put it at risk of credit downgrades to the detriment of customers. Rating agencies 12

indicate that they are particularly focused on cash flow metrics, with the Moody’s February 13

2018 report saying:14

The outlook for KEDLI's rating is negative, reflecting our 15
expectation that financial metrics will be at the bottom of our 16
guidance range following US tax reform, absent significant 17
mitigating actions by the company or additional allowances offered 18
by the NYPSC.19

Moody’s has also released an updated report in March 2019, stating:20

Under its current rate plan, which began in January 2017, KEDLI's 21
achieved returns have steadily improved to 10.1 percent in the 22
financial year ended March 2018, which is 110 basis points higher 23
than the allowed regulatory returns. Despite this improvement, and 24
as a result of US tax reforms, the decline in KEDLI's revenue 25
starting January 2019 from the level agreed upon in its current rate 26
plan is likely to lead to key credit metrics that will become weakly 27
positioned for its current A2 rating.   28

The Narragansett Electric Company 
d/b/a National Grid

Division Docket No. D-19-17
Attachment DIV 1-12-1

Page 11 of 18



Page 10 of 16

Moody’s subsequently downgraded KEDLI (in combination with Niagara Mohawk 1

“NIMO”) at the end of March 2019, stating: 2

The downgrade of the ratings to A3 from A2 reflects Moody's 3
assessment that underlying CFO pre-WC/debt at both KEDLI and 4
NiMo is likely to fall short of Moody's revised guidance for an A2 5
rating of at least the low-20s, in percentage terms. This assessment 6
takes into account the impact the New York Public Service 7
Commission's order of August 2018, reflecting tax reforms in the 8
United States, which will reduce both companies' revenue starting 9
in January 2019 from the level agreed in its current rate plan. 10
Revenue allowances will also be lower from January 2021, 11
compared to previous expectations, due to the pass-back of excess 12
deferred taxes. 13

14

Q. Are there any other factors that could impact KEDLI’s credit ratings? 15

A. Yes.  The Tax Reform Act has adversely affected KEDLI’s cash flow and played a 16

significant role in the downgrade of KEDLI from A2 to A3 by Moody’s in March 2019.  17

The reduction of the maximum corporate tax rate from 35 percent to 21 percent and the 18

new rules regarding bonus depreciation adversely affect KEDLI’s cash flow.  The 19

reduction in the corporate tax rate will also require KEDLI to return to customers the 20

difference between taxes that have been collected at the 35 percent tax rate and the new 21 21

percent tax rate.  With regard to the impacts of the Tax Reform Act, Moody’s commented 22

in February 2018:23

We expect KEDLI's allowed revenues to be reduced following US 24
tax reforms announced in December 2017. Because we did not 25
expect KEDLI to pay significant cash taxes, the reduced revenues 26
will translate directly into lower cash flow from operations pre-27
working capital (CFO pre-WC). Our negative outlook reflects our 28
expectation that CFO pre-WC to gross debt will remain at the lower 29
end of our mid- to high-teens guidance range as a result of the 30
change. 31
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The cash flow issues created by the Tax Reform Act and their resulting potential impact 1

on KEDLI’s credit metrics and ratings make it particularly important that the Commission 2

mitigate the downward pressure by authorizing an equity ratio that is sufficient to support 3

KEDLI’s current investment grade rating. 4

5

Q. Has the Commission acknowledged the challenges to utility creditworthiness created 6

by the Tax Reform Act?7

A. Yes.  In the Commission’s “Order Determining Rate Treatment of Tax Changes” in Case 8

17-M-0815, the Commission acknowledged the challenges that the Tax Reform Act 9

presented for the credit metrics and cash flow of New York utilities, specifically noting 10

that cash flow concerns arising from the Tax Reform Act resulted in negative ratings 11

outlooks for KEDLI and other New York utilities.12

13

Additionally, in the Commission’s “Order Adopting Terms of Joint Proposal and 14

Establishing Electric and Gas Rate Plan” in Central Hudson’s recent rate case (Cases 17-15

E-0459 and 17-G-0460), the Commission approved the Joint Proposal’s use of equity ratios 16

of 49 percent and 50 percent in Rate Years 2 and 3, stating that17

[g]iven the degree of uncertainty regarding the ultimate impact of 18
the Tax Act on the Company’s creditworthiness, we find the JP’s 19
use of higher common equity ratios in Rate Year 2 and Rate Year 3 20
to be a responsible and reasonable measure to forestall, or at least 21
diminish, the prospect of higher future borrowing costs attributable 22
to a diminution in Central Hudson’s creditworthiness over the next 23
several years. 24

25
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Q. What have other jurisdictions done to offset the negative cashflow impact of the Tax 1

Reform Act? 2

A. Moody’s noted in a June 2018 report that Georgia and Alabama increased authorized equity 3

ratios following passage of the Tax Reform Act, which showed the supportive nature of 4

these jurisdictions.  This was noted as a credit positive.   5

6

Q. How does a higher equity percentage improve credit metrics?  7

A. As shown on Schedule 3 of Exhibit __ (JC-1) Moody’s and S&P have set cash flow metric 8

expectations for KEDLI.  The current rate filing request produces cashflow metrics 9

consistent with these guidelines, albeit without a great deal of headroom.  One of the 10

contributing factors of meeting these cashflow guidelines will be the higher equity ratio in 11

years following the Rate Year in the event a multi-year rate plan is authorized. 12

13

III. Cost of Debt and Overall Rate of Return 14

Q. Please outline the planned financing activity reflected in the projected costs of capital 15

for the Rate Year and Data Years. 16

A. On August 29, 2018, KEDLI filed a financing petition (Case 18-G-0558) requesting multi-17

year authority to issue new long-term debt securities. On February 8, 2019, the 18

Commission issued an Order authorizing KEDLI to issue and sell up to $400 million of 19

new long-term debt for the following purposes specified in the Order:20

(a) the acquisition of property, the construction, completion, 21
extension or improvement of [KEDLI’s] facilities or the 22
improvement or maintenance of the Company’s service within New 23
York State (to the extent such expenditures exceed funds originating 24
from credits to the accumulated provision for depreciation, net 25
salvage and accumulated deferred income taxes); (b) for the 26
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discharge or lawful refunding of the Company’s obligations; or (c) 1
to reimburse [KEDLI’s] treasury for equivalent moneys expended 2
for those purposes prior to March 31, 2019, provided that the 3
Company has kept its accounts and vouchers of such expenditures 4
in such a manner as to enable us to ascertain the amount of moneys 5
so expended and the purposes for which such expenditures were 6
made. 7

8

With this financing authority, KEDLI intends to issue $400 million of long term debt in 9

September 2021 and $500 million in September 2023.  These issuances will reduce/repay 10

short-term debt and fund KEDLI’s capital expenditure program.  The issuance of additional 11

debt will not prevent KEDLI from maintaining the capital structure proposed in this 12

testimony.  The projected costs of capital assume that KEDLI will issue new long-term 13

debt as 30 year and then ten year senior unsecured debt at forecast interest rates of 4.40 14

percent and 4.06 percent, respectively.  KEDLI assumes that the costs to issue this debt 15

will be 0.935 percent and 0.51 percent, respectively, of the principal amounts issued and 16

that these costs will be amortized over the lives of the debt. 17

18

Q. How were the cost rates of long-term debt for KEDLI shown on Exhibit __ (JC-1), 19

Schedule 4 derived? 20

A. The long-term debt component of KEDLI’s capital structure consists of fixed-rate taxable 21

bonds.  Included in the cost of these bonds are the direct coupon expense, the amortization 22

of debt discounts or premiums, and the amortization of issuance costs where applicable. 23

24
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Q. How were the balances and the cost rates for customer deposits shown on Exhibit __ 1

(JC-1), Schedule 4 determined? 2

A. KEDLI’s forecast balances of customer deposits were assumed to remain equal to the 3

actual monthly balance as of December 31, 2018, the end of the Historic Test Year.  In 4

Case 18-M-0611, the Commission set the customer deposits rate for investor-owned 5

utilities to be 2.45 percent, effective January 1, 2019. 6

7

Q. What cost rate does KEDLI propose for the common equity component of the capital 8

structure? 9

A. KEDLI proposes a cost of common equity of 9.65 percent for the Rate Year that is within 10

the range supported by Company Witness Bulkley in her testimony.  This proposed cost of 11

equity is at the low end of Ms. Bulkley’s recommended range of reasonable returns for her 12

proxy group.  If a multi-year settlement is reached, a 10.15 percent cost of common equity 13

should be used to reflect the appropriate stay-out premium recommended by Ms. Bulkley 14

for all years covered by the settlement. 15

16

Q. Does the Company propose to update its projections of both new debt issuances and 17

cost rates later in this proceeding? 18

A. Yes.  While KEDLI has provided its best forecast of the cost of planned debt issuances and 19

their specific timing, forecasts and assumptions can change over time.  KEDLI will 20

endeavor to time its debt issuances to secure the most favorable terms, given capital market 21

conditions, in the interest of minimizing costs for customers.  As such, KEDLI will provide 22

updated projections of the cost of new long-term debt during the rate case process and 23
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provide the actual terms and costs of any debt issuances completed during the course of 1

the rate case. 2

3

IV. Financial Protections 4

Q. Is KEDLI presently subject to any financial protection provisions adopted by the 5

Commission? 6

A. Yes.  The Commission has previously adopted Financial Protection provisions that 7

generally address the payment of dividends and the components of KEDLI’s capital 8

structure.9

10

Q. Does KEDLI believe that the Financial Protections should remain in effect? 11

A. Yes.  The current Financial Protections should continue without modification. 12

13

V. Service Company Asset Recovery Charge 14

Q. What is the service company asset recovery charge? 15

A. Service Company owns or leases a number of shared assets that are used either by Service 16

Company employees to provide services to affiliates or are used by the affiliates on a shared 17

basis. These are primarily shared office facilities and information technology equipment 18

and software. When Service Company finances and owns the shared assets, it charges the 19

affiliates an asset recovery charge based on a pre-tax return on the asset (net of deferred 20

taxes) and booked depreciation expense.  This charge is recovered in the Company’s rent 21

expense, as set forth in the Revenue Requirements Panel’s testimony. 22

23
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Q. What cost of equity does KEDLI propose to use for the service company asset 1

recovery charge? 2

A. KEDLI proposes to use the same cost of equity for the service company asset recovery 3

charge as for its cost of equity - i.e., 9.65 percent or 10.15 percent for a four-year rate plan. 4

5

Q. What overall weighted average cost of capital does KEDLI propose to use for the 6

service company asset recovery charge and how was it derived?7

A. KEDLI proposes to use an assumed 50/50 long-term debt/equity capital structure and the 8

actual cost of long-term debt for the service company asset recovery charge.  The table 9

below illustrates the overall weighted average cost of capital for the service company asset 10

recovery charge, assuming KEDLI’s requested 9.65 percent cost of equity. 11

Service Company Capitalization 
Ratio

 Cost Rate  Weighted 
Cost

Long-Term Debt 50.00% 4.2900% 2.15%
Common Equity 50.00% 9.6500% 4.83%
Total 100.00% 6.98%

12

Q. Does this conclude your testimony?13

A. Yes, it does. 14
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I. Introduction and Qualifications 1 

Q. Please state your name and business address. 2 

A. My name is Jonathan Cohen.  My business address is One MetroTech Center, Brooklyn, 3 

New York 11201. 4 

 5 

Q. By whom are you employed and in what position? 6 

A. I am employed by National Grid USA Service Company, Inc. (“Service Company”), a 7 

subsidiary of National Grid USA (“National Grid”), as Director of US Treasury, Planning, 8 

and Strategy (New York). 9 

 10 

Q. Please describe your educational background and professional experience. 11 

A. I am a qualified accountant with the Institution for Chartered Accountants in England and 12 

Wales and a qualified Treasurer with the Association of Corporate Treasurers.  From 2006 13 

to 2012, I worked at BDO LLP, an accounting, tax, audit, and consulting services firm.  I 14 

worked in audit, specializing in financial services companies, including banks, brokers, 15 

and fund managers.  I joined National Grid in 2012 as a member of the Corporate Banking 16 

Group.  In that role, I was responsible for managing the bank relationships, including 17 

associated borrowings and revolving credit facilities.  I was also responsible for analyzing 18 

and monitoring National Grid’s credit ratings and managing interactions with its debt 19 

investors.  I joined National Grid’s Debt Capital Markets group in 2015, participating in 20 

public bond issuances and managing the associated currency and interest rate risks.  I also 21 

participated in the sale of significant assets in one of National Grid plc’s largest operating 22 

companies in the United Kingdom.  I began my current position in 2017, where I am 23 
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focused on business partnering to determine the efficiency of operations and obtain 1 

identified value opportunities.  In my current position, I am familiar with the financing 2 

activities of The Brooklyn Union Gas Company d/b/a National Grid NY (“KEDNY” or the 3 

“Company”). 4 

 5 

Q. What is the purpose of your testimony? 6 

A. The purpose of my testimony is to present and support KEDNY’s proposed capital 7 

structure and overall cost of capital in this proceeding.  My testimony provides information 8 

for the test year ended December 31, 2018 (“Historic Test Year”), the forecast year ending 9 

March 31, 2021 (“Rate Year”), and the years ending March 31, 2022 (“Data Year 1”), 10 

March 31, 2023 (“Data Year 2”), and March 31, 2024 (“Data Year 3”) (collectively “Data 11 

Years”).  In addition, I will discuss KEDNY’s proposal to continue the currently effective 12 

financial protection provisions adopted by the New York State Public Service Commission 13 

(“Financial Protections”).  Finally, I discuss and support the cost of capital component 14 

included in the service company asset recovery charge that is charged to affiliates, such as 15 

KEDNY, to recover the costs of shared assets financed and owned by Service Company. 16 

 17 

Q. Do you sponsor any exhibits as part of your testimony in this proceeding? 18 

A. Yes.  Schedule 1 of Exhibit __ (JC-1) sets forth KEDNY’s cost of long-term debt.  Schedule 19 

2 contains the projected capitalization and weighted average cost of capital that is proposed 20 

to be adopted for KEDNY in this proceeding.  Schedule 3 sets forth an analysis of 21 

KEDNY’s credit metric projections.  Schedule 4 sets forth KEDNY’s weighted cost of 22 

capital for both the Rate Year and for the term of a multi-year rate plan.  Schedule 5 sets 23 
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forth a forecast sources and uses of funds statement.  These exhibits were prepared or 1 

compiled under my supervision and direction.   2 

 3 

Q. What is the weighted average cost of capital that you are recommending be adopted 4 

for KEDNY in this proceeding? 5 

A. KEDNY’s proposed Rate Year weighted average cost of capital, as shown on Schedule 4, 6 

of Exhibit __ (JC-1), is 6.76 percent. This overall rate of return is based on the following 7 

capitalization ratios and cost rates: 8 

Table 1: One-Year Weighted Cost of Capital 9 

 10 

 If rates were to be established in a multi-year settlement in this proceeding, the Company 11 

proposes the following rates of return, including a stay-out premium on its cost of equity, 12 

as shown on Schedule 4 of Exhibit __ (JC-1). 13 

Table 2:  Multi-Year Weighted Cost of Capital 14 

 15 

 In calculating the capitalization ratios shown above, all of the goodwill recorded on 16 

KEDNY’s books was excluded from its total capitalization and common equity balances. 17 

Capitalization 

Ratio Cost Rate

Weighted 

Cost

Long‐Term Debt 51.57% 4.11% 21.12%

Customer Deposits 0.43% 2.45% 0.01%

Common Equity 48.00% 9.65% 4.63%

Total 100.00% 6.76%

Rate Year (FY21) Data Year 1 (FY22) Data Year 2 (FY23) Data Year 3 (FY24)

Capitalization 

Ratio Cost Rate

Weighted 

Cost

Capitalization 

Ratio Cost Rate

Weighted 

Cost

Capitalization 

Ratio Cost Rate

Weighted 

Cost

Capitalization 

Ratio Cost Rate

Weighted 

Cost

Long‐Term Debt 51.57% 4.11% 2.12% 50.61% 4.11% 2.08% 49.62% 4.11% 2.04% 49.68% 4.16% 2.06%

Customer Deposits 0.43% 2.45% 0.01% 0.39% 2.45% 0.01% 0.38% 2.45% 0.01% 0.32% 2.45% 0.01%

Common Equity 48.00% 10.15% 4.87% 49.00% 10.15% 4.97% 50.00% 10.15% 5.08% 50.00% 10.15% 5.08%

Total 100.00% 7.00% 100.00% 7.06% 100.00% 7.13% 100.00% 7.15%
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II. Ratemaking Capital Structure 1 

Q. What capital structure does KEDNY propose to use for ratemaking purposes in this 2 

proceeding? 3 

A. For a utility that is part of a holding company structure, New York State Public Service 4 

Commission (“Commission”) precedent supports setting rates using the utility’s stand-5 

alone capital structure where the utility can demonstrate that it is financially insulated from 6 

its parent and its capital structure is reasonable and in line with its own financial and 7 

business risks.  KEDNY is proposing for ratemaking purposes to use a capital structure 8 

that contains 48 percent common equity for the Rate Year.  However, as shown in the table 9 

above, should this proceeding result in a settlement where rates are established for multiple 10 

years, KEDNY proposes that the capital structure should reflect 49 percent common equity 11 

in Data Year 1 and 50 percent common equity in Data Years 2 and 3.   12 

 13 

KEDNY believes an increase in common equity in the Data Years is appropriate given the 14 

interest of maintaining its credit ratings and achieving continued favorable financing for 15 

the benefit of customers.  KEDNY’s cash flow metrics have been declining over the last 16 

few years and it is important that the rates established in this proceeding ensure that those 17 

metrics do not continue to decline further.  As discussed more fully below, the credit rating 18 

agency Moody’s Investor Services, Inc. (“Moody’s”) has reviewed the Company’s 19 

business and financial forecasts and does not envision cash flow generation to improve in 20 

the medium term, citing the impact of the passage of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 21 

(“Tax Reform Act”) and environmental remediation spending as two main contributing 22 

factors.  Higher common equity will improve cash generation during a period when 23 
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Moody’s sees limited prospects for improvement, reducing risks of credit rating 1 

downgrades.   2 

Moody’s has recognized that changes in utility capital structures to reflect more equity 3 

could act as an offset to negative cash flow impacts.  It is important that the rates established 4 

in this proceeding ensure that KEDNY’s cash flow metrics do not decline to a level that 5 

would not support its current A3 rating. 6 

 7 

Q. Is KEDNY part of a holding company corporate structure? 8 

A. Yes.  KEDNY is indirectly owned by National Grid, which is owned by National Grid plc, 9 

the ultimate parent of KEDNY. 10 

 11 

Q. Is KEDNY financially insulated from National Grid plc? 12 

A. Yes.  KEDNY is financially insulated from National Grid plc, and this insulation is 13 

recognized by the financial marketplace.  Illustrating this point, in its February 2018 ratings 14 

report on KEDNY, Moody’s explained that:  15 

…the strong ring-fencing provisions applicable to New York 16 
utilities reduces the potential for debt to be pushed down into 17 
KEDNY. In particular, we view the explicit leverage restriction for 18 
KEDNY (to maintain a debt to capitalization ratio of less than 56%) 19 
as providing the greatest credit support at the current rating level.  20 
This provision compares favorably against other New York utilities 21 
within the NG group.  Additional ring-fencing provisions imposed 22 
by the NYSPC for KEDNY that we view as credit supportive 23 
include: (1) the “special preferred share” provision that reduces the 24 
probability of bankruptcy in a distressed situation and (2) the 25 
requirement for KEDNY to hold an investment grade rating. 26 

Similarly, in its September 2018 report on KEDNY, Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”) stated 27 

that:   28 
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We assess the group status of BUG [“Brooklyn Union Gas” aka 1 
“KEDNY”] as core to National Grid PLC. At the same time, we 2 
assess BUG as insulated, with existing insulation measures 3 
supporting a one-notch separation between the subsidiary and its 4 
parent. Key insulating measures include:  5 

• Prohibition of dividend distributions if the company does not 6 
maintain investment grade credit ratings with at least two of 7 
the three major ratings agencies. 8 

• Prohibition of dividend increases and payments if the 9 
company's debt-to-capital ratio exceeds a certain amount.  10 

• A golden share whose vote is required to file the utility into 11 
a voluntary bankruptcy.  12 

• Clear economic and strategic incentive from the parent to 13 
maintain BUG's financial strength. 14 

KEDNY issues debt on a stand-alone basis and has a credit rating separate from National 15 

Grid plc and its affiliates.  Specifically, while KEDNY has senior unsecured ratings of A3, 16 

A-, and A- from Moody’s, S&P, and Fitch Ratings, Inc. (“Fitch”), respectively, Moody’s, 17 

S&P, and Fitch rate National Grid plc as Baa1, BBB+, and BBB+, respectively.  Moreover, 18 

KEDNY has distinct business risks from National Grid plc.  KEDNY operates a gas 19 

distribution business in downstate New York, whereas National Grid plc is an international 20 

energy company with operations in the United Kingdom and the US, and operates in an 21 

array of markets and lines of business. 22 

 23 

Q. On average, did KEDNY’s capital structure include at least 48 percent common 24 

equity in the Historic Test Year? 25 

A. Yes.  KEDNY’s average capital structure during the Historic Test Year consisted of at least 26 

48 percent common equity. 27 

 28 
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Q. Please describe KEDNY’s current credit ratings. 1 

A. KEDNY has long-term issuer ratings of A3, A-, and BBB+ from Moody’s, S&P, and Fitch, 2 

respectively.  KEDNY’s senior unsecured debt ratings are A3, A-, and A- from Moody’s, 3 

S&P, and Fitch, respectively.  In November 2014, Fitch downgraded KEDNY’s long-term 4 

issuer rating.  In October 2015, S&P downgraded KEDNY, lowering its issuer credit and 5 

senior unsecured debt ratings one notch from A to A-.  In January 2018, Moody’s issued a 6 

negative ratings outlook for KEDNY alongside several other utilities, including the 7 

Company’s affiliates KEDLI and Niagara Mohawk Power Corporation (“Niagara 8 

Mohawk”), following the enactment of the Tax Reform Act.  National Grid’s New York 9 

utilities were subsequently downgraded to A3 from A2 following Moody’s annual reviews 10 

in February and March 2019. 11 

 12 

Q. Are KEDNY’s current credit ratings consistent with the credit rating goals outlined 13 

in the “Generic Financing Proceeding” that is often referred to by the Commission in 14 

determining the cost of capital in utility rate proceedings? 15 

A. What is referred to as the “Generic Financing Proceeding” – Case 91-M-0509 – resulted in 16 

a 1994 Recommended Decision that, although never formally adopted by the Commission, 17 

has often been referenced by the Commission when determining the cost of capital to be 18 

used in setting rates.  The Recommended Decision in the Generic Financing Proceeding 19 

proposed that the “A” rating should continue to be the long-term target for utilities and that 20 

the Commission should continue to offer utilities ratemaking support for an “A” rating.  21 

The Commission recently reaffirmed the importance of strong credit ratings for utilities in 22 
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Case 17-M-0815, which considered the impact of the Tax Reform Act on utilities, finding 1 

that “strong investment grade credit ratings benefit both utilities and their customers.”  2 

KEDNY’s current ratings are in the “A” rating range, but any further downgrades would 3 

move KEDNY into the “Baa/BBB” rating range.  KEDNY has limited headroom to 4 

maintain an A3 rating under cashflow metric guidance released by Moody’s in April 2019, 5 

highlighting the importance of credit enhancing provisions like a higher equity percentage 6 

in the Company’s ratemaking capital structure.   7 

 8 

Q. Do customers benefit from “A” credit ratings? 9 

A. Yes.  Higher-rated utilities can issue debt at lower costs and on better terms, which benefits 10 

customers by lowering the overall rate of return charged to them.  The ability of KEDNY 11 

to access the debt markets and/or obtain credit on favorable terms may also be affected if 12 

KEDNY’s rating falls below the “A” range as certain debt investors do not invest in the 13 

debt of non-A entities. 14 

 15 

Q. What is the impact of the recent downgrade by Moody’s?  16 

A. While difficult to quantify, the downgrade from Moody’s in February 2019 from A2 to A3 17 

will likely result in modestly higher borrowing costs for customers. 18 

 19 

Q. Will KEDNY’s proposed capital structure and overall rate of return support its 20 

current credit ratings? 21 

A. While I cannot speak for the rating agencies, an analysis of the metrics that the agencies 22 

themselves calculate, indicates that if the Commission authorizes the rate relief requested 23 
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by KEDNY in this proceeding, then KEDNY will still have tight metrics under the current 1 

rating guidelines.  In the latest credit report published in April 2019, Moody’s noted that a 2 

key contributing factor to a further downgrade would be if “CFO pre-WC/debt that no 3 

longer appears likely to trend toward the mid-teens in percentage terms in the near term, 4 

and to the high teens over the longer term.”  CFO pre-WC/debt is the ratio of cash flow 5 

from operations before consideration of working capital to the Company’s debt.  There is 6 

little headroom in credit metrics for further reduction in cash flow as compared to what is 7 

being proposed in the Company’s rate filing herein due to KEDNY’s planned capital 8 

expenditures and the negative cashflow impacts from the Tax Reform Act.  The analysis 9 

of the effect of the proposed capital structure and rate of return on KEDNY’s credit ratings 10 

is shown in Schedule 3 of Exhibit __ (JC-1). 11 

 12 

Q. Could the Commission’s decision in this proceeding adversely impact KEDNY’s 13 

ability to maintain its current credit ratings? 14 

A.  Yes.  Failure to authorize a reasonable and achievable return-on-equity (“ROE”) or 15 

adoption of a revenue requirement that fails to provide support for KEDNY’s credit metrics 16 

could put it at risk of further credit downgrades to the detriment of customers.  Rating 17 

agencies indicate that they are particularly focused on cash flow metrics, with the Moody’s 18 

report covering the downgrade of KEDNY in February 2019, stating: 19 

Today's rating action reflects the persistent weakness of KEDNY's 20 
key credit metrics and Moody's assessment that there is limited 21 
likelihood of a recovery over the medium term. KEDNY's ratio of 22 
cash from operations before working capital (CFO pre-WC) to debt 23 
was 9.8% in the year to March 2018 and is expected to remain weak 24 
for the assigned rating. 25 

The Narragansett Electric Company 
d/b/a National Grid

Division Docket No. D-19-17
Attachment DIV 1-12-3

Page 11 of 19



 

Page 10 of 17 
 

Moody’s also suggests that KEDNY’s credit metrics could “come under significant 1 

pressure from increasing expenditure on environmental remediation that will not be 2 

immediately recovered through revenues,” and that regulatory lag for environmental 3 

recoveries could result in weaker cash flows and higher leverage for several years.  In their 4 

latest credit report in March 2019, following the downgrade of KEDNY, Moody’s also 5 

commented that:  6 

KEDNY's current rate plan contains an SIR Recovery Surcharge 7 
mechanism that would allow it to begin recovering excess SIR 8 
expense once cumulative spend exceeds $25 million, a threshold 9 
that has not yet been reached.  However, recovery in any year is 10 
limited to 2.0 percent of revenue, around $30 million-$35 million. 11 
KEDNY's next rate plan may provide for immediate recovery of 12 
future costs as they are incurred, which would be credit positive. If, 13 
however, it instead provides a mechanism similar to the current SIR 14 
Recovery Surcharge, there may be a significant lag between pending 15 
and eventual recovery. The impact of this lag will depend on the 16 
ultimate cost of the projects and the profile of spending, but we 17 
estimate that it could reduce KEDNY's CFO pre-WC to debt by 2-3 18 
percentage points in the early 2020s. 19 

As discussed by KEDNY witness Charles F. Willard, the Company is proposing to increase 20 

its recovery of SIR costs in the Rate Year and Data Years.  Moody’s recent pronouncement 21 

highlights the critical importance of this proposal to KEDNY’s ability to maintain its 22 

current credit ratings. 23 

 24 

Q. Are there any other factors that could impact KEDNY’s credit ratings? 25 

A. Yes.  The Tax Reform Act has adversely affected KEDNY’s cash flow and played a 26 

significant role in the downgrade of KEDNY from A2 to A3 by Moody’s in February 2019.  27 

The reduction of the maximum corporate tax rate from 35 percent to 21 percent and the 28 

new rules regarding bonus depreciation adversely affect KEDNY’s cash flow.  The 29 

reduction in the corporate tax rate will also require KEDNY to return to customers the 30 
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difference between taxes that have been collected at the 35 percent tax rate and the new 21 1 

percent tax rate.  With regard to the impacts of the Tax Reform Act, Moody’s commented 2 

in February 2019:  3 

This assessment takes into account the impact the New York Public 4 
Service Commission's order of August 2018, reflecting tax reforms 5 
in the United States, which will reduce KEDNY's revenue starting 6 
in January 2019 from the level agreed in its current rate plan. 7 
Revenue allowances will also be lower from January 2021, 8 
compared to previous expectations, due to lower recovery of 9 
deferred taxes. 10 

The cash flow issues created by the Tax Reform Act and their resulting potential impact 11 

on KEDNY’s credit metrics and ratings make it particularly important that the Commission 12 

mitigate the downward pressure by authorizing an equity ratio that is sufficient to support 13 

KEDNY’s current investment grade rating. 14 

 15 

Q. Has the Commission acknowledged the challenges to utility creditworthiness created 16 

by the Tax Reform Act? 17 

A. Yes.  In the Commission’s “Order Determining Rate Treatment of Tax Changes” in Case 18 

17-M-0815, the Commission acknowledged the challenges that the Tax Reform Act 19 

presented for the credit metrics and cash flow of New York utilities, specifically noting 20 

that cash flow concerns arising from the Tax Reform Act resulted in negative ratings 21 

outlooks for New York utilities.  Additionally, in the Commission’s “Order Adopting 22 

Terms of Joint Proposal and Establishing Electric and Gas Rate Plan” in Central Hudson’s 23 

recent rate case (Cases 17-E-0459 and 17-G-0460), the Commission approved the Joint 24 

Proposal’s use of equity ratios of 49 percent and 50 percent in Rate Years 2 and 3, stating 25 

that  26 
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[g]iven the degree of uncertainty regarding the ultimate impact of 1 
the Tax Act on the Company’s creditworthiness, we find the JP’s 2 
use of higher common equity ratios in Rate Year 2 and Rate Year 3 3 
to be a responsible and reasonable measure to forestall, or at least 4 
diminish, the prospect of higher future borrowing costs attributable 5 
to a diminution in Central Hudson’s creditworthiness over the next 6 
several years. 7 

 8 

Q. What have other jurisdictions done to offset the negative cashflow impact of Tax 9 

Reform Act? 10 

A. Moody’s noted in a June 2018 report that Georgia and Alabama increased authorized equity 11 

ratios following passage of the Tax Reform Act, which showed the supportive nature of 12 

these jurisdictions.  This was noted as a credit positive.   13 

 14 

Q. How does a higher equity percentage improve credit metrics?  15 

A. As shown on Schedule 3 of Exhibit __ (JC-1) Moody’s and S&P have set cash flow metric 16 

expectations for KEDNY.  The current rate filing request produces cashflow metrics 17 

consistent with these guidelines, albeit without a great deal of headroom.  One of the 18 

contributing factors of meeting these cashflow guidelines will be the higher equity ratio in 19 

years following the Rate Year in the event a multi-year rate plan is authorized. 20 

 21 

III. Cost of Debt and Overall Rate of Return 22 

Q. Please outline the planned financing activity reflected in the projected costs of capital 23 

for the Rate Year and Data Years. 24 

A. On August 29, 2018, KEDNY filed a financing petition (Case 18-G-0559) requesting 25 

multi-year authority to issue new long-term debt securities.  On February 8, 2019, the 26 
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Commission issued an Order authorizing KEDNY to issue and sell up to $1.4 billion of 1 

new long-term debt for the following purposes specified in the Order:   2 

(a) the acquisition of property, the construction, completion, 3 
extension or improvement of [KEDNY’s] facilities or the 4 
improvement or maintenance of the Company’s service within New 5 
York State (to the extent such expenditures exceed funds originating 6 
from credits to the accumulated provision for depreciation, net 7 
salvage and accumulated deferred income taxes); (b) for the 8 
discharge or lawful refunding of the Company’s obligations; or (c) 9 
to reimburse [KEDNY’s] treasury for equivalent moneys expended 10 
for those purposes prior to March 31, 2019, provided that the 11 
Company has kept its accounts and vouchers of such expenditures 12 
in such a manner as to enable us to ascertain the amount of moneys 13 
so expended and the purposes for which such expenditures 14 
were made. 15 

 16 
With this financing authority, KEDNY issued $1 billion of long term debt in February 2019 17 

($550 million in a ten year tenor and $450 million in a thirty year tenor).  KEDNY currently 18 

plans to issue an additional $400 million of long-term debt in March 2021 and an additional 19 

$500 million of long-term debt in March 2023.  These issuances will reduce/repay short-20 

term debt, and fund KEDNY’s capital expenditure program.  The issuance of additional 21 

debt will not prevent KEDNY from maintaining the capital structure proposed in this 22 

testimony.  The projected costs of capital assume that KEDNY will issue new long-term 23 

debt as ten-year and thirty-year senior unsecured debt at forecast interest rates of 3.83 24 

percent in March 2021 and 4.46 percent in March 2023, respectively.  KEDNY assumes 25 

that the costs to issue this debt will be 0.510 percent and 0.935 percent, respectively, of the 26 

principal amounts issued and that these costs will be amortized over the lives of the debt. 27 

 28 
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Q. How were the cost rates of long-term debt for KEDNY shown on Exhibit __ (JC-1), 1 

Schedule 4 derived? 2 

A. The long-term debt component of KEDNY’s capital structure consists of fixed-rate taxable 3 

bonds, all of which support gas investments.  Included in the cost of these bonds are the 4 

direct coupon expense, the amortization of debt discounts or premiums, and the 5 

amortization of issuance costs where applicable. 6 

 7 

Q. How were the balances and the cost rates for customer deposits shown on Exhibit __ 8 

(JC-1), Schedule 4 determined? 9 

A. KEDNY’s forecast balances of customer deposits were assumed to remain equal to the 10 

actual monthly balance as of December 31, 2018, the end of the Historic Test Year.  In 11 

Case 18-M-0611, the Commission set the customer deposits rate for investor-owned 12 

utilities to be 2.45 percent, effective January 1, 2019. 13 

 14 

Q. What cost rate does KEDNY propose for the common equity component of the capital 15 

structure? 16 

A. KEDNY proposes a cost of common equity of 9.65 percent for the Rate Year that is within 17 

the range supported by Company Witness Bulkley in her testimony.  This proposed cost of 18 

equity is at the low end of Ms. Bulkley’s recommended range of reasonable returns for her 19 

proxy group.  If a multi-year settlement is reached, a 10.15 percent cost of common equity 20 

should be used to reflect the appropriate stay-out premium recommended by Ms. Bulkley 21 

for all years covered by the settlement. 22 

 23 
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Q. Does KEDNY propose to update its projections of both new debt issuances and cost 1 

rates later in this proceeding? 2 

A. Yes.  While KEDNY has provided its best forecast of the cost of planned debt issuances 3 

and their specific timing, forecasts and assumptions can change over time.  KEDNY will 4 

endeavor to time its debt issuances to secure the most favorable terms, given capital market 5 

conditions, in the interest of minimizing costs for customers.  As such, KEDNY will 6 

provide updated projections of the cost of new long-term debt during the rate case process 7 

and provide the actual terms and costs of any debt issuances completed during the course 8 

of the rate case. 9 

 10 

IV. Financial Protections 11 

Q. Is KEDNY presently subject to any financial protection provisions adopted by the 12 

Commission? 13 

A. Yes.  The Commission has previously adopted Financial Protection provisions that 14 

generally address the payment of dividends and the components of KEDNY’s capital 15 

structure. 16 

 17 

Q. Does KEDNY believe that the Financial Protections should remain in effect? 18 

A. Yes.  The current Financial Protections should continue without modification. 19 

 20 
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V. Service Company Asset Recovery Charge 1 

Q. What is the service company asset recovery charge? 2 

A. Service Company owns or leases a number of shared assets that are used either by Service 3 

Company employees to provide services to affiliates or are used by the affiliates on a shared 4 

basis.  These are primarily shared office facilities and information technology equipment 5 

and software.  When Service Company finances and owns the shared assets, it charges the 6 

affiliates an asset recovery charge based on a pre-tax return on the asset (net of deferred 7 

taxes) and booked depreciation expense.  This charge is recovered in KEDNY’s rent 8 

expense, as set forth in the Revenue Requirements Panel’s testimony. 9 

 10 

Q. What cost of equity does KEDNY propose to use for the service company asset 11 

recovery charge? 12 

A. KEDNY proposes to use the same cost of equity for the service company asset recovery 13 

charge as for its cost of equity - i.e., 9.65 percent or 10.15 percent for a four-year rate plan. 14 

 15 

Q. What overall weighted average cost of capital does KEDNY propose to use for the 16 

service company asset recovery charge and how was it derived? 17 

A. KEDNY proposes to use an assumed 50/50 long-term debt/equity capital structure and the 18 

actual cost of long-term debt for the service company asset recovery charge.  The table 19 

below illustrates the overall weighted average cost of capital for the service company asset 20 

recovery charge, assuming KEDNY’s requested 9.65 percent cost of equity. 21 
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Service Company Capitalization 
Ratio

 Cost Rate  Weighted 
Cost 

Long-Term Debt 50.00% 4.2900% 2.15%
Common Equity 50.00% 9.6500% 4.83%
Total 100.00% 6.98%

 1 

Q. Does this conclude your testimony? 2 

A. Yes, it does. 3 
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The Narragansett Electric Company  
d/b/a National Grid 

Division Docket No. D-19-17 
In Re: 2019 Application for Issuance of Long-Term Debt  

Responses to the Division’s First Set of Data Requests 
Issued on July 23, 2019 

   
 

Prepared by or under the supervision of:  Jonathan Cohen 

Division 1-13 
 

Request: 
 

Please provide Narragansett’s projections of its Sources and Uses of Funds for the current fiscal 
year plus the next three fiscal years. 
 
Response: 
 
Please see Attachment DIV 1-13. 



Fiscal Year 2020 2021 2022 2023

Sources of Funds

Internal

Net Income 120,637 132,961 134,126 145,565

Depreciation & Amortization 111,067 115,744 121,958 128,048

Changes in Working Capital / Other 717 (4,269) (2,940) (2,851)

Total Internal Sources 232,421 244,436 253,144 270,762

External

Equity Issuances - - - -

Long-Term Debt 500,000 - 350,000 -

Money Pool Borrowings - 205,214 - 235,938

Total External Sources 500,000 205,214 350,000 235,938

Total Sources of Funds 732,421 449,650 603,144 506,700

Uses of Funds

Capital Expenditures 313,435 324,650 298,000 306,700

Dividends on Common Stock 75,000 125,000 - 200,000

Redemptions

Long-Term Debt 250,000 - - -

Short-Term Debt 93,986 - 305,144 -

Total Uses of Funds 732,421 449,650 603,144 506,700

THE NARRAGANSETT ELECTRIC COMPANY d/b/a NATIONAL GRID NY

SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS

($000)

The Narragansett Electric Company 
d/b/a National Grid

Division Docket No. D-19-17
Attachment DIV 1-13
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The Narragansett Electric Company  
d/b/a National Grid 

Division Docket No. D-19-17 
In Re: 2019 Application for Issuance of Long-Term Debt  

Responses to the Division’s First Set of Data Requests 
Issued on July 23, 2019 

   
 

Prepared by or under the supervision of:  Jonathan Cohen 

Division 1-15 
 

Request: 
 

Please provide the source documents for the Moody’s single A utility bond yields (both current 
and prevailing since January 2010) as referenced at page 10 of Mr. Cohen’s testimony and 
Exhibit E.  
 
Response: 
 
Please see Confidential Attachment DIV 1-15 for the Moody's 30-year A-rated utility bond index 
as sourced from Bloomberg Professional Services. The raw data provided in this attachment is 
not publicly available and is, therefore, deemed confidential and proprietary; hence the Company 
is seeking confidential treatment of the attachment in its entirety. 
 
 



The Narragansett Electric Company  
d/b/a National Grid 

Division Docket No. D-19-17 
In Re: 2019 Application for Issuance of Long-Term Debt  

Responses to the Division’s First Set of Data Requests 
Issued on July 23, 2019 

   
 

Prepared by or under the supervision of:  Jonathan Cohen 

Attachment DIV 1-15 
 

REDACTED 



The Narragansett Electric Company  
d/b/a National Grid 

Division Docket No. D-19-17 
In Re: 2019 Application for Issuance of Long-Term Debt  

Responses to the Division’s First Set of Data Requests 
Issued on July 23, 2019 

   
 

Prepared by or under the supervision of:  Jonathan Cohen 

Division 1-16 
 

Request: 
 
Please state whether Narragansett believes that during the next three years it will have the 
authority and/or capability to issue tax-exempt long-term debt.  If so, does Narragansett intend to 
do so? 
 
Response: 
 
Currently, The Narragansett Electric Company (Narragansett) does not have any available tax 
exempt capacity allocated to it.  Consistent with previously filed applications, Narragansett has 
requested the ability to issue tax exempt securities in the event that opportunity becomes 
available during the next three to five years. 
 



The Narragansett Electric Company  
d/b/a National Grid 

Division Docket No. D-19-17 
In Re: 2019 Application for Issuance of Long-Term Debt  

Responses to the Division’s First Set of Data Requests 
Issued on July 23, 2019 

   
 

Prepared by or under the supervision of:  Jonathan Cohen 

Division 1-17 
 

Request: 
 
Please state the basis, including any supporting data, for Narragansett’s estimate of 15 to 20 basis 
points for the yield spread for issuing secured versus unsecured long-term debt. 
 
Response: 
 
Please see Confidential Attachment DIV 1-17 for bond yield data from Bloomberg Professional 
Services that supports the Company’s estimated basis point spread differential between secured 
versus unsecured debt. The Bloomberg data shows the secondary trading levels of secured and 
unsecured USD bonds across US utilities and was used in the Company’s analysis to estimate the 
yield spread.  The data provided in this attachment is not publicly available and is, therefore, 
deemed confidential and proprietary; hence, the Company is seeking confidential treatment of 
the attachment in its entirety. 
  



The Narragansett Electric Company  
d/b/a National Grid 

Division Docket No. D-19-17 
In Re: 2019 Application for Issuance of Long-Term Debt  

Responses to the Division’s First Set of Data Requests 
Issued on July 23, 2019 

   
 

Prepared by or under the supervision of:  Jonathan Cohen 

Attachment DIV 1-17 
 

REDACTED 



The Narragansett Electric Company  
d/b/a National Grid 

Division Docket No. D-19-17 
In Re: 2019 Application for Issuance of Long-Term Debt  

Responses to the Division’s First Set of Data Requests 
Issued on July 23, 2019 

   
 

Prepared by or under the supervision of:  Jonathan Cohen 

Division 1-18 
 

Request: 
 
Narragansett apparently expects or intends to issue unsecured long-term debt according to 
Witness Cohen.  Please provide an estimate of the legal and administrative expenses that 
Narragansett would incur to be able to proceed with the issuance of secured debt.  Please itemize 
each such expense.  If the Company has a cost/benefit study pertaining to the decision to utilize 
unsecured instead of secured debt, please provide that study. 
 
Response: 
 
The Company does not have a specific cost/benefit study pertaining to the decision to utilize 
unsecured versus secured debt.  The incremental amount of time and cost to issue secured debt 
could offset the gain from issuing secured debt, especially during this current period when the 
spread between secured and unsecured is narrow, i.e. 15 to 20 basis points, as indicated in the 
Company’s response to Division Data Request 1-17 and as shown in Confidential Attachment 
DIV 1-17.  However, the characteristics of debt issuances will be driven by market conditions 
and investor demand at the time of the issuance.  For this reason, it is difficult to quantify the 
estimated legal and administrative expense that would be incurred with a secured debt issuance. 
The existing secured debt (2006 acquisition of Providence Gas from Southern Union), for which 
The Narragansett Electric Company (referred to as Narragansett or the Company) has a blanket 
lien on its assets, requires any future issuances to take note of this ringfence.  A new secured 
issuance would also create additional legal rights and obligations causing additional 
administrative cost and burdens to Narragansett to maintain the status of lien priority granted to 
secured debt holders (e.g. bankruptcy, debt acceleration, foreclosure rights, etc.).  Moreover, 
there would be additional costs over time because future debt issuances would require higher 
spreads to compensate investors for having a more subordinate claim on the Company’s cash 
flows relative to the existing secure debt issuance.  The amount of that incremental cost would be 
driven by market conditions at the time of future issuances, and, therefore, is difficult to quantify 
at this time. 
 
Based on the context above the decision to issue secured versus unsecured bonds should not be 
conditioned solely on obtaining the minimum interest rate.  As discussed above, the incremental 
amount of time and cost to issue secured debt due to the complexity of Narragansett’s current 
mortgage structure, combined with the consequences associated with preferential treatment to the 
Company’s current and future investors, could offset the gain from lower interest rates, 
especially during this current period when the spread between secured and unsecured is narrow, 
i.e., 15-20 basis points. 
 



The Narragansett Electric Company  
d/b/a National Grid 

Division Docket No. D-19-17 
In Re: 2019 Application for Issuance of Long-Term Debt  

Responses to the Division’s First Set of Data Requests 
Issued on July 23, 2019 

   
 

Prepared by or under the supervision of:  Jonathan Cohen 

Division 1-19 
 

Request: 
 
Please provide a description of the procedures Narragansett will use to ensure that it issues new 
long-term debt at the lowest reasonable cost (e.g., competitive selection of underwriters, etc.). 
 
Response: 
 
The Company plans to run a selection process to evaluate the fees and capabilities of potential 
underwriters to deliver the lowest reasonable cost debt for the prevailing market conditions. 
 
 



The Narragansett Electric Company  
d/b/a National Grid 

Division Docket No. D-19-17 
In Re: 2019 Application for Issuance of Long-Term Debt  

Responses to the Division’s First Set of Data Requests 
Issued on July 23, 2019 

   
 

Prepared by or under the supervision of:  Jonathan Cohen 

Division 1-20 
 

Request: 
 
Does the Company anticipate that its long-term debt issues will be private placement?  If so, 
please explain why this is preferable to a public issuance registered with the SEC.  Does private 
placement provide a savings relative to public issuance? 
 
Response: 
 
The Company anticipates that it will continue to issue new long-term debt in 144A/RegS format, 
in line with its prior three bond issuances in 2018, 2012, and 2010, and bonds issued from the 
majority of National Grid’s other US operating companies. This issuance format enables the 
Company to sell bonds to US qualified institutional buyers, as well as global investors. While 
there is a small amount of investor money that is more focused on SEC-registered bonds, the 
Company finds that the vast majority of investors are all able to invest in and support the 
Company’s bond issuance.  The slightly larger SEC-registered bond investor universe means that 
these bonds can sometimes price at a small discount to 144A bonds; however, complying with 
SEC registration requirements would result in an increased administrative burden with a 
corresponding increase in costs.  In addition, maintaining the 144A issuance format means that 
the documentation for new offerings can be based on the prior issuance, helping to keep legal 
costs down. 



The Narragansett Electric Company  
d/b/a National Grid 

Division Docket No. D-19-17 
In Re: 2019 Application for Issuance of Long-Term Debt  

Responses to the Division’s First Set of Data Requests 
Issued on July 23, 2019 

   
 

Prepared by or under the supervision of:  Jonathan Cohen 

Division 1-21 
 

Request: 
 
The Application seeks authority for new debt issuance such that the amount shall not exceed 
$850 million.  Please provide the analysis, including all data and calculations showing how the 
$850 million ceiling amount was determined by Narragansett to be the appropriate and necessary 
debt issuance authority. 
 
Response: 
 
Please refer to Attachment DIV 1-21, which demonstrates the Company’s four-year forecasted 
financial needs and proposed financing activity.  As explained in the pre-filed direct testimony of 
Jonathan Cohen, the $850 million amount was determined by the forecasted financing needs 
to fund the Company’s future capital expenditures and maturing long-term debt, as well as to 
restructure its capitalization so that it is more aligned with the Company’s credit and risk profile, 
and sound utility and rate setting practices. 
 
 



($000) Actual

Balance Sheet 3/31/2019 3/31/2020 [1] 3/31/2021 3/31/2022 3/31/2023

LTD $1,180,250 $1,430,250 $1,420,250 $1,770,250 $1,757,750

STD $45,884 ($59,884) $135,430 ($182,765) $66,994

Preferred Stock $2,454 $2,454 $2,454 $2,454 $2,454

Common Equity $2,058,300 $2,186,015 $2,283,949 $2,513,626 $2,562,218

Goodwill $724,810 $724,810 $724,810 $724,810 $724,810

Ratemaking Cap Structure (excl. goodwill)

LTD 46.1% 49.4% 45.6% 49.7% 48.0%

STD 1.8% 0.0% 4.3% 0.0% 1.8%

Preferred Stock 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1%

Common Equity 52.0% 50.5% 50.0% 50.2% 50.1%

Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Financing Activity [2] & [3]

Financing needed per 10-year financial plan $319,232 $70,314 $31,805 $49,759

Equity Contribution [3] $0 $0 $0 $0

New LTD $500,000 $0 $350,000 $0

STD Change ($105,768) $195,314 ($318,195) $249,759

Notes:

[1] Projected balance sheet based on FY19 actuals and forecast from 10-year plan.

[2] Financing needed reflects projected post-investment cash flow, interest expense, cash taxes paid, and maturing LTD; Excludes dividend payments.

[3] Projected equity contributions and new LTD issuances restructure FY20 capitalization to align with ~50% ratemaking equity ratio and maintain that in

future years while also providing for the financing need projected by the 10-year financial plan.

Projected based on 10-year financial plan

The Narragansett Electric Company 
d/b/a National Grid

Division Docket No. D-19-17
Attachment DIV 1-21

Page 1 of 1



The Narragansett Electric Company  
d/b/a National Grid 

Division Docket No. D-19-17 
In Re: 2019 Application for Issuance of Long-Term Debt  

Responses to the Division’s First Set of Data Requests 
Issued on July 23, 2019 

   
 

Prepared by or under the supervision of:  Jonathan Cohen 

Division 1-22 
 

Request: 
 
Please state whether Narragansett commits that all $850 million of requested long-term debt 
authority will be used for the benefit of the Company’s electric and gas retail and FERC 
wholesale transmission customers.  Will any funds from debt issuance be used for the benefit of 
corporate affiliates or non utility operations?  Please explain. 
 
Response: 
 
The Narragansett Electric Company (referred to as Narragansett or the Company) commits that 
the entire $850 million of requested long-term debt authority is intended for the sole use and 
benefit of the Company’s electric and gas customers (including electric transmission customers) 
and will not be used by any other affiliate or non-regulated operations. As discussed in the pre-
filed direct testimony of Company Witness Jonathan Cohen, the factors driving the request for 
authorization to issue new long-term debt include Narragansett’s forecasted need of financing 
investments in new utility plant and replacement of short-term debt that was used for prior 
construction and replacement of the Company’s plant-in-service. 
 



The Narragansett Electric Company  
d/b/a National Grid 

Division Docket No. D-19-17 
In Re: 2019 Application for Issuance of Long-Term Debt  

Responses to the Division’s First Set of Data Requests 
Issued on July 23, 2019 

   
 

Prepared by or under the supervision of:  Jonathan Cohen 

Division 1-23 
 

Request: 
 
Please explain the circumstances under which Narragansett would issue variable rate (indexed) 
debt instead of fixed rate debt.  Has Narragansett issued any variable rate long-term debt within 
the last ten years?  If so, please describe.  
 
Response: 
 
The Company has not yet determined if it would issue variable rate or fixed rate debt; such a 
determination will depend upon market conditions at the time of each issuance. 
 
The use of variable rate debt creates financial risk for the Company and its customers as the 
interest due can increase, in some cases substantially.  Circumstances under which the Company 
may issue long-term debt with a variable rate rather than a fixed rate would include when 
variable rate funding is more advantageous than fixed rate funding available at that time.  For 
example, if the Company can enter into a contract with a bank whereby the fixed rate the 
Company pays to the bank in return for receiving the variable rate from the bank (to match that 
on the bond) would be lower than the fixed rate that could be achieved from issuing a fixed rate 
bond to market at that time, then it would be advantageous to issue the variable rate debt. 
 
This example can be illustrated as follows: the Company is faced with the choice of issuing a  
5-year bond at 4% or at a variable rate plus a margin of 1%.  The Company would evaluate this 
choice by calculating the fixed rate equivalent of the variable rate plus the margin of 1%.  This is 
achieved by calculating the net present value of the variable rate cash flows (including margin) 
and finding the fixed rate cash flows, which would give the same net present value.  If this fixed 
rate is lower than 4%, it would be advantageous to issue the variable rate bond.  The discount 
rate used to calculate the net present value would come from the yield curve known as the swap 
curve, and the variable rates are projected using the swap curve. 
 
Another circumstance where the Company may issue variable rate bonds instead of fixed 
rate bonds would be when there is little or no investor demand for Company fixed rate bonds, but 
there is investor interest in Company variable rate bonds.  If the Company wants to pay a fixed 
rate instead, this should not be a problem if the Company enters into a contract with a bank to 
convert the variable rate payments into fixed rate payments. 
 
The Company has not issued any variable rate long-term debt within the past ten years. 
 



The Narragansett Electric Company  
d/b/a National Grid 

Division Docket No. D-19-17 
In Re: 2019 Application for Issuance of Long-Term Debt  

Responses to the Division’s First Set of Data Requests 
Issued on July 23, 2019 

   
 

Prepared by or under the supervision of:  Jonathan Cohen 

Division 1-24 
 

Request: 
 
Witness Cohen states that a new debt issue may be “issued internally to an affiliate.”  Please 
explain why such a procedure would be employed.  Also, has Narragansett used this method for 
any of its existing outstanding debt?  If so, please identify. 
 
Response: 
 
Funding internally through an affiliate will involve consideration of flexibility in execution and 
relative economics. For example, internal funding may be appropriate for smaller, shorter-term 
requirements, where an equivalent public or private placement deal may be less economical; in 
addition, internal funding can be less costly if other group companies are able to take advantage 
of pricing benefits in other currencies at short notice. 
 
The Company has not issued any existing outstanding debt under this method. 
 
 
 



The Narragansett Electric Company  
d/b/a National Grid 

Division Docket No. D-19-17 
In Re: 2019 Application for Issuance of Long-Term Debt  

Responses to the Division’s First Set of Data Requests 
Issued on July 23, 2019 

   
 

Prepared by or under the supervision of:  Jonathan Cohen 

Division 1-25 
 

Request: 
 
The Division’s most recent order for Narragansett authorizing new long-term debt issues 
included several “conditions accompanying approval.”  Please state whether Narragansett objects 
to any of those approval conditions (i.e., other than dates and dollar amounts of new debt) for 
purposes of this docket.  If so, please identify each such objectionable condition and the reasons 
for any objections. 
 
Response: 
 
For purposes of this response, the Company assumes that the reference to “conditions 
accompanying approval” refers to the terms and conditions of the Settlement Agreement between 
the Company and the Division Staff Advocacy Section dated February 15, 2018 in Docket No. 
D-17-36 and incorporated by reference in the Division’s written order dated February 19, 2018 
in that docket.  
 
In the Company’s application that it submitted in this proceeding, the Company proposed certain 
variations in the timing and structure of the anticipated debt issuance(s) from that which was 
agreed to in 2018 based on current market conditions and the current financing needs of the 
Company. For example, the Company has requested authorization through March 31, 2023, 
which will result in a term slightly longer than the fixed three-year term. Other variations in the 
proposed structure of the debt issuance as compared to that which was agreed to in the 2018 
Settlement Agreement include the maturity dates, and maximum interest rate.  In addition, the 
Company has proposed to issue unsecured debt for the reasons discussed in its response to 
Division Data Request 1-18.  In the 2018 Settlement Agreement, the Company agreed to certain 
conditions for issuing unsecured debt, which the Company would like to have an opportunity to 
revisit in connection with the current Application.  
 
Subject to the above and without limiting any of its rights with respect to the Application 
submitted in this proceeding, the Company does not object to similar conditions of approval as 
contained in the 2018 Settlement Agreement and is open to discussing these terms with the 
Division and/or its consultant in the interest of working towards a mutually acceptable 
agreement. 



The Narragansett Electric Company  
d/b/a National Grid 

Division Docket No. D-19-17 
In Re: 2019 Application for Issuance of Long-Term Debt  

Responses to the Division’s First Set of Data Requests 
Issued on July 23, 2019 

   
 

Prepared by or under the supervision of:  Jonathan Cohen 

Division 1-26 
 

Request: 
 
Does Narragansett anticipate or project long-term interest rates to increase over the next three 
years? If so, please provide the evidence the Company is relying upon concerning expectations 
of rising long-term interest rates. 
 
Response: 
 
The Company’s financing requirements are driven by operational requirements and not forecasts 
of interest rates.   
 
The external market does project interest rates, which can be useful in conducting economic 
analysis of future cashflows.  Please see Confidential Attachment DIV 1-26 for the Blue Chip 
Financial Forecast published by Wolters Kluwer on June 1, 2019. The information provided in 
this attachment is available only through a subscription service and is, therefore, deemed 
confidential and proprietary pursuant to the terms of that service; hence the Company is seeking 
confidential treatment of the attachment in its entirety. 
 



The Narragansett Electric Company  
d/b/a National Grid 

Division Docket No. D-19-17 
In Re: 2019 Application for Issuance of Long-Term Debt  

Responses to the Division’s First Set of Data Requests 
Issued on July 23, 2019 

   
 

Prepared by or under the supervision of:  Jonathan Cohen 

Attachment DIV 1-26 
 

REDACTED 



The Narragansett Electric Company  
d/b/a National Grid 

Division Docket No. D-19-17 
In Re: 2019 Application for Issuance of Long-Term Debt  

Responses to the Division’s First Set of Data Requests 
Issued on July 23, 2019 

   
 

Prepared by or under the supervision of:  Jonathan Cohen 

Division 1-27 
 

Request: 
 
With regard to Narragansett’s existing outstanding long-term unsecured senior notes, please state 
which issues involved public offerings versus private placements. 
 
Response: 
 
All of Narragansett’s outstanding long-term unsecured senior notes are private placements. 
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